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Building a Successful Team:

Embracing Local Talent
Enabling Future Growth




INVESTOR SATISFACTION

We create sustainable investment opportunities by leading
with integrity and robust business practices.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

We serve our customers by being their trusted partner to
deliver the best products and services for their needs.

EMPLOYEE SATISFACTION

We invest in our people to build careers around a shared
culture of fairness, diversity, empowerment, and recognition.

BUILD A BETTER MYANMAR
FOR ITS PEOPLE

“The “How"” to “Build a Better Myanmar for its
People” leads us to confront the biggest challenge
faced by the Group and to build a roadmap to
move forward and create value in everything we
do. How is a better Myanmar defined? In my own
words, “better” must be compared in quantitative,
qualitative, spiritual and material terms to that of
today. Through passion and proficiency, aligned
to this deep sense of determination, the Group is
committed to build a better Myanmar together with
its people and for its people.”

U Tun Tun
Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director

Our
Values

INNOVATION
TEAMWORK
INTEGRITY
RESPECT
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Symbolizing teamwork, the
interconnected puzzle pieces
highlight the importance of
each business unit’s unique
contribution. Featuring
images of our group
businesses within each piece,
it emphasizes the diverse
operations that together
drive our collective success,
showcasing unity and
collaboration in pursuit of
our organizational goals.
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Corporate
Profile

First Myanmar Investment Public Company Limited (“FMI", the
“Company” and collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
is a prominent public company in Myanmar, boasting a strong
presence with over 8,000 shareholders. In a significant milestone,
FMI achieved the distinction of being the first company to be
listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange (“YSX") in March 2016.

FMI's success can be attributed to its strategic diversification,
professional management, and unwavering commitment to
corporate governance and transparency. The Board of Directors
at FMI actively promotes good corporate governance practices
and includes a robust independence element to safeguard the
interests of its stakeholders.

FMI is affiliated with Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) Limited
(“SPA") and Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd. (“Yoma Strategic”) which
is listed on the Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities

Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). FMI, SPA, Yoma Strategic, and along
with their respective subsidiaries, collectively form the “Yoma
Group.”

As a leading company in Myanmar, FMI focuses on creating
value and driving sustainable growth across a diverse range of
sectors. The Company actively seeks investment opportunities
that align with its long-term vision and objectives. By leveraging
its extensive network, industry expertise, and deep-rooted
relationships, FMI aims to contribute to the economic
development and prosperity of Myanmar.

FMI's core values revolve around integrity, innovation, and social
responsibility. The Company is dedicated to upholding the
highest ethical standards and actively participates in various
corporate social responsibility initiatives aimed at uplifting local
communities and making a positive impact on society.

With a solid foundation built on sound governance, strategic
partnerships, and a commitment to excellence, FMI continues
to spearhead Myanmar’s economic growth and position itself as
a trusted and respected entity within the region and beyond.
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Business
Portfolio

FMI MAINTAINS A DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIO OF CORE BUSINESSES IN
KEY SECTORS OF MYANMAR'S ECONOMY. THE COMPANY PRIMARILY

FOCUSES ON THE FOLLOWING SECTORS:

As a leading financial institution, Yoma
Bank aims to contribute to the growth
and development of the banking sector
in Myanmar. Through its financial
services offerings, the Bank facilitates
access to capital, supports businesses,
and promotes financial inclusion in the
country.

FMI has significant investments and
developments in the real estate sector.
YomaLandisengaged andinvestedinthe
development of community, residential
and commercial projects to contribute
to the construction and development of
infrastructure in Myanmar, meeting the
growing demand for quality and diverse
properties.

In addition to these core businesses, FMI
also maintains a portfolio of strategic
investments in various sectors. These
investments allow FMI to explore
additional growth opportunities and
diversify its holdings, contributing to the
long-term economic development and
nation-building efforts of Myanmar.

Healthcare

Financial
Services

A

Real Estate

@

Strategic
Investments

FMI recognises the importance of the
healthcare sector in Myanmar’s overall
development. Pun Hlaing Hospitals
contribute to the improvement of
healthcare services and infrastructure
in the country. The Company aims to
enhance access to quality healthcare
and promote wellness among the
population.

FMI takes a long-term view in the
tourism sector, recognising its potential
for economic growth and job creation in
Myanmar. Memories Group invests in
tourism-related projects and initiatives,
aiming to attract both domestic and
international tourists. FMI's efforts
in the tourism sector contribute
to the development of hospitality
infrastructure, cultural preservation,
and the promotion of Myanmar as an
attractive tourist destination.



BY FOCUSING ON THESE SECTORS AND MAINTAINING A DIVERSE PORTFOLIO,
FMI AIMS TO MAKE MEANINGFUL CONTRIBUTIONS TO MYANMAR'S ECONOMIC
GROWTH, JOB CREATION, AND OVERALL DEVELOPMENT.

FINANCIAL SERVICES

YOMA BANK

66.47% | Yoma Bank Limited

HEALTHCARE SERVICE

YOMA-OUE HEALTHCARE

60.00% | Pun Hlaing International Hospital Limited
60.00% | Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing Hospital Limited

MEMORIES GROUP

16.66% | Memories (2022) Pte. Limited

40.00% | FMIDECAUX Company Limited
1.65%** | Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited

YOMA LAND

STARCITY

30.00% | Thanlyin Estate Development Limited

CITY LOFT WEST

25.00% | CLW Development Limited
47.50% | FMI Riverside Development Limited

THE PENINSULA YANGON

6.00% | Peninsula Yangon Holdings Pte. Limited

YOMA CENTRAL

12.00% | Meeyahta Development Limited
20.00% | Meeyahta International Hotel Limited

PUN HLAING LINKS

30.00% | Pun Hlaing Links Services Company Limited

FMI GARDEN DEVELOPMENT

47.50% | FMI Garden Development Limited

KRISPLAZA

50.00% | LSC-FMI Company Limited

*  The completed list of subsidiaries and associated companies is available on the Company’s website: https://fmi.com.mm.
**  In August 2024, FMI's investment in MTSH which was being recognized as available-for-sale investment was sold of its 1.65%

stake during the financial year of FY24-25.
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Geographic
Presence

MMK
439,1 Bn

FY 2024
REVENUE

33+

YEARS OF
OPERATION

o

TOTAL NUMBERS
OF CITIES

Yoma Bank

Pun Hlaing Hospitals
Yoma Land
Memories Group




OUR
LEADERSHIP

Empowered by People

At the heart of FMI's success
lies its most valuable

asset: its people. The
Company invested in talent
development, fostering

a culture of continuous
learning and empowerment.
With a diverse and

inclusive workforce, FMI
harnessed the collective
power of its employees to
drive innovation, foster
collaboration, and deliver
exceptional experiences to its
customers.
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U Tun Tun
Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director
First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

OUR COMMITMENT TO BUILDING A
SUCCESSFUL TEAM BY EMBRACING
LOCAL TALENT AND SUPPORTING
FUTURE ADVANCEMENT HAS BEEN THE
CORNERSTONE OF OUR STRATEGY.

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

| am pleased to present our annual report, which
highlights First Myanmar Investment's (FMI)
remarkable journey. Amidst unprecedented
challenges, we emerged stronger and positioned
ourselves for a promising future.

Despite the ongoing difficulties in Myanmar,
significant progress and resilience have been
evident across all our business units over the past
year. Our commitment to building a successful
team by embracing local talent and supporting
future advancement has been the cornerstone
of our strategy. This approach has enabled
us to navigate the complexities of the current
environment while establishing a solid foundation
for sustained growth and development.



Reflecting on the factors that enabled us
to overcome the immense challenges of
2023, I want to highlight the following:

Yoma Bank has demonstrated remarkable
resilience, continuing to provide better
financial services for the people of
Myanmar. In the financial year 2023-
2024, our focus on supporting Micro,
Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs)
has fostered economic development. The
launch of the Yoma Bank Next App and
specialised MSME loan products has
significantly improved financial inclusion
and service delivery, underscoring our
commitment to leveraging innovative
banking solutions. The reintroduction
of the Business Banking Portal further
enhances our corporate customers’
access to digital services.

Yoma Bank expanded its customer reach
by opening new branches in strategic
locations, including Tachileik, to support
trade in border areas. Introducing
the FlexiPay MPU Credit Card and the
Mastercard-MPU  Co-branded  Debit
Card has enriched our digital banking
services, providing greater convenience
to our customers. We also played a key
role in building a strategic partnership
with Wave Money by setting up over
4,000 YoWave accounts and improving
financial accessibility for our customers.

Our strategic partnerships in the
insurance sector, particularly with
Prudential Myanmar and GGI Tokio
Marine, have expanded our range of
financial protection products, further
enhanced our service offerings and
strengthened customer trust.

Yoma Land remains one of the leading
developers in Myanmar. Its mission
is to build better communities for the
country’s future.

One significant milestone is the launch
and sale of Estella Townhouses,
representing the future of sustainable
living in Myanmar. Yoma Land has also
been honoured with two prestigious
Real Estate Asia Awards 2024
accolades, recognising our exceptional
contributions  to  building  better
communities and sustainable projects.

The market's confidence in our
developments is evident from the
successful sales of units across our
projects. Our focus on innovative
designs, high building standards and
comprehensive  amenities  ensures
that we continue to create vibrant and
attractive communities.

Pun Hlaing Hospitals (PHH) has
demonstrated consistent growth and
resilience despite various challenges.
Our dedication to enhancing service
quality through technological
advancements and capacity building
remains unwavering. The launch of the
Heal by Pun Hlaing App, with 60,000
users, marks a significant milestone in
our digital health initiatives, improving
patient engagement and healthcare
management.

The construction of the Pun Hlaing
Comprehensive Cancer Center (PHCCC)
has commenced, with Phase One set
to open in 2026. The addition of a
comprehensive cancer facility at our
flagship Yangon Hospital underscores
our commitment to becoming the
premier healthcare providerin Myanmar.

Memories Group has undergone a
transformative journey, evolving into a
vibrant hospitality and lifestyle brand.

The reopening of the iconic Governor's
ResidenceinYangonandtheintroduction
of the Governor's Club reflect our
strategic shift to cater to Myanmar's
domestic audience. Our luxurious
private island resort, Awei Pila, has
gained significant exposure, establishing
itself as a top destination for luxury
travellers and culinary enthusiasts.

Despite increasingly challenging
operating  conditions,  we have
successfully improved our financial
performance across the Group. In the
financial year ended 31 March 2024
(“FY2024"), the Group's revenue grew
robustly by 47%, reaching MMK 499.1
billion, up from MMK 339.6 billion in
the financial year ended 31 March
2023 (“FY2023"). Yoma Bank played
a significant role in driving this total
revenue growth.

The Group's gross profit increased by
69.2% to MMK 202.5 billion in FY 2024
compared to MMK 119.7 billion in FY
2023. The Group's net profit substantially
increased to MMK 58.1 billion in FY 2024,
up from MMK 4.1 billion in FY 2023.

In conclusion, as we move forward,
our focus remains on building a
successful team by embracing local
talent and facilitating future progress.
Our diversified portfolio and strategic
initiatives across all business units
position us well for continued success.
We sincerely appreciate the unwavering
dedication and invaluable insights of
our fellow directors. We also thank our
shareholders, employees, customers
and partners for their steadfast support
and trust.

Our organisation stands strong thanks
to the exceptional team that forms our
foundation. With their commitment
and talent, we are confident that we
will successfully navigate the evolving
economic landscape and capitalise on
new opportunities. Together, we are
poised to grow stronger and achieve
even greater success in the years to
come.

U Tun Tun
Chief Executive Officer
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U Tun Tun
Chief Executive Officer & Executive
Director

Present Directorships in listed
companies:

* First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 17 November 2009
Last Re-election: 11 August 2023

U Tun Tun has been with the SPA and
FMI group of companies since 1998. He
has been an Executive Director of FMI
since 2009, and currently serves as the
Chief Executive Officer. He is also a Non-
Executive Director of Memories (2022)
Pte. Limited in Singapore and oversees
many of the Group's subsidiaries and joint
ventures. He has held various positions at
both the operational and corporate levels,
in both SPA and FMI as well as the wider
Yoma Group over the years.

U Tun Tun holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from the National
University of Singapore. He is also
an Associate Member of Chartered
Governance Institute (UK & Ireland).

U Linn Myaing
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed
companies:

* First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 2 July 2012
Last Re-election: 5 August 2022

U Linn Myaing is a Non-Executive
Director of FMI. U Linn Myaing joined
FMI in 2010 and currently Senior
Advisor of Yoma Group’s Goverment
Relations Department. U Linn Myaing
is a retired Director General from the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs. He served
as Myanmar's Ambassador to several
Western countries including France
and the United States. He was also
an Ambassador and the Head of the
Myanmar Mission to the European Union
and Permanent Delegate to UNESCO.
After retiring from the foreign service in
2006, U Linn Myaing joined SPA as the
Advisor to the Board.

U Than Aung
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed
companies:

* First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 31 July 1992
Last Re-election: 5 August 2022

U Than Aung is a Non-Executive Director
of FMI and is both a member of the Audit
& Risk Management Committee and the
Nominating Committee. U Than Aung
joined FMI in 1992. He is currently the
Managing Director of Yar Pye Company
Limited and other family-owned
companies. He is also the Vice Chairman
of the Pathein Association.

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet
Independent Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed
companies:

* First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

* Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 3 December 2013
Last Re-election: 5 August 2022

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet has been
an Independent Non-Executive Director
of FMI since 2013 and is the Chairman
of Audit & Risk Management Committee
and the Nominating Committee. He is
an Advisor to the UMFCCI. Professor Dr.
Aung Tun Thet is a Professor Emeritus
at Yangon University of Economics,
Honorary Professor at the University of

British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada
and Research Professor at Kyung Hee
University, Institute of Global Trade and
Finance, Seoul, Korea. He graduated
with B.Com. (Yangon), Post- Graduate
Diploma in Management Studies
(Brighton, UK), M.Sc. (Warwick, UK),
Ph.D. (Manchester, UK) and is a Post-
Doctoral Fellow (Marburg, Germany).
He was awarded the Doctor of Letters
(honoris causa) from Yangon University
of Economics.

U Kyi Aye
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed
companies:

* First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 5 November 2015
Last Re-election: 31 January 2022

U Kyi Aye has been a Non-Executive
Director of FMI since 2015. He is
the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit
& Risk Management Committee. He
joined Yoma Bank in 2000 and is now an
executive director of Yoma Bank. He was
also a non-executive director of Yoma
Strategic from 2006 to 2015. He began
his banking career in 1960 and joined
the Central Bank of Myanmar (“CBM”) in
1965. U Kyi Aye is a retired Governor of
the CBM, having held the position from
1992 to 1998. He holds B.Com and B.L
degrees from Yangon University and a
Diploma in World Banking and Finance
from the Economics Institute in Boulder,
Colorado, USA. He is a Certified Public
Accountant.
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U Tun Tun
Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:

* First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 17 November 2009
Last Re-elected on: 11 August 2023
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U Linn Myaing
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:

* First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 2 July 2012
Last Re-elected on: 5 August 2022
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U Than Aung
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:

* First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 31 July 1992
Last Re-elected on: 5 August 2022
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Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet
Independent Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:

* First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

* Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 3 December 2013
Last Re-elected on: 5 August 2022
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U Kyi Aye
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:

* First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 5 November 2015
Last Re-elected on: 31 January 2022

é:@ées@: :D@Q FMI & sacqéaoﬁfeamé
0005600 31§05 B(CS Joos 98dozd
o0&  06:650083(8:  Remuneration
Committee .§cf: Audit & Risk Management
Committee @ ®@oond3:c0pd: (96
cloopdi jooo  [gpSsdope  Greonad
0mE8pSaBEsB: cwad§opd  sl§adom
070803 c06:68008q 0> §oloopdi o9
oap_S Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd 035
ﬁﬁ]mom »[ed Jool o Joog 28633
or:ooq}ooe eamca(ﬂoo@u 3]?33@ o@@o
2866 oonly) :zoctoo?oc‘ﬁ, §0500593 o
eepma@“ o@@g :ﬁoogc [?ﬁmy:cemo
ou?oom S o0m& omo§odicanisd
cloopSi Bz(mpSeae: oap;) oo?mm olos}

(66 ope ¢ 3@@9 98033 ooooﬁsoofr
eeooca@ eﬁom 39[§e 00:0990lo0p51 23
2205 q§opborgrafcdy cladensé goes
Rer:®@QE  mee§midée  Colorado
@é@(ﬁﬁ The Economics Institute in

o

Boulder ¢ mg;moﬁcv[uéc& §<§: spleaisalelE
BEep 8oBenq§oonan [gdoloopdn op
208 08605q [BpS%y ©0q&3Ems:
0pS: ([gdoloopS



Key

Management

“ FMI MANAGEMENT

U Tun Tun
Chief Executive Officer & Executive
Director

Daw Khin Yemon Win
Head of Finance

Daw Khin Yemon Win serves as the Head
of Finance and oversees the Company’s
financialoperations,includingaccounting
& financial reporting, taxation, budgeting
& planning, and corporate finance.
She joined Yoma Group in July 2013
as a Finance Manager of StarCity and
was promoted to the Division Finance
Manager of Yoma Land in 2017. She then
served as a Financial Controller of Yoma
Motors up to June 2022. She has over
20 years of experience in the finance
and accounting field with significant
exposure to the Oil & Gas, IT Services,
Real Estate and Automotive industries
in Singapore and Myanmar. She holds
a Bachelor of Finance and Accounting
from the University of London. She is a
Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”) and a
member of CPA (Australia).

“ YOMA BANK

U Kyaw Soe Lin
Chief Executive Officer (Acting)

U Kyaw Soe Lin was appointed as the
Chief Executive Officer (Acting) in July
2024. Before his current position, he
served as Director and Chief Business
Officer at Digital Money Myanmar Ltd
(Wave Money). U Kyaw Soe Lin also
holds key positions as Deputy Chairman
of the Myanmar Payment Union,
lead of the Technical Committee at
Myanmar Credit Bureau, and Executive
Committee member of the Myanmar
Digital Economy Association. In addition,
he is actively involved in developing
Myanmar’s digital payment ecosystem,
Myanmar Pay project. Prior to that, he

joined Yoma Bank in 1997, where he
held several leadership roles, including
Chief Consumer Banking Officer, Chief
Technology Officer, and Chief Operations
Officer. During his time at Yoma Bank, he
was a driving force behind establishing
the Information and Technology (IT)
Department of the Bank.

U Kyaw Soe Lin is a highly accomplished
professional with nearly 30 years of
experience in the financial industry and
IT sector. His extensive background
covers a broad range of areas, including
banking
management

local and international
operations,  hospital
system, supply chain management, and
commercial sectors where he possesses
various expertise including banking
operations, business development,
project  management,  technology,
and telecommunications. A standout
achievement in his IT career was his
pioneering role in developing the
Myanmar's first automated banking
solution, the “Yoma Integrated Banking
System”, for Yoma Bank in 2000.

Born in Yangon, U Kyaw Soe Lin holds
a B.Sc. (Hons.) degree in Physics from
Yangon University and a Master of
Science in Technology from Yangon
Computer University.

Daw Aye Aye Soe
Chief Internal Auditor

Daw Aye Aye Soe joined Yoma Bank in
1999 as a Branch Manager and currently
serves as the Chief Internal Auditor. With
a deep understanding of the Myanmar
banking industry, her expertise stems
from a career spanning over three
decades, including roles at the Central
Bank of Myanmar (CBM), Myanmar
Foreign Trade Bank, and Myanmar
Economic Bank. Before joining Yoma
Bank, she served as the Chief Accountant
at First Private Bank for 5 years.

Daw Aye Aye Soe graduated with a
Bachelor of Commerce in Banking from
the Institute of Economics (Yangon) in

1991 and is a Certified Public Accountant
(CPA), bringing extensive technical
expertise and leadership to her role.

Daw Khin Mu Mu Myint
Chief Consumer Banking Officer

Daw Khin Mu Mu Myint is a highly
accomplished senior executive with
over 20 years of progressive experience
across commercial banking, strategic
partnerships, corporate development,
product innovation, financial
management, corporate governance,
and restructuring for Fortune 100
companies and private firms in diverse
industries. In her current role as Chief
Consumer Banking Officer at Yoma
Bank, she leads a network of over 2,000
retail banking staff across more than 80
branches throughout Myanmar.

Before stepping into her current role,
Daw Khin Mu Mu Myint served as the
Chief Business Banking Officer, where
she played a pivotal role in driving the
Bank's strategy to become a leading
bank for businesses in Myanmar. She
was instrumental in founding the
Commercial and International Banking
Division, overseeing the development
of products and services, and launching
multiple business units across the Bank.

Her previous career includes notable
roles at prominent U.S. organizations
such as Freddie Mac, the World Bank,
Citi Group, JP Morgan, and Prudential
Insurance, as well as significant positions
at leading conglomerates in Myanmar.
She graduated from Baruch College, City
University of New York with a Bachelor of
Business Administration in Accounting
and a Certified Public Accountant (CPA)
from the State of Washington.

Daw Pwint Thawdar Maung
Chief Financial Officer (Acting)

Daw Pwint Thawdar Maung was
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer
(Acting) in July 2024. Prior to this role, she
served as the Head of Risk Management
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and Assurance at Yoma Group starting
in September 2023 and was the Chief
Financial Officer of Yoma Fleet Limited
from 2019 until July 2024. Her career
journey with Yoma Group began in
2018 as the Financial Controller at Yoma
Heavy Equipment Company Limited
where she was responsible for financial
and operations management in the
agricultural and construction machinery
sector. Before joining Yoma Group, she
worked at Ooredoo Myanmar Limited
in 2017 as a Senior Pricing Manager,
where she managed pricing strategies
for telecommunications services
in alignment with the Ministry of
Communications, Myanmar.

Her extensive experience also includes
working in Singapore, where she
managed critical financial and accounting
functions at the Central Provident Fund
Board, Lazada Southeast Asia Pte Ltd, the
regional flagship of Alibaba Group, and
NCS Pte Ltd, a subsidiary of Singapore
Telecommunications Ltd, from 2008 to
2017.

Daw Pwint Thawdar Maung is a
Myanmar citizen with an MSc in
Professional Accountancy from the
University of London and a BA in
Accountancy and Financial Management
from the University of Portsmouth,
United Kingdom. She is also a Chartered
Certified Accountant, accredited by
the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA).

Daw Nang Khin Khin Gyi
Chief People Officer

Daw Nang Khin Khin Gyi, currently the
Chief People Officer, joined Yoma Bank
in September 2016 after more than a
decade of working in United States as an
Internal Auditor. She held the position of
Global Corporate Internal Audit Manager
for Alere Inc. in Massachusetts and also
worked for Thermo Fisher Scientific, a
Fortune 500 Company headquartered in
Waltham, Massachusetts. With extensive
experience in Internal Controls COSO
Framework, Enterprise Risk Management
(ERM), Financial Auditing, Compliance
Auditing, Information Technology
Auditing, Process Improvement, and
Business Optimization, she brings a
wealth of expertise to Yoma Bank. She
holds a Master’s degree in International

Economics and Finance from Brandeis
University, Massachusetts, a B.S.
in Management/ Finance from the
University of Massachusetts, and an
A.A. in Liberal Arts from Bard College
at Simon's Rock, Massachusetts. In
addition, she is a Certified Internal
Auditor and Certified Fraud Examiner.

Daw Zin Mie Mie
Chief Compliance Officer (Acting)

Daw Zin Mie Mie is serving as the Chief
Compliance Officer (Acting) of the Bank
starting from July 2024. Prior to this
position, she served as the Deputy Chief
Compliance Officer from June 2021,
where she played a key role in enhancing
the Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and
Counter-Financing of Terrorism (CFT)
framework as well as successfully
implementing a robust compliance risk
management structure. She also held
Corporate Secretary position since May
2019, where she was instrumental in
establishing the corporate governance
system for the Bank. Her career journey
with Yoma Bank began in 2014, where
she headed the Treasury Department
and was pivotal in building treasury
department as a profit centre of the
Bank along with the implementation a
front to back treasury system.

Before joining Yoma Bank, she was
the Assistant Vice President at Bank of
America Merrill Lynch in London, one
of the leading investment banks, from
2010 to 2014, where she managed
financial control function for the equity
structured financing business. She also
served as a Product Control Analyst in
the Prime Services business at Credit
Suisse in London from 2006 to 2010.

Born and raised in Myanmar until her
early teens, Daw Zin Mie Mie holds a
BSc (Hons) in Mathematics, Operational
Research, Statistics, and Economics
from Warwick University, UK. She is a
Chartered Management Accountant
with the UK-based Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants (CIMA) and an
internationally recognized Certified Anti-
Money Laundering Specialist (ACAMS).

Dr. Gershu Chandy Paul is the Chief
Executive Officer of Pun Hlaing Hospitals
(“PHH") since 2014. He worked at
Southland District Health Board New
Zealand for over a decade and was the
Chief Executive Officer for the last six
years of his tenure. Thereafter, he was
the President Director/CEO of Siloam
Hospitals Indonesia for a decade and
successfully listed it on the Jakarta
Stock Exchange in September 2013 for a
market capitalisation of USD 1.8 billion.
He has over 35 years of international
healthcare experience at the executive
level. He received his Bachelor of
Medicine, Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS)
from the University of Bangalore, India
in 1986, and a Master of Business
Administration from the University
of Otago, New Zealand in 1997. In
addition, he graduated as a Fellow of the
Royal Australasian Medical College of
Administrators (“FRACMA"), Melbourne,
Australia in 2006, and he is also a Fellow
of the Australasian College of Health
Service Management.



Dr. Thet Thet Khine joined PHH as a
Microbiologist and Pharmacy Manager
in 2005. In 2010, she was appointed as
the Medical Business Director. In 2014,
she was promoted to be the Managing
Director (Operations) at PHH to oversee
hospital operations including building
the hospital's nationwide network.
She received a Bachelor of Medicine,
Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) in 1993, and
a Master’s in microbiology in 2003 from
the Institute of Medicine-1 in Yangon.

Ms. Tan Guat Ngoh joined PHH in April
2019 as the Chief Financial Officer. She
is responsible for PHH's overall financial
and capital resources management. She
possesses over 30 years of experience in
audit, finance and accounting industries
derived from working in a Big Four public
accounting firm in Singapore, and both
public-listed and private companies
across various industries including
energy utility, real estate, and healthcare.
She is a graduate of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants (UK) and
a member of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants (“ISCA").

“ YOMA LAND

Mr. Goh Boon Leong
Financial Controller

Mr. Goh Boon Leong has been with
Yoma Land since June 2017, where
he was appointed as the Financial
Controller of the Yoma Central Project.
He was appointed as a member of the
Management Team in StarCity since
January 2020. Prior to joining Yoma
Group, he has around 25 years of work
experience in multiple countries around
the world in both finance and operations.
He is a graduate from Deakin University
in Australia, majoring in Accounting and
Management.

Daw Nwe Nwe Tun
Project Director

Ms. Nwe Nwe Tun was appointed as a
Project Director of Yoma Land in May
2017. She joined Yoma Group since

Oct 2015 as a Project Manager. Prior to
joining Yoma Group, she worked at an
international consultancy firm on project
development for multipurpose projects
in Singapore for 13 years. She holds a
bachelor’'s degree in Civil Engineering
from Mandalay Technological University
and then obtained a Master of Science
in Civil Engineering from Nanyang
Technological University, Singapore. She
also obtained an MBA in International
Management from Geneva Business
School in 2019.

“ MEMORIES GROUP

Mr. Cyrus Pun
Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

Mr. Cyrus Pun started his career working
in the export industry in China and
worked for Hutchison Port Holdings'
South China Commercial Division. He
joined SPA in 2007 and assumed a
leading role in the development of a
mixed-use real estate project in Dalian,
China. Prior to his appointment as the
Chief Executive Officer of Memories
Group, he was an Executive Director of
Yoma Strategic and headed its real estate
business from 2012 to 2018. During
this time, he led several developments
including some of Myanmar's largest
and most prominent real estate projects.
He was also responsible for bringing in
international partners and investors for
these projects. His last venture as the
Head of Real Estate of Yoma Strategic
was to initiate its expansion into the
affordable housing segment. He was
also a Non-Executive Non-Independent
Director of Yoma Strategic from 2019 to
2021. He received a Bachelor’s degree
in Economics from the London School
of Economics in 2003 and an Executive
M.B.A. from Kellogg-HKUST in 2019.

U Myo Myint Aung
Financial Controller

U Myo Myint Aung is currently the
Financial Controller of Memories Group.
Prior to joining Memories Group, he
worked as the Head of Finance for
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co.
Ltd. (“MTSH") and was the Chief Financial
Officer of Myanmar Japan Thilawa
Limited (“MJT"), where he oversaw the
financial and accounting operations,

budgeting, cash management, tax,
corporate reporting and compliance, and
internal controls of both MTSH and MJT.
He has over 10 years of experience in the
finance and accounting field. He holds a
Bachelor's degree in Applied Accounting
from Oxford Brookes University. He is
a member of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants (“ISCA") and a
Fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (“ACCA").

U Yan Naing Soe
Chief Commercial Officer

U Yan Naing Soe has 14 years of
experience both in overseas and
Myanmar working in marine, fast-
moving consumer goods (“FMCG"), real
estate and distribution industries. He
was raised and educated in Myanmar.
He holds a bachelor’s degree in business
administration. He started his career in
2007 in Singapore as a Human Resources
professional and further studied for
Human Capital Management from the
Singapore Human Resources Institute.
He worked for 7 years in Singapore and
returned to Myanmar in 2013. He joined
the Yoma Group since then. Prior to
joining the Memories Group as a Director
of the CEO office, he worked at various
leadership roles in Human Resources
departments at SPA, Yoma Land and the
Yoma Group’s Human Resources.

“ FMIDECAUX

Mr. Arnaud De Ruffray
Managing Director

Mr. Arnaud de Ruffray is currently the
Managing Director of FMIDecaux and
JCDecaux Thailand. He has worked
for eight years at JCDecaux. In 2017,
as Regional Project Manager in China,
he implemented iconic projects in
Guangzhou Baiyun international airport,
and was responsible for the safety
process for design and installation of
Asia projects. Since January 2021, he has
been serving as the Managing Director
of FMIDecaux. He graduated from Ecole
Polytechnique in France.
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U Tun Tun
Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director

Daw Khin Yemon Win
Head of Finance
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U Kyaw Soe Lin
Chief Executive Officer (Acting)
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PERFORMANCE

REVIEW

Seizing New Horizons

With a firm commitment

to positioning itself for the
future, FMI embarked on a
journey to identify and seize
new horizons. The Company
explored emerging sectors,
sought strategic partnerships,
and embraced disruptive
technologies. By diversifying
its portfolio and expanding
into promising industries, FMI
unlocked new avenues for
growth, laying the foundation
for a more resilient and
prosperous future.
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Milestones

YOMA BANK

* Expanded its customer reach by opening new branches in strategic locations, including Tachileik, to support trade in border areas.
* Introduced the FlexiPay MPU Credit Card and the Mastercard-MPU Co-brand Debit Card, to enrich its digital banking services.
* Set up over 4,000 YoWave accounts with Wave Money.
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YOMA LAND

Successfully  sold  off  Estella
Townhouses, the first of its kind in
Myanmar.

Won two prestigious awards at the
Real Estate Asia Awards 2024, hosted
by Charlton Media Group: Developer
of the Year - Myanmar and Green

Technology Initiative of the Year.
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Achieved the reopening of the
esteemed Governor's Residence, an
iconic heritage hotel situated in the
heart of downtown Yangon.
Memories Events curated over 40
bespoke public events, concerts, and
seminars, and attracted a diverse
audience of over 4000 attendees.
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PUN HLAING HOSPITALS

in 2026.

healthcare services.
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Secured 3 Joint Commission International (JCI) Accreditation May 2024.
The Pun Hlaing Comprehensive Cancer Center (PHCCC) Project Construction has commenced, with Phase One set to open

A new Heal by Pun Hlaing Family Clinic Successfully opened added its 4™ Clinic Phyapon, to its network of accessible

@éw@f Joint Commission International (JCI) &) 333333905@[9093

< N

oé%:cﬁéeao:{]eﬁ méaoocr?ooeqméon (PHCCC) eaoo(rgo?éeq:o% oméa}@ ogo)e(m? s oooszaeo§ 093 J()JG sg@ﬁogc (efenl)

q«% 8@&000:@5:u

N SN

o$:o§§8m:?eaosa$: (Heal by Pun Hlaing Family Clinic) &\ o :ge@oo% Gao:aq%:o% qpc?@lpaf: 93305@5@0 ggo])o)g@&@g
MY§2e0eq:600E g3 0§eanEegP:ad 3ep:(0pSane 38wa5ard:8cniicnq§apsqodad ogclEs(at:n




Group Financial
Snapshot

MMK. 489.1 Bn

12-MONTH REVENUE

12-month revenue was primarily attributed by
revenue growth in Financial and Healthcare
Segments.

MMK. 58.1 Bn

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

MMK. 51.6 Bn

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS
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Achieved as a result of Financial Services,
Healthcare Services and Real Estate segment
performance. Delivered profits to shareholders while Group

businesses being prudent and vigilant.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

FY 2024* FY 2023** % Change

Statement of Income (MMK ‘000) Audited Audited

Revenue 499,115,107 339,593,407 47.0%
Gross Profit 202,592,145 119,734,442 69.2%
Net Profit 58,071,099 4,133,004 1305.1%
Total Comprehensive Income 60,555,677 15,208,546 298.2%
Net Profit attributable to Equity Holders 51,594,226 (701,769) 7452.0%
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (MMK) 1558 (21) 7519.0%
Statement of Financial Position (MMK '000) As at 31-Mar-2024 As at 31-Mar-2023 % Change
Total Assets 5474,162,709 4,186,260,866 30.8%
Total Liabilities 4,876,723,202 3,674,322,104 (32.7%)
Total Equity 597,439,507 511,938,762 16.7%
Net Asset value per share (MMK)*** 14,435%** 12,370%** 16.7%
Financial Indicators

Gross Profit Margin (%) 40.6 % 353 % 15.0%
Net Profit Margin (%) 11.6 % 1.2% 866.7%
Net Gearing (%) 20.0 % 241 % 17.0%

*  Audited financial report covering the financial year FY 2024 (1 Apr'23 to 31 Mar'24).
**  Audited financial report covering the financial year FY 2023 (1 Apr'’22 to 31 Mar'23).

**+* Net Asset Value Per Share is calculated by dividing the total net asset value of the Company by the number of outstanding shares (inclusive of convertible

shares under Restructured Loan Agreement)
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**  Dividend Income and Rental Income collectively made up less than 1% of total sources of income.

REVENUE SOURCES OF INCOME
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FY Sep 2019 is the reporting period of six months between 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019.
FY 2022 is the reporting period of six months between 1 Oct 2021 to 31 March 2022.



FMI GROUP’'S OVERVIEW

The Group is proactively managing its operating businesses and
performing well ahead of the comparative year FY2023 amidst
increasingly challenging operating conditions remain. The
Group's total revenue was boosted by 47.0%, particularly from
the revenue contribution from financial services amounting
to MMK 422.0 Bn driven by the enhancement in interest
income and non-funded income sources compared with last
year from expansion of its customer reach beyond branches
and improvement in accessibility for banking services. The
healthcare services also contributed MMK 77.0 Bn from its core
organic revenue generation from clinical and ancillary services
in additional with offer of medical check-ups packages and
introduction of “HEAL APP” which assists in providing medical
information, speeding up booking and payment process via
online platform resulted massive customers engagement.

The Group gross profit was improved by 69.2%, which was
mainly from Yoma Bank due to higher revenue on increased loan
disbursements and other banking services which outweighed
higher deposit yield reported from Yoma Bank whereas the
Hospitals’ gross profit margin was broadly flat year to year.
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Under today business landscape, the Group's total administrative
expenses went up by 45.5% compared against previous year,
mainly due to increase in general operational costs across all
segments and the recognition of additional reserve for general
loan loss provision at Yoma Bank as per CBM guideline.

The Group's net profit surpassed significantly in FY 2024
amounting to MMK 58.1 Bn compared against last year FY2023
profit of MMK 4.1 Bn. Higher share of profit from associates
driven by Real Estate Segment and above-mentioned reasons
attributed this net profit growth over the year.

The Group's total assets increased by 30.8% to MMK 5.5 Tn
mainly due to the increase in the bank’s loan portfolio of Yoma
Bank. Meanwhile, the total liabilities of the Group increased by
32.7% to MMK 4.9 Tn regarding the rising customer deposits
through its popular products, principally Flexi products and
Super Fixed Deposit.

The Group's equity also increased by 16.7%, the majority
attributable to the favorable financial performance and profits
are not distributed in favor for strategic growth of the Group.
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Financial Services

COMMITTED TO SUPPORT

CUSTOMERS' BUSINESS GROWTH
THROUGH INNOVATIVE BANKING

SOLUTIONS AND IMPROVED

SERVICE OFFERINGS

Yoma Bank demonstrated remarkable
resilience, continuing to provide better
financial services for the people of
Myanmar, with a particular focus on
supporting Micro, Small and Medium
Enterprises (MSMEs) in the financial
year 2023-2024. The Bank strives to
support its customers with crucial
access to credit and financial resources
necessary for their business growth by
leveraging innovative banking solutions
and expanding its range of services.
Initiatives such as the Yoma Bank
Next App and specialised MSME loan
products have significantly improved
financial inclusion and service delivery,
showcasing the Bank's commitment
to fostering economic development in
Myanmar.

PROMOTING DIGITAL CHANNELS

Yoma Bank unveiled its new mobile
banking application, Next App in
March 2024. The app offers more
convenient services and novel digital
banking features for the customers
including self-activation, QR payments,
loan application, card management,
and interbank transfer. In addition,
the Bank reintroduced the Business
Banking Portal, enhancing access to
digital banking services for corporate
customers.

¢

YOMA BANK

GROW TOGETHER BIZPITCH
PROGRAM

As part of its 30" Anniversary
celebrations, the Bank launched “Grow
Together BizPitch” program in October
2023 to support and provide financing
to MSMEs, demonstrating its dedication
as a reliable business partner within
the local business community. A total
of 644 applications were received from
entrepreneurs seeking opportunities to
advance their ventures. The Program
concluded successfully with the selection
of 4 winners from various sectors,
including agriculture, local handmade
crafts, and local food products in
March 2024. Yoma Bank is committed
to supporting the winners beyond
financing throughout their business
ventures in the future.



INSURANCE PARTNERSHIPS

Yoma Bank and Prudential Myanmar marked
a significant milestone in bancassurance
partnership, commemorating 3 years of
collaboration established since January
2021. The Bank remains steadfast in
providing customers access to a diverse
range of insurance and financial protection
products and this strategic partnership
stands as a cornerstone, boasting one of the
most extensive bancassurance portfolios in
Myanmar. Moreover, the Bank expanded
its strategic partnership by collaborating
with GGI Tokio Marine (GGITM) to serve
as a corporate general insurance agent to
provide comprehensive and customised
insurance solutions to collateral loan
customers across its entire branch network.
This partnership enhances trust and
credibility while effectively mitigating risk
exposures for customers.
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Healthcare

PUN HLAING HOSPITALS IS
DEDICATED TO YOUR WELL-BEING,

PROVIDING A PLATFORM FOR A
SMART HEALTH COMMUNITY

Despite various challenges across
Myanmar, PHH has demonstrated
resilience and consistent growth. Our
focus remains on enhancing service
quality and expanding service capacity
through technological advancements,
capacity building, and the recruitment of
top specialists.

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION

The public Launch of Heal by Pun
Hlaing Application marks a pioneering
digital health initiative, the first of its
kind in Myanmar. This app enhances
patient engagement and healthcare
management and  now  boasts
60,000 users. The Heal by Pun Hlaing
application, a cornerstone of our digital
care offerings, is pivotal in advancing
our mission to provide accessible and
affordable healthcare.

The Heal App team focuses on
collaborating with the operations
team and implementing branding and
communication strategies and paperless
project, positioning the app as a key
tool within hospital operations. We are
also integrating with our medical record
systems and Heal application to provide
seamless patient care.

vAg
S(pUN HLAING
HOSPITALS

PLATFORM FOR SMART HEALTH
COMMUNITY AND TO PROMOTE
WELL-BEING

PHH continues to lead, as the only
private hospital in Myanmar offering
Renal Transplant Program, underscoring
our dedication to comprehensive
healthcare. Emerging Health vertical
has also introduced Homecare
services, offering personalised home
care solutions tailored to meet our
patient needs, from elderly care to
specialised medical support. Affordable
Hemodialysis package and Maternity
packages have been introduced across
the country, enabling lower income
families to access affordable quality
healthcare. Through affordable medical
checkup programs, PHH successfully
provided early diagnosis accessible



to 20,000 members of lower middle-
income families over an 18-day period,
showcasing our commitment to scale
and impact. PHH ensures vital health
services remained accessible and
affordable to the community while fully
utilising our resources. The Child Health
and Development Clinic (“CHDC") is now
available in all Pun Hlaing Hospitals
starting from 2024, with a promotion
plan for Taunggyi Hospital to be launched
via social media in May 2024.

STAFF DEVELOPMENT

Our commitment extends to our staff,
with over 400 employees benefiting from
the Staff Competency DevelopmentFund.
This program supports the professional
growth and academic advancement
of our healthcare professionals,
ensuring our community has access
to the safe patient care system that
meets international standard through
continuous professional development
and exposure to up-to-date and relevant
technologies. These initiatives reflect
PHH's dedication to supporting the well-
being of the community.

OUR PURPOSE

Looking ahead, PHH remains steadfastin
our core values of delivering high-quality,
affordable healthcare services. With the
upcoming addition of a comprehensive
cancer facility at our flagship Yangon
Hospital, Pun Hlaing Hospital (Hlaing
Thar Yar) is poised to become the
premier healthcare destination in
Myanmar, offering a viable alternative
to seeking advanced care abroad. We
are committed to enhancing healthcare
accessibility and quality, making a lasting
impact on the health of our nation.

3 Pun Hlaing Hospitals
(Hlaing Tharyar-Yangon, Chan Aye

Tharzan-Mandalay and Thit Taw
Quarter-Taunggyi)

2 Medical Towers

(Taw Win-Yangon and North
Dagon-Yangon),

4 Primary Clinics

(Sanchaung-Yangon, StarCity-
Yangon, Thingangyun-Yangon and
Phyapon-Ayeyarwady),

1 Histopathology Lab

(Thingangyun-Yangon), and a
laboratory chain, reaching over
1,000 patients daily across a
potential community of three
million people.

2 Aesthetic Clinics

(Sanchaung-Yangon and StarCity-
Yangon)
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BUILDING BETTER

COMMUNITIES FOR THE

YOMA
LAND

FUTURE OF MYANMAR

Yoma Land is the leading developer safe, vibrant with well-rounded facilities and amenities, while emphasising innovative
in Myanmar, focusing on township designs, building standards, and product range.

projects with the mission of Building

Better Communities for the Future STARCITY

of Myanmar. Transforming Yangon's

cityscape across the three strategically StarCity Estate offers its residents with a diverse range of products with impeccable
located flagship developments: StarCity design and layout, providing more time and peace of mind to enjoy The Good Life. In
Estate, Padauk Garden Development, March 2023, City Loft launched its 10th Tower (CL10), followed by the final 11t Tower
and Pun Hlaing Estate. From aspirational (CL11) in July 2023. Each tower features 140 units, highlighting the strong demand for
urban residential developments to modern urban living in Yangon. By the end of 2023, all units in the City Loft project were
high-end luxury, Yoma Land aims to completely sold out.

build communities that are attractive,

‘” 5TARC|TY¢
STARCITY " e

GTY LOFT STARVILLAS ’y & CITYVILLAS
ESTELIA [ &ga  GTYLOFT . I

WEST




Below are our most recent projects;
City Villa

Recognising the increasing interest in
landed properties, StarCity introduced
the City Villa project in August 2022,
consisting of 130 villas. In response to
the sudden surge in community demand,
StarCity launched the City Villa Extension
(Phase x) in January 2023. Both phases of
this project totaling 207 villas, were also
sold by the end of August 2023.

Ara

The management team works relentlessly
on introducing new projects into the
market by launching “Ara”. Our concept
revolves around creating spaces that
seamlessly blend functionality, style,
nature, and community. At “Ara,” we
believe in the power of sharing- sharing
space, sharing time, and sharing value
with our neighbours. This new low-
rise housing compound, Ara, features
18 individual units, including studios,
1-bedroom, 2-bedroom, 3-bedroom,
and townhouse options on a 6,400 sq.ft
plot. Ara has quickly proven popular,
especially among younger buyers, with
over 370 units sold during the first
weekend of its launch in March 2024.

CITY LOFT WEST

In May 2023, Yoma Land launched
Phase 1 of City Loft West Development,
strategically located in the bustling
economic  hub of Hlaing Tharyar
Township. The success of the first tower
of City Loft West is evident in its 100%
sell-out rate, prompting Yoma Land to
launch two additional towers by the
end of FY2024. The second tower (TC8),
launched in September 2023, has nearly
sold out, and the latest tower (TC2) was
introduced in January 2024.

The successful sales of units in the
StarCity, City Villa, Estella Townhouses,
Ara, and City Loft West projects
underscore the market's confidence

Estella Townhouses

Building on the success of City Villa sales
and addressing the electricity needs
within the market, StarCity introduced
Estella Townhouses: Myanmar's first
solar-powered townhouses, integrated
with batteries and inverters. Launched
in October 2023, Estella embraces
a modern, eco-friendly lifestyle that
seamlessly blends style and sustainability.
The project was a remarkable success,
with 527 units sold within just two hours
of the official launch.

in Yoma Land’s developments and
the attractiveness of their residential
offerings. Yoma Land's ability to swiftly
respond to market demands and offer
a diverse range of housing options has
significantly contributed to its ongoing
success in the real estate market.
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Tourism

DISCOVER MYANMAR'S
ENCHANTING BEAUTY WITH

MEMORIES GROUP

Memories (2022) Pte. Limited (together
with its subsidiaries, the “Memories
Group”) has undergone a transformative
journey, transitioning from an integrated
tourism company to a vibrant hospitality
and lifestyle brand. Memories Group
continues to offer quality hospitality
and lifestyle services. This involves a
continuous improvement of collective
expertise and competencies, along with
the identification of changing trends and
new needs in a dynamic environment all
aimed at expanding market share within
the domestic market.

Moreover, a dedicated sector has been
established, focusing on recreational
consumer markets, lifestyle, and events.
This sector facilitates partnerships with
local corporate entities to generate
sustainable demand. Despite challenges,
Memories Group continues to elevate
Myanmar's tourism industry through its
integrated platform, experienced team,
and well-established brands.

J@ (%

Memeories

GROUP

BUSINESS SEGMENTS
HOTELS
Governor's Residence

A significant milestone was reached
with the reopening of the prestigious
Governor's Residence, an iconic heritage
hotel nestled in downtown Yangon. This
landmark addition enhances Memories
Group’s offerings with unparalleled
luxury dining and accommodation
services. Itis also complemented by the
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exclusive Governor’s Club membership,
which attracted over 60 members in the
months following its launch.

Upon the reopenning of Governor's
Residence, Memories Group has shifted
its service offerings by demonstrating
the enhancement of event experiences
through  Memories Events. These
initiatives represent a pivotal momentfor
Memories Group. They not only broaden
Memories' scope but also demonstrate
its ability to identify and address market
demands, thereby fortifying the group'’s
product portfolio.

Awei Pila - luxurious boutique
resorts

Awei Pila is a luxurious boutique resort
managed by Memories Group. The resort
gained significant exposure through ‘The
Taste of Pila’ documentary, a travel/
food series featuring two MasterChef
judges from the hit TV series MasterChef
Myanmar. The show highlights the
diverse culture, environment, and
cuisine of Pila Island, where Awei Pila
resort is located.

The documentary and its associated
clips were widely shared on social
media platforms, with shorten versions
and snippets going viral on Tik-Tok and
WeChat. This extensive sharing brought
attention to Awei Pila and highlighted the
natural beauty of Southern Myanmar’s
Island chains. As a result, millions of
viewers were introduced to Awei Pila,
establishing it as a top destination for
luxury travelers and culinary enthusiasts.

LIFESTYLE SERVICES

Memories Events capitalised on the
group’s extensive expertise and venue
ownership, curating over 40 bespoke
public events, concerts, and seminars.
This initiative attracted a diverse
audience of over 4000 attendees,
underscoring the group’s unwavering
commitment to delivering exceptional
and memorable experiences.

Multi-day music festivals such as the
Governor's Music Festival highlighted
both contemporary and traditional
Myanmar music. Additionally, concerts
such as the Yangon Jazz Fest renewed
local artists’ drive to showcase their
talent in an internationally loved musical
genre.

MEMORIES F&B

The group’s F&B management team
continues meeting F&B needs with
outlets like Locale, a trendy health
food establishment. Locale introduces
seminars and training sessions under
the Learn at Locale series, aiming to
educate customers about healthy eating
habits. Efforts to create and deliver
healthy meal plans in collaboration with
nutritionists and fitness establishments
have also been introduced to further
solidify Locale's reputation for promoting
healthy living.

With a dedication to providing exceptional
experiences, Memories Group remains
steadfast in its mission to contribute
to the growth and development of
Myanmar's tourism and experiential
sector.
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Strategic Investment

DELIVERING AND SHOWCASING
YOU ONLY THE BEST
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FMIDecaux Company Limited (“FMIDecaux”) is a joint venture
between FMI and JCDecaux Asia(S) Pte.Ltd. (“JCDecaux”), with
ownership stakes at 40% and 60% respectively. This joint venture
combines JCDecaux's expertise as the world's top outdoor
advertising company and FMI's decades of experience in the
local Myanmar market.

ALREADY A REFERENCE

Only six years after being founded, FMIDecaux is already a
reference for hard work, commitment, and advertising value:
public figures have frequently praised the continuous service
level offered despite COVID-19 and ongoing political challenge
across the country, and clients have acknowledged the efficiency
of its strong media engagement by entering into long term
contracts with FMIDecaux.

FMIDecaux
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OUR GENERATING

VALUE

Sustainability as a
Driving Force

FMI recognises that
sustainable development is
not just an ethical imperative
but also a strategic
advantage. The Company
embedded sustainability

into its core operations,
focusing on environmental
stewardship, social
responsibility, and good
governance. By integrating
sustainability into its business
strategy, FMI strengthened
its brand, gained stakeholder
trust, and contributed to the
long-term well-being of the
Myanmar people.
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Corporate
Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

FMI is committed to good corporate governance and managing its affairs in a fair and transparent manner to create long-term
sustainable value for its shareholders and the wider community through ethical and responsible business practices. The Company’s
benchmark of governance remains rooted in its Corporate Governance Manual (the “CG Manual”) and corporate policies which adhere
to the principles of accountability, fairness, transparency, and responsibility. The CG Manual, adopted by the Company during the
financial year ended 31 March 2019 (“FY 2019"), sets out the Group's Corporate Governance Framework, Policies, Procedures and
Standards (collectively the “Code”) and is premised on the Myanmar Companies Law 2017 (“Companies Law") and the Company’s
constitution (the “Constitution”). The Group remains committed to implement these practices consistently in all its business units and
align with the regional corporate governance standards under the leadership of the Company’s board of directors (the “Board” or the
“Directors”). The CG Manual is compliant with the Notification on Requirements for Effective Corporate Governance dated 3 December
2020 (“Notification 2/2020") and the Instruction on Material Related Party Transaction for Listed Companies and Public Companies with
more than 100 Shareholders dated 3 December 2020 (“Instruction 3/2020"), both of which were issued by the Securities and Exchange
Commission Myanmar (“SECM”). The CG Manual and Code are subject to review from time to time. The CG Manual is available on the
Company'’s website.

FMI'S GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

SHAREHOLDERS

BOARD COMMITTEES |

Audit and Risk Management
Committee BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Nominating Committee
Remuneration Committee

MANAGEMENT

HIGHLIGHTS OF GOVERNANCE ACHIEVEMENTS
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Ranked #2 in the Pwint Thit Sa YSX Listed Company Award A Committed Member of the
(Transparency in Myanmar 2020 Best Disclosure UN Global Compact
Enterprises) Report 2023 Practice Award since 2012




SECTION 1- BOARD MATTERS

SECTION 1.1 - THE BOARD'S
CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS

The Board leads, controls, and is
collectively responsible for overseeing
the business and affairs for the long-
term success of the Group. The
key ~management personnel (the
“Management”) remains accountable
for  day-to-day  operations  and
administration of the Group, in
accordance with the policies and
strategies set by the Board. The Group
has designated Chief Executive Officers
(“CEOs") for its business entities, who are
responsible for their respective business
units, whereby the CEOs will replicate
the Board's policies and strategies at the
operations level. In support of this, the
Board Committees (as defined below)
have also been setuptoensurethatthere
are reviews and checks and balances. In
doing so, a framework of effective risk
management is established, allowing
for better assessment of the Group's
businesses.

Principal Duties of the Board

1. to provide entrepreneurial
leadership, and review and guide
corporate  strategies, annual
budgets and business plans,
giving consideration to long-term
sustainable business growth;

2. to set the Group's vision, mission,
goals, values, standards, strategies,
policies and practices (including
ethical standards), and to ensure
that obligations to shareholders
and other stakeholders are
understood and met;

3. to set strategic objectives and
ensure that the necessary financial
and human resources are in
place for the Group to meet its
objectives;

4. to establish a framework of
prudent and effective controls
which enables risks to be
assessed and managed, including
safeguarding of shareholders’
interests and the Group's assets;

5. to oversee the internal control
system including risk management
policies and procedures to monitor
and manage potential conflicts of
interest;

6. to ensure the integrity of the
Group's accounting and financial

reporting systems are compliant
with  the law and relevant
standards;

7. to review the Management's
performance annually;

8. to identify the key stakeholder
groups and recognise that their
perceptions affect the Group's
reputation; and to oversee the
process of communications to
engage with stakeholders;

9. to consider sustainability issues,
such as environmental and social
factors, as part of its strategic
formulation;

10. to promote a high standard of
corporate governance by ensuring
timely and accurate disclosure on
all material events regarding the

Group;
11. to strategise sound succession
planning programmes for

Directors and the Management
are in place, and to create a
process to reflect an adequate
mix of individuals with relevant
competence, industry experience
and diversity of perspectives to
carry out effective decision making
are retained and nurtured in the
talent pool;

12. to ensure that every Director
constantly keep himself/herself
apprised with the latest issues by
attending relevant training.

13. to ensure that all related party
transactions (“RPTs"”) and material
RPTs (as defined under the CG
Manual) are handled in a prudent
manner, with integrity and atarm'’s
length and are reasonable in the
circumstances, and in compliance
with  applicable  laws and
regulations to protect the interests
of the Group's shareholders and
other stakeholders; and

14. to ensure that all RPTs and
Material RPTs be disclosed in a
timely manner and be approved
by the Board; and any Director
who has a potential interest in the
concerned RPT shall abstain from
voting on the said matter.

Board's Guidance on the Uncertain
Economic and Business Environment
in Myanmar

The business environment in Myanmar
has experienced gradual recovery
and growth over the past 12 months,

particularly in the key urban cities
where the Group operates. However,
the operating environment remains
challenging with the overall reduction in
the macro economy, decreased foreign
investment, USD availability, inflationary
pressures, persistent electricity outages,
import restrictions, and regulatory
and policy changes. Despite these
challenges, the Board remained focused
on strengthening the Group's core
businesses and its financial position. In
addition to prioritising the health and
safety of our employees, the Board has
also spent time looking at how the Group
can continue to retain and develop local
talents, recognising their importance to
the future of the organisation.

Financial Management

The Group, under the guidance of the
Board, remains focused in maintaining
cost optimisation with reduced fixed
overheads. With improved fundamentals
in place, the Board expects opportunities
to arise in the coming years which the
Group will explore in a prudent manner.

Delegation by the Board

To assist the Board in carrying out its
responsibilities and to strengthen the
Company's  Corporate  Governance
Framework, without relinquishing its
duties, the Board had formed three (3)
committees, specifically, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee ("ARMC"),
the Nominating Committee (“NC”) and
the Remuneration Committee (“RC").
The ARMC, NC and RC are collectively,
referred to as the “Board Committees”,
which comprise Independent and Non-
Executive Directors only. Each Board
Committee is guided by its own terms
of reference to address its particular
scope of work. All terms of reference are
in the spirit of the CG Manual; approved
by the Board and reviewed periodically
to ensure their applicability in the ever-
changing regulatory and governance
environment.

Independent Judgment

All the Directors are guided to exercise
independent judgment under the
Companies Law, and to make decisions
objectively in the best interests of the
Company. No individual Director holds a
considerable concentration of power in
his/her professional capacity.
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Board's Strategic Review

The Board reviews and approves the
Company'’s strategic plans on a periodic
basis. The Company has always believed
that the real estate sector is one of
the cornerstones for the long-term
growth of the country. In 2022, the
Company entered the landed housing
market through the launch of City
Villa@ StarCity. City Villa aims to offer
affordable and quality housing units to
middle income families and real estate
investors. Subsequently, in early 2023,
the Company extended its City Loft
Project to the West of Yangon with the
launch of City Loft West, featuring 8
towers which collectively house 1,814
units, on a land bank of 10.4 acres that
lies parallel to Hlaing River. In late 2023,
the Company initiated its Estella Project
in Thanlyin Township on a 33.05-acre
land bank, potentially adding 753 units
to its portfolio. In 2024, ARA Project was
introduced, which consists of 864 units
to be developed on 13.76 acres. The
Company also strategically transformed
its hospital sector into digital services
through Heal App and expanded family
clinics across Yangon, leveraging its
experience from the pandemic. The
Company has extended its healthcare
services beyond Yangon, with the launch
of a new clinic in Pyapon, Ayeyarwady.

Meetings

The schedule of all Board and Board
Committees meetings and the Annual
General Meeting (“AGM") for the next
calendar year is planned in advance,
in consultation with the Board. Board
meetings are scheduled to be held at
least four times for each financial year,
with ARMC meetings scheduled to be
held four times for each financial year
or whenever the Board meetings are
convened, to facilitate the review of
announcements of the audited financial
statements and management discussion
& analysis, and the publishing of the
Company'’s annual reports and planning
for the AGM. Additional key matters
to be discussed at the Board meetings
and ARMC meetings include financial
performance, annual budget, corporate
strategies and risk management,
business plans, regulatory issues, and
significant operational matters. Other
Board Committees meetings, such as RC
meetings and NC meetings are scheduled
to be held once a year or whenever
necessary, to review and evaluate the
remuneration matrix and performance
of each Director and the Management.
Besides the scheduled Board meetings,
the Board also meets to approve other
material acquisitions and disposals
of assets, and major commitments
undertaken by the Company when the
need arises.

Directors' Attendance at Meetings during FY 2024

Total number of meetings held
Executive Directors

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun”

U Tun Tun

Non-Executive Directors
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet

U Kyi Aye

U Than Aung

U Linn Myaing

Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel de Ayala (or

Board ARMC
Meeting Meeting
4 6
4 N.A
4 N.A
4 4

4
4
3 N.A
4 N.A

his alternate, Mr. Alberto Macapinlac de Larrazabal)*

The Constitution authorises the Board
and Board Committees meetings to be
conducted by telephone, audiovisual
linkup or other instantaneous
communications medium. Directors who
are unable to attend meetings physically
would be engaged via audiovisual
linkup. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic
and the various travel restrictions
as implemented by the government
authorities, majority of the meetings
during the financial year ended 31
March 2024 (“FY 2024") were convened
via audiovisual linkup. To further
facilitate the efficient management of
the Company, the Constitution also
allows Board and Board Committees
resolutions to be passed without a
meeting being held if all of the Board and
Board Committee members entitled to
vote on the resolution sign a document
containing a statement that they are in
favour of the resolution set out in the
document.

A record of the Directors’ attendance at
Board and Board Committees meetings
during FY 2024 is displayed in the
following table:

NC RC 32nd
Meeting Meeting AGM
1 1 1
N.A N.A 1
N.A N.A 1
1 N.A 1
N.A 1 1
1 1 1
1 0 1
N.A N.A 1

* U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun and Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel de Ayala had ceased to be Directors on 5 September 2024. Mr. Alberto Macapinlac de

Larrazabal had ceased to be an Alternate Director to Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel de Ayala on 5 September 2024.



Board's Approval and Approval
Matrix

The Company has prescribed internal
guidelines for matters that require
Board's approval. For expenditures
of MMK 5 million and below, the
authorisation limits are granted to the
Management. The Board has adopted
a matrix in which Board's approval
is required for any matter that could
impose or cause a material impact on
the Company’s operations and financial
positions as well as matters other than in
the ordinary course of business.

Matters that specifically require Board's
approval include, but are not limited to
the following:

Group's strategic plans and business
focus;

Company'’s annually and half yearly
financial statements;

Acquisition, establishment,
investment, divestment, or disposal
of any subsidiary, business or asset of
the Group exceeding the authorised
limits of MMK 5 million;

Restructuring or reorganisation of
the Group's business, entry into,
amendment, or termination of any
joint venture or partnership requiring
a capital investment on the part of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries in
excess of 10% of the Company’s total
assets;

Company's annual budget;

Dividend policy and payout;
Appointment, resignation, and
remuneration of Directors;
Capital-related matters including
capital structure, equity and debt
instruments issuance and redemption
of the Company;

Taking up facilities, loans and
incurring debts and/or lines of credit
with banks and financial institutions
and creditors;

Reviewing and approving of RPTSs,
such as acquisition, disposal, the
entrance of a new and significant
contract with a related party;
Approving matters within the ordinary
course of business that exceed the

authorised limits.

Conflicts of Interest

Prior to the appointment of each
Director, every Director is required to
make a declaration to the Board on any
conflict of interest he/she may have
with regards to the business operations
conducted by the Company. Additionally,
where a Director is subsequently
conflicted or potentially conflicted or has
any interest in any transaction, he/she
will immediately declare his/her conflict
of interest during the Board meeting;
and where applicable under the
Companies Law, abstain himself/herself
from participating in the deliberations
and subsequently voting on such
transaction. This ensures that Board
decisions are made in the best interests
of the Company and all stakeholders.

Board Orientation

The Company conducts an induction
programme for newly appointed
Directors, assisting to familiarise the
Directors with the Company’s businesses,
Board processes, internal controls,
and governance practices. It includes
site visits, Management presentations
on the Group's businesses, strategic
plans and objectives, meetings with the
Management and briefings on key areas
of the Group’s operations.

Board Training and Development

In addition to the development training,
the Directors are encouraged to
regularly attend training, conferences,
and workshops to supplement and keep
themselves updated with current market/
industry information and to ensure
continuous professional development
at the Company's expense. Since the
Companies Law has come into effect in
late 2017, the Company has arranged
for Directors’ development programmes
periodically, such as CG Awareness and
Future Board Planning delivered by
Myanmar Institute of Directors in June
2019; and Directors' and Officers’ Duties
under the Companies Law delivered by
Baker McKenzie in September 2018.
Directors are given necessary resources
and are apprised on latest regulations by
the Management with the assistance of a
dedicated internal corporate secretarial
function to effectively discharge their
fiduciary duties in a timely manner.

Access to Information

The Management acknowledges
that it is pivotal to provide Directors
with complete, adequate, and timely
information prior to Board meetings
for the Board to carefully consider
the information, to make informed
decisions, and to discharge their duties
and responsibilities. In order for the
Directors to have adequate time to
prepare for meetings, the Board and
Board Committees papers are typically
circulated to Directors a week in advance
of the meetings. Investment proposals
made by the Management and the
respective working teams are presented
with  background and  essential
information for the Board to evaluate
and approve each investment. The
Company has also adopted practices,
such as allowing the Management to
provide informal updates to the Directors
on prospective deals and potential
developments at the infancy stage
before formal Board approval is sought.
Specific personnel or third parties with
expertise who are able to contribute to
the discussions or to give opinions may
also be invited to join the Board and
Board Committees meetings to provide
more information as and when needed.
The Management also regularly engages
the Board on business operations,
industry outlook, and market sentiment
to keep Directors abreast of the industry
trends and market position. Directors
are given full access to the Management,
the external auditor, and expert advice
as and when needed at the expense of
the Company.

Corporate Secretary Team

The Company also has a dedicated
internal corporate secretarial team
(the “CST") to promptly facilitate and
fulfill ongoing corporate secretarial
requests raised by the Directors. The
CST is responsible for, among other
things, maintaining and updating of all
statutory registers, making statutory
filings, and keeping corporate records
as prescribed under the Companies
Law, and to ensure that the Company
is compliant with relevant rules and
regulations prescribed by the SECM, the
Yangon Stock Exchange (“YSX"), and the
Directorate of Investment and Company
Administration (“DICA"). In addition to
assisting the Chairman of the Board, the
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Chairman of each Board Committee and the Management in the preparation and circulation of the agendas for the various Board
meetings, the CST also attends all Board meetings, prepares minutes of meetings, and assists to ensure effective coordination between
the Board, the Board Committees and the Management. The CST facilitates and administers annual performance evaluation of the
Board and management to assess the balance of skills and knowledge of the Board as a whole, as well as to identify the key areas
of concerns and improvements that require the Board's immediate attentions. The CST attends seminars and further professional

programmes related to the corporate secretarial field as and when needed.

SECTION 1.2 - BOARD
COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

Board Independence

With more than 60% of the Company's
Directors considered Non-Executive or
Independent, the Board is committed
to maintain an environment of
independence from day-to-day
operations. Additionally, the diverse set
of experiences and opinions brought in
by the Non-Executive Directors helps to
prevent the phenomenon of groupthink.
Additionally, the NC requires each
Director to declare his/her relationships
with the Company, the Management
and  substantial  shareholders in
writing and reviews these declarations

periodically to ensure that the Directors
are not conflicted. While determining
the independence of its Directors, the
Company ensures compliance with the
“Qualifications of Independent Directors”
set out in Notification No. 90/2020 issued
by the Ministry of Investmentand Foreign
Economic Relations. In accordance
with the definition of “Independent” in
the Company’s terms of reference for
Board of Directors, which is disclosed
in the CG Manual, inter alia, the Board
may consider a director independent if
he/she has not served for an aggregate
period of more than twelve (12) years on
the Board. In this regard, Prof. Dr. Aung
Tun Thet, who serves the Board for less
than twelve (12) years, qualified as an
Independent Non-Executive Director.

60%

20%

B Non-Independent
Non-Executive Directors

B Independent Director
Executive Directors

Size and Composition of the Board

The Board comprises five Directors, with one Independent Non-Executive Director, three Non-Executive Directors, and one Executive
Directors. The Independent Director and Non-Executive Directors bring strong backgrounds in entrepreneurship and finance which
allows for effective decision making. The Company benefits from a diverse range of objective perspectives with highly respected
members of the community as Board members. The Compositions of the Board and Board Committees as of 31 March 2024 are set
out below: -

Date of 1+ Last
Name . . Board ARMC RC NC
Appointment Re-Election
U TheimWai@ S
Pun1e|m al @ Serge (EQ) 12 Sep 2004 FY 2024 Chairman - - -
U Tun Tun (ED) 17 Nov 2009 FY 2024 Member - - -
U Than Aung? (NED) 31 Jul 1992 FY 2023 Member Member Member Member
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet (ID) (NED) 3 Dec 2013 FY 2023 Member Chairman - Chairman
U Kyi Aye? (NED) 5 Nov 2015 FY 2022 Member Member Chairman -
U Linn Myaing (NED) 2 Jul 2012 FY 2023 Member - Member Member
Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio
NED 27 Feb 2023 - Memb - - -

Eder Zobel de Ayala’ ( ) ¢ ember
Mr. Al M inlac d

r Alberto Macapinlacde 27 Feb 2023 NA. Alternate - - ;

Larrazabal

(EC) Executive Chairman Assessment of Independence of Individual Directors
(ID) Independent Director All references to the independence of each individual Director are based on the CG Manual.
(NID) Non-Independent Director

(ED) Executive Director

(NED) Non-Executive Director

(

AD) Alternate Director

1 U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun and Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel de Ayala had ceased to be Directors on 5 September 2024. Mr. Alberto Macapinlac de
Larrazabal had ceased to be an Alternate Director to Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel de Ayala on 5 September 2024.

2 U Than Aung and U Kyi Aye will retire and stand for re-election pursuant to Clause 16.14 of the Constitution at the 33"Y AGM to be held on 9 November 2024
(the “33 AGM"). The NC had considered his contribution and performance; and recommended to the Board to nominate his re-election at the 33 AGM.



Board Diversity

The Company is strongly committed to foster diversity and inclusion on its Board to cultivate a diverse approach in business decision
making, leveraging on the collective strength of its members who possess diverse abilities, knowledge, skills, and professional
experiences which could contribute to spurring innovative thinking and sustainable competitive advantages for the long-term growth
and success of the Company. The NC is tasked to assist the Board to review the structure, size, and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, industry and business experiences, gender, age, ethnicity, tenure of service, and culture) of the Board and make
recommendations with regards to any changes.

SECTION 1.3 - SEPARATION OF THE ROLE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS (CEOs)
Role of the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

The Group entities are empowered to run day-to-day operations independently by having dedicated the Management teams led by
designated CEOs who are responsible for each of its respective business units. Each designated CEO is accountable to run its business
unit in accordance with respective Board and Board Committee policies. The Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of FMI is
tasked to provide Group level support for infrastructure and executive decisions, work alongside and assist the respective CEOs of the
business units, monitor the overall operations and resources, serve as the main point of communication between the Board and these
CEOs, and establish company procedures after obtaining perspectives from the Board and shareholders. Effectively, the Company
does not implement the traditional role of a “single CEQ”, and the said role is spread over a number of top executives and CEOs of the
business units in the governance model of the Company.

Management Structure for Business Units

. ) Board of Directors Board of Directors Board of Directors Board of Directors
FMI's Board of Directors Yoma Bank Pun Hlaing Hospitals Yoma Land Memories Group

2
chief Executive Officer & Executive Director 2 § Chief Executive Officer Chief Executive Officer Head of Yoma Land Chief Executive Officer
(U Tun Tun) ?g S (U Kyaw Soe Lin) (Dr. Gershu Chandy Paul) (Mr. Cyrus Pun) (Mr. Cyrus Pun)
=]
wv
L A D Group Level Functions Yoma Bank Pun Hlaing Hospitals Yoma Land Memories Group

(Daw Khin Yemon Win)
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SECTION 1.4 - BOARD
MEMBERSHIP

NC Composition and Role

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet

Chairman

U Than Aung

Member

U Linn Myaing

Member

The NC comprises Non-Executive

Directors only and is chaired by Prof. Dr.
Aung Tun Thet, an Independent Non-
Executive Director. It is regulated by a
set of terms of reference supported by
the Board, with duties and authority
delegated by the Board. The NC works
with the Board to determine the
appropriate qualifications, skills, and
experience for the Board as a whole
and its individual members with the
objective to create a diverse Board
of individuals from financial sector,
business, government relations, and
academic. Any appointment or removal
of a Director is subject to approval from
the entire Board to develop and maintain
a formal and transparent process.

The NC is tasked to regularly review
the structure, size and composition
(including  the  skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity) of the Board
and make recommendations to the
Board with regards to any changes; and
to ensure all Directors submit themselves
for re-nomination and re-appointment
atregular intervals. The NC further keeps
under review the leadership needs of
the Company including the succession
planning for both the Management and
the Directors, with a view to ensuring
the continued ability of the Company to
compete effectively in the marketplace.
Please refer to the CG Manual for the
detailed duties of the NC.

Re-nomination of Directors
The NC reviews annually the
performance of each Director. When
considering the nomination of Directors
for re-election and re-appointment,
the NC considers their contribution
to the effective running of the Board,
preparedness, participation, time
commitments, whether proper attention

has been given by the Directors to the
affairs of the Company, and Directors’
other Board memberships at other
organisations. In addition to that, the
NC also determines whether he/she is
independent in character and judgment,
and whether there are relationships or
circumstances which are likely to affect
the Director's judgement. The NC also
monitors that all the re-nomination
and reappointment of the Directors are
submitted at regular intervals. Directors
are subject to re-election at least once
every three (3) years in accordance with
the Constitution that at least one-third
of the Directors, for the time being, shall
retire as Directors at each AGM of the
Company. Shareholders are provided
with relevant information on the
candidates that are subject to election or
re-election in the AGM’'s Notice. During
the 324 AGM, U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
and U Tun Tun retired and sought re-
election pursuant to Clause 16.14 of the
Constitution of the Company.

Process and Criteria for the
Appointment of New Directors

The Company adopts a holistic approach
in the selection of new Directors. The
NC is tasked to identify candidates
and to review all nominations for the
appointment, reappointment  and
termination of Directors and Board
members, taking into
consideration of the Directors’ character
and competence including integrity,
reputation, capability, independence
status, contributions during and outside
Board Meetings, as well as other criteria
prescribed under the CG Manual and
additional relevant factors as may be
defined by the NC. When there is a need
to appoint a new Director, the NC utilises
open advertisement or the services from
external networks to select prospective
candidates. During the selection process,
the NC will: -

Committee

* review the existing composition
and range of knowledge, expertise
and skills in the Board and Board
Committees;

identify the Company's needs and
review the profiles of shortlisted
candidates for nomination before
sourcing for interview process;

after the NC Chairman and other NC
members interview the candidates,
consider the candidates for

appointment with an emphasis on
the following to maintain the Diversity
pledge of the Board: -

a. A determination of the candidate’s

independence;

b. The candidate’s gender, age,
cultural background, skills
composition, industry and

business experiences to complete
the Board's pledge to maintain a
diversified Board; and

c. The candidate’s character and
reputation in the industry.

Directors’' Time Commitment

Despite the fact that some of the
Directors have multiple board
representations, the Board and NC
examine carefully that these Directors
have demonstrated their commitment
and effectiveness fully in carrying out
their duties and responsibilities as
the fiduciaries in the best interests of
the Company and avoiding potential
conflicts of interest from representing
on other Boards. The NC has adopted
a guide that the maximum number
of listed company representations
each Director may hold is five (5). In
determining whether each Director is
able to dedicate sufficient time to carry
out his/her duty, the contributions by
Directors to and during meetings are
also taken into consideration. Based on
the Directors’ attendance at meetings
held during FY 2024, the NC believes
that each Director has dedicated
sufficient time and attention to the
Company's affairs; and has performed
his/her duties effectively, and the Board
held the view that all Directors had
sufficiently discharged his/her duties,
notwithstanding some Directors who
held multiple representations on other
listed companies.

Succession planning for Directors
and Key Management Personnel

As the first company in Myanmar to
be listed on the YSX, the Company
recognises the
succession planning process to remain
prepared for the future. The Company
strongly  believes that
planning serves as a tool in retaining

importance of a

succession

talent, and the Management conducts
regular reviews with all employees of the
Company (“Employees”) to identify and
nurture talent.



The Company recognises that succession planning is not a “one-size fit" and builds its succession planning based on the Group's
business direction. As such, the Group'’s succession planning considers all ranks of the organisation and Employees at every level and
not just its Board and Management. The Company considers key positions in the company to be equally critical as finding the “correct

players”.

BOARD RENEWAL &

SUCCESSION PLANNING

Compliance with guidelines on renewal and tenure

Changes in competency requirements in
light of changes in business

Changes in independence, competencies,
commitment and effectiveness of directors

Need for fresh perspectives

Extracted from Nominating Committee Guide 2012 issued by KPMG.

The diagram above provides an overview
of the factors which are driving the
need for board renewal and succession
planning. As the business environment
and business  strategies change,
companies need directors who have the
right competencies to contribute to the
Company and the Board. Amongst key
considerations the Company takes into
are to: -

a. ldentify required talent needs based
on strategic business plans;

b. Determine required capabilities of
critical positions;

c. Match  competencies
the critical positions and identify
employees to plug the gap;

d. Create high level development plan
to grow selected employees; and

e. Assess and monitor performance.

between

With regard to succession planning of the
Board, thereis a process of refreshing the
Board progressively over time so that the
experience of longer serving directors
can be drawn upon while tapping into
the new external perspectives and
insights of new appointees as part of
the on-going Board review powers. With
regard to the succession planning of the
role of the Company’s CEO, FMI does

not have the position of a Group CEO
which concentrates the executive role to
one (1) person. Instead, the Board has a
general oversight over the CEOs at each
business pillar and reviews the Group's
initiative on strategic development and
direction on new investment. In addition
to quarterly reviews on Employees to
re-align goals, these reviews present an
opportunity for the Company to engage
Employees to establish their work
patterns and career goals in order to
develop the Employees’ potential.

Succession planning for Directors
and Management is an important
part of the governance process of the
Board. Along with the Board, the NC
plans the succession by short listing
a supply of highly capable candidates
within and outside the Group ready to
assume the positions whether through
an unexpected event or a planned
transition. The Group believes that
succession planning is vital to ensure
continuity and leadership to help achieve
its strategic objectives. The Group has
been operating in Myanmar for over
three decades and has been successfully
and gradually migrated from the first-
generation leadership to the currently
second-generation leadership over the

past 10 years. In planning for succession,
talent is constantly identified internally
and externally to build strength and
to serve as a pipeline for leadership
succession planning. The Group has
internally implemented a five year “work
yourself out of a job” initiative which is
a process that current leaders pursue
higher and bigger scope of business
while continuously giving rooms for
young leaders to take up higher level
of management roles. The Group
also believes that its success today is
driven by the depth and breathe of its
leadership.

Since the financial year ended 31 March
2022, the Yoma group has launched the
Yoma Emerging Leaders League (the
“YELL"), a leadership team consisting of
40 emerging leaders whom all already
are in senior positions, with the aim to
propel the growth of the Yoma group
over the next phase. During this period,
it meets monthly with the Executive
Chairman, a team of experienced
executives, and guest speakers to
network and brainstorm opportunities
for cross collaboration between business
units, and to leverage the full potential of
the Yoma Group.
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SECTION 1.5 - BOARD
PERFORMANCE

Board Evaluation Process & Criteria

The NC reserves its right to review the
Board's evaluation goals and update
these goals if required, to ascertain the
appropriateness in accordance with the
needs of the Company.

Amongst the evaluation parameters of
the Board reviews include: -

* Composition of the Board (consisting
of a mix of competencies, varying
experience, financial industry
experience, risk management and
remuneration expertise, qualification,
diversity and transparency in the
process of director search and
appointment);

* Time commitment of the Board (assess
the time commitment of directors
who have multiple directorships and
principal commitment to ensure each
director devotes sufficient times to
discharge his responsibilities);

Structure of Board meetings (meetings

held quarterly, number of meetings

sufficient to meet commercial needs,
the logistics and agenda, quality of the

Board package, sufficient time allotted

for each discussion, adequate inputs

received from all Board members,
the environment of the meeting to
encourage free flowing discussions

and debates without fear or favour,
dissenting suggestions are welcomed
and the Board minutes are recorded
properly and approved);

¢ Governance of the Board (that the
Board allocates adequate time to
analyse and examine governance
and compliance matters, including
appropriate adjustments, ensuring the
integrity of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting and systems,
timely disclosures, reviewing of high
risks issues and risk assessment);

Stakeholder value (Board decision-
making is adequate to assess creation
of stakeholder value, existence of
mechanisms to communicate and
engage with various stakeholders,
Board acting on a fully informed basis,
in good faith with due diligence and
care, shareholders and stakeholders
are treated fairly;

Board engagement with Management
(Management is evaluated and
monitored by the Board, review of
remuneration of Management, and
the Board and the Management
have active access to each other and
exchange of information);
* Board training (adequate orientation
and professional development training
is observed, continuing directors
training, Board setting up a corporate
culture and value, independent and
non-executive directors);

Evaluation on Board and Board
Committees (recommend the
process and criteria for assessing the
effectiveness of the Board and Board
Committees, and the contribution
of each individual director to the
effectiveness of the Board).

The Chairman of the NC and the ARMC,
who is the sole Independent Director of
the Company, will additionally provide his
review annually on: (i) the performance
of the Board as a whole; and (ii) assess
the quality, quantity and timelines of
information flow and dissemination
between the Management and Board,
that enables the Board to perform its
duties effectively and reasonably. The
NC is entitled to ask for any information
necessary for it to discharge its
responsibilities. This can include, for
instance, comprehensive information
on the background of Directors and
checklists completed by Directors
declaring their independence.

SECTION 2 - REMUNERATION
MATTERS

RC Composition and Role

U Kyi Aye
Chairman

U Than Aung
Member

U Linn Myaing
Member

The RC is appointed by the Board
from amongst the members of the
Board. It comprises Non-Executive
Directors only. The RC considers and
makes recommendations to the Board
concerning the Company’s remuneration
policy, level and mix of remuneration
and procedure for setting remuneration.
The RC ensures that remuneration
arrangements support the
strategic goals of the Company and
enable the recruitment, retention and
motivation of Directors and senior
management personnel while also
complying with the requirements of
rules and regulation. Please refer to the
CG Manual for the detailed duties of the
RC.

overall

Remuneration Policy
1. Procedures on Setting Remuneration

TheRCconsiders,develops,andmaintains
a formal and transparent procedure
for setting Directors’ remuneration.
In setting the remuneration, the RC
ensures that the level and structure of
remuneration offered is appropriate
to the responsibilities undertaken
and the level of contribution to the
Company, while also taking into
consideration pay and employment
conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and aligning
the level and mix of remuneration
with those of corporate and individual
performances. Please refer to the Terms
of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee for the detailed duties of the
RC. Upon deliberation, the RC forms its
recommendations and submits them for
endorsement by the Board.



The RC seeks expert advice and views on the remuneration of directors and executive officers (i.e., persons having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the Company), where appropriate. The RC also refers to industry
practices and norms while setting framework for remuneration whether it is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors to
provide good stewardship of the Company and executive officers to successfully manage the Company for the long-term. No director
is allowed to be involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

M3|AIBAQ 33DJ0dI09]

The RC has the option not to grant incentives or to redeem incentive components of remuneration in any year if an executive director
or an executive officer is involved in circumstances of misstatement of financial results, or misconduct or fraud other than in the
ordinary course of business resulting in financial loss to the Company. The executive directors and executive officers of the Company
are remunerated on an earned basis and no termination and retirement benefits will be granted to them post-employment.

2. Level & Mix of Remuneration

The RC is tasked to review and recommend to the Board a general framework of remuneration (including but are not limited to
directors’ fees, base/fixed salaries, variable or performance-related income, allowances, bonuses, stock options granted, share-based
incentives and awards, and benefits in kind) for the Board and executive officers.

diysiapoaT ing

The remuneration packages for the executive officers comprise a fixed component (in the form of a base salary and where applicable,
fixed allowances determined by the wider Yoma Group’s Human Resource policies) and variable components (made up of short-term
incentives in the form year-end bonuses and/or long-term incentives in the form of share scheme allowances) and other benefits-in-
kind.

3. Disclosure on Remuneration

M3INY 3IUDWI0)iad

This Remuneration Policy will be disclosed on the Company’s website as well as in its annual/directors’ report. The total remuneration
of employees who are family members of an executive officer (but not themselves an executive officer and whose remuneration level
is equivalent to or more than that of an executive officer) are also disclosed.

Breakdown on Key Executives’' Remuneration for FY 2024

Remuneration Band &
Name of Key Management
Personnel of the Group

Base/ Fixed
Salary (%)

Paid
MMK 100 million - MMK 200 million
U Theim Wai @Serge Pun 0% 0%
U Tun Tun 99.80% 0.20%
Daw Khin Yemon Win 57.90% 19.30%

Variable Component

or Bonuses (%)

o

S

[ep]

m

2

Benefits-In-Kind, g

Allowance & Other é

Incentives (%) 2

m

Deferred

0% 100% 100%
0.00% 0.00% 100%
0.00% 22.80% 100%

Breakdown on Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration for FY 2024

Basic Retainer Fee

110d3y |D1pUDUIS

Fee (MMK) Other benefits

Non-Executive Director 10,000,000 Nil
Fee for Appointment to ARMC

Committee Chairman 2,000,000 Nil
Committee Member 1,000,000 Nil
Fee for Appointment to NC and RC

Committee Chairman 1,500,000 Nil

Committee Member

1,000,000 Nil
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SECTION 3 - ACCOUNTABILITY
AND AUDIT

ARMC COMPOSITION AND ROLE

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
Chairman

U Kyi Aye
Member

U Than Aung
Member

The ARMC is appointed by the Board
from amongst the members of
the Board. It is chaired by the sole
Independent Director and comprises
Non-Executive Directors only. The ARMC
plays a key role in assisting the Board
in areas such as independent advice,
assurance, and assistance to the Board
on the Company's risk, compliance,
control, governance framework, and its
external accountability responsibilities
including in relation to financial
statements. The ARMC reviews the half-
yearly and annual financial statements
of the Company before submission
to the Board for approval, focusing in
particular, on changes in accounting
policies and practices, major risk areas,
significant adjustments resulting from
the audit, compliance with accounting
standards as well as compliance with any
stock exchange and statutory/regulatory
requirements.

The ARMC directs and works with the
Management to develop and review
policies and processes to address and
manage identified areas of risk in a
systematic and structured manner
in achieving the Board's strategic
objectives. The ARMC also oversees and
advises the Board on the current risk
exposures and future risk strategy of
the Company. Under the Constitution,
the ARMC generally undertakes such
other functions and duties as may be
required by statute or the relevant
securities rules, and the Board by such
amendments made thereto from time
to time and require the attention of the
ARMC. Please refer to the CG Manual for
the detailed duties of the ARMC.

ACCOUNTABILITY OF BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is ultimately accountable
to shareholders regarding  the
management of the Company’s affairs.
The Management recognises the
importance of providing the Board
with timely and accurate information
and keeps the Board informed of
any material developments. This
ensures that the Board has the proper
information to make informed decisions
on the Company’s behalf. The Board
reviews and approves the Company's
annual financial statements before
they are released and aims to provide
shareholders with a balanced and clear
assessment of the Company’s financial
position.

The Board reviews all decisions that
may have a material impact on the
Company's financial position or earnings.
In addition, the Board recommends the
declaration of dividends for approval
by shareholders, and approves the
publishing of the financial statements,
the acquisition or disposal of key assets
and the nomination of Directors. The
Board’'s advice is sought on all key
financial decisions, strategies, and
projects with special attention given to
the Board'’s opinion on the impact of the
Management's decisions on the local
community.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Risk-based internal audit is one of
the main functions carried out by the
Group's Risk Management to help the
businesses accomplish its objectives
by bringing a systematic, disciplined
approach to evaluate and improve
the effectiveness of risk management,
control, and governance processes
through the Enterprise Risk Management
Framework, outlined as follows:

a. ldentifying potential risks inherent
within the Group and external risks
which the Group faces in the pursuit
of its corporate objectives;

b. Assessing and rating all the identified
risks in @ meaningful way in order for
the Group to determine the extent of
risks that it faces;

c. Treating all identified risks, as far
as possible, through established
controls or pending control plans;

d. Monitoring and updating any

changes to the severity of the
identified risks and any new risks
that have emerged, and;

e. Reporting key risks and the
established controls (or pending
controls plans) to the ARMC and the
Board regularly.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Company has engaged Excellent
Choice Professional Limited ((associated
with CLA Global TS Public Accounting
Corporation,  Singapore)  (“Excellent
Choice”) as its Independent Auditor
to audit the accounts of the Company
and all its subsidiaries for FY 2024. The
report of the Independent Auditor is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report section of FY 2024 Annual
Report. The Company adheres to
Section 290: Independence - Audit and
Review Engagements by International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
(“IESBA") that an Independent Auditor
shall refrain from providing non-audit
advisory works to the same client and its
related parties.

RELEASE OF ANNUAL REPORTS

The Company strictly complies with
the Securities and Exchange Rules that
the Audited Financial Statements and
the Annual Reports are released within
ninety (90) days from the financial year
end with Statement of the Directors that
the consolidated financial statements
of the Company give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the
Company. Financial statements, the
Company’s  Annual Reports, and
other price-sensitive information are
disseminated to shareholders through
announcements on the YSX's website,
the Company's website, press release,
and media briefings.

WHISTLE BLOWING POLICY

The Group is committed to achieving
the highest standards of integrity
and accountability within its internal
structure. With this in mind, the Company
has developed these procedures for
reporting improprieties (the “Policy”)
where Employees with serious concerns
about the Company's activities and
operations may come forward and voice
these concerns with the assurance that
swift action will be taken if necessary.



This Policy is a direct and unambiguous
statementofthe Company’s commitment
that any impropriety by the Company
or any of its Employees, Directors, or
Officers, once identified and reported,
will be dealt with in an expeditious
manner and thoroughly investigated
and subsequently remedied. In fact, this
Policy intends to empower Employees to
raise potentially serious concerns within
the Company rather than letting them
escalate or possibly seeking alternative
externally. The Company will also use
its best endeavours to explore and
implement policies to ensure that such
impropriety can be prevented in the
future. In the event that the whistle-
blowing reports involve any Director,
member of the senior management or
the Non-Executive Director, the reports
shall be escalated to the Chairman of
Board, for his attention and further
action as necessary.

The reporting mechanism invites
and encourages Employees to act
responsibly and impartially to uphold the
reputation of the Company and maintain
public confidence in it. Nurturing and
developing a culture of openness and
transparency within the organisation will
further aid and expedite this process.
Further background to this Policy and
reporting mechanisms are explained on
the Company’s website.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
PoOLICY

This Related Party Transactions Policy
(the “RPT Policy”) aims to define RPTs
and Material RPTs, and set out guidelines
and categories that will monitor the
review, approval, and ratification of
these transactions by the Board and
shareholders of the Company to ensure
that all RPTs and Material RPTs have been
identified and disclosed in the manner in
accordance with the requirements of the
Instruction 3/2020 prescribed by SECM
and International Accounting Standard
24 on Related Party Disclosures.

This RPT Policy applies to all RPTs and
Material RPTs entered into between
the Group and other related parties
(“RPs"), to ensure that any transaction
with a RP will be at arm’s length and
on normal commercial terms that are
not prejudicial to the Company and its
minority shareholders.

The principal objectives of this Policy are
to: -

1. identify RPTs and
conflicts of interest;

2. set out the materiality thresholds
for Material RPTs;

3. approval of transactions below the
materiality thresholds; and

4.  ensure proper approval,
disclosure, and reporting of
such transactions as applicable
under the Instruction 3/2020 and
Companies Law, between the
Company and any of its RP in the
best interest of the Company and
its stakeholders.

potential

Please refer to the RPT Policy in the CG
Manual for details.

SECTION 4 - SHAREHOLDER
RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

SECTION 4.1 - STAKEHOLDER
RIGHTS AND CONDUCT OF
GENERAL MEETINGS

Shareholder Rights

The Company is committed to deliver
high standards of corporate disclosure
through a transparent and non-
discriminatory approach towards its
communications  with  shareholders,
the investment community, and the
media. The Company has in place a
communication system that discloses
timely and complete financial data,
and price-sensitive information to
shareholders. Half-yearly releases of
financial results and all other information
including Management discussion and
analysis are promptly announced on the
websites of the YSX and the Company
at https://fmi.com.mm/investors/
announcements/ as soon as there are
any changes. Press releases and analyst
briefings are conducted whenever
there is significant development, with
the presence of key executives. The
Company's latest financial results, annual
reports, and presentation materials for
briefings are available on the websites
for chronological review. There is also a
specific webpage dedicated for investor
relations with the Company's share and
financialinformation, which are disclosed
on a timely manner. The contact details
of the Company’s Investor Relations and
general queries is as follows: -

Corporate Office
info-fmi@yoma.com.mm

+95 1 3687766
https://fmi.com.mm/

The Campus, 1 Office Park,

Rain Tree Drive, Pun Hlaing Estate,
Hlaing Thayar Township,

Yangon 11401, Myanmar

Conduct of General Meetings
The  Company endorses  active
shareholder participation at its general
meetings. Notices of AGMs and related
information are delivered at least
twenty-eight (28) days in advance.
Detailed information of each item to be
processed during the AGMs is supported
with explanatory notes and guided
instruction via both Burmese and English
languages. Notices of AGMs are also
advertised in the local daily newspaper,
where notice handbooks and Annual
Reports are dispatched to shareholders
by mail. The general meetings of the
Company are held annually at a central
location that is convenient for public
transportation. Shareholders who are
unable to attend the AGMs in person
are briefed to appoint a proxy to attend
and vote on their behalf. Proxy Forms
are required to be sent to the registered
address of the Company not less than
forty-eight (48) hours before the time of
the commencements of the AGMs. On a
show of hands, every Member present
has one vote; and on a poll, every
Member present has one vote for each
fully paid Share held by that Member.
Voting in absentia by mail, facsimile or
email is generally not allowed to properly
authenticate shareholders' identity and
their voting intention. Each resolution
passed during the AGMs deals with
only one single issue, where results of
each AGMs are published on the YSX's
and the Company’s websites as soon
as the event is adjourned. Shareholders
are given the right to participate in
decision making in affairs, including
but are not limited to share allotment,
share issuance, and amendment
to the Company's Constitution. The
proceeding of each AGMs includes the
business presentation delivered by the
Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director to update shareholders on the
Company's overall performance over
the past year. Shareholders are also
invited to express their opinions and
ask questions regarding the Company
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https://fmi.com.mm/investors/announcements/
https://fmi.com.mm/investors/announcements/
mailto:info-fmi%40yoma.com.mm?subject=
tel: +95 1 3687766
https://fmi.com.mm/
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and the Group. The Directors and key
executives in attendance address their
concerns and queries responsively.

32" Annual General Meeting

In view of the ongoing COVID-19
transmission  risks and  political
situations, the 32" AGM of the Company
was held virtually and streamed live via
http://agm.fmi.com.mm from the head
office of the Company on 11 August
2023. Shareholders were guided to
register their attendance and vote
on the resolutions proposed for the
32" AGM by poll remotely, using the
remote participation and voting facilities
provided by the Company. Additionally,
in the Company’s efforts to enhance its
corporate governance, an external law
firm, Laura & Associates, was appointed
as the scrutiniser to count and validate
the votes casted at the said AGM. Voting
and vote tabulations (including votes
cast for or against each resolution
and the respective percentages) were
announced on the websites of the YSX
and the Company.

Dividend Policy

The Company has implemented a
policy (“Dividend Policy”) which aims to
provide a return to shareholders once a
year through the payment of dividends
after taking into consideration the
Company's financial performance, short
and long-term capital requirements,
future investment plans, and general
business and economic conditions. The
determination of dividend payment is at
the sole discretion of the Board, which
endeavors to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and
prudent capital management. The Board
will review the Dividend Policy from
time to time and reserves the right to
modify, amend, and update the Dividend
Policy. In paying out the dividends, all
shareholders should be treated equally
and decisions on the declaration and
disbursement of dividends shall be
made by shareholders at the AGM
upon recommendation of the Board.
The Board has reviewed the Company'’s
strategic needs and plans for expansion;
and recommended no dividend shall
be declared for FY 2024. Please refer
to the CG Manual for the details of the
Dividend Policy.

SECTION 4.2 - STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

Corporate Values and Conduct of
Business

The Company has employed a code
of conduct (“COC") for the Group that
applies to all members of the Board,
Management, and Employees. The
COC sets the minimum standard that
all levels of Employees are expected to
mirror and comply with the spirit and
principles of the COC, regardless of the
jurisdiction or legal entity through which
the Group operates. It also sets out the
principles for employees in carrying
out their duties and responsibilities to
the highest standards of personal and
corporate integrity when dealing with
the Company’s stakeholders. Measures
are taken to ensure full compliance
with the COC, and breaches of this
COC will result in disciplinary action. In
observance of the Board's commitment
to maintain high moral standards which
are central to the Company’s corporate
identity and sustainable growth, the
Company has also adopted the following
corporate policies: -

Anti-Bribery Policy

* Anti-Corruption Procedure

* Code of Conduct

Conflict of Interest Policy

Corporate Social Responsibility

Approach

Diversity Policy

* Employment Policy

* Environment, Health, and Safety
Policy

* Human Rights Policy

* Land Acquisition Policy

* Practice on Reward for the

Performance of the Company beyond

Short-Term Financial Measures

Professional Development Policy

Related Party Transaction Policy

Stakeholder Engagement

Whistle Blowing Policy

These policies are accessible on the
Company’'s website at https://fmi.com.
mm/governance/corporate-policies/.
The Company prescribes relevant
measures and procedures to mitigate
the prospect of committing misconducts
in the workplace; and require the
acknowledgement and cooperation of
the Company'’s personnel from all levels
including external parties representing

the Group such as agents and
intermediaries, consultants, business
partners, and suppliers.

Managing Stakeholder Relationships

Along with other capital market players,
the Company strives to enhance the
investment atmosphere by engaging its
shareholders, investors, and analysts
through participating in investor expos,
conferences and workshops locally
and abroad, as well as continuously
interacting  with its investment
community on social media platforms
to communicate its value proposition
and to seek investors’ feedback for
improvements. The Company values its
stakeholders and has pledged its support
for the Ten Principles of the United
Nations Global Compact. As exhibited in
its Corporate Social Responsibility Policy,
the Company along with the Group,
take part in various community projects
aiming to create value in the community
it operates in.

As a pioneer and founding member of the
Business Coalition for Gender Equality,
the Company has been at the forefront
of driving positive social change. The
Company actively engages in various
social impact activities, workshops, and
conferences over the year to promote
gender equality and empower women in
Myanmar.

In addition to its involvement in gender
equality initiatives, the Company takes
proactive steps to engage stakeholders,
particularly in its real estate projects.
Recognising theimportance of inclusivity,
the Company organises stakeholder
visits to ensure that the interests and
needs of the community are taken
into account. These visits provide an
opportunity for stakeholders to witness
firsthand the development projects,
raise questions, share their feedback
and fostering a sense of engagement
and collaboration.

Employee Participation

The Company has policies and programs
in place to strengthen its employee
participation and engagement in the
workplace. Please refer to the Company’s
website on sustainability initiatives for
more information on these engagement
programs.


http://agm.fmi.com.mm
https://fmi.com.mm/governance/corporate-policies/
https://fmi.com.mm/governance/corporate-policies/

Shares Dealing

In accordance with the Section 55
(a) of the Securities Exchange Law of
Myanmar,® “any person shall not carry
out any securities business without
license.” Since the listing of the Company
on the YSX in 2016, the Company has
been actively engaging and encouraging
its shareholders, who for various
reasons, have not managed to transfer
their shares smoothly from Special
Accounts to Securities Accounts to utilise
the electronic trading platform in an
attempt to fully implement book-entry
transfer system across the Myanmar
stock market so as to keep abreast with
the international standard. Annually,
the Company is also submitting a list
of insiders who has access to price-
sensitive and confidential information to
the YSX to avoid the possible breaches of
insider trading. Internally, the Company
has adopted a code of principles on
securities dealings that the Company's
Directors, Employees and their family
members are required to observe and
adhere to for the time being that they are
serving the Company, which are: (a) to
observe and comply with insider trading
guidelines prescribed by the SECM* and
to follow Securities Companies’ insiders
examining procedures at all times when
dealing Company's shares; (b) to abstain
from shares dealing while in possession
of undisclosed material facts of the
Company; and (c) to avoid selling their
shares owned in the Company for the
time being that they are serving the
Company. All Directors and Employees
are also required to report their dealings
in the Company's shares within three (3)
business days.

Directors' Interest in Shares or
Debentures

The directors holding office as of FY 2024
had no interests in the share capital of
the Company as recorded in the register
of directors’ shareholdings kept by the
Company, please refer to page no. 85 for
detail information. -

List of Substantial Shareholders

Please refer to the table on page no. 153
for the ten largest shareholders of the
Company as of 12 June 2024.

Substantial Shareholder above 5%

Please refer to the table on page no.
153 for the Register of Substantial
Shareholders having an interest in 5%
and above of the issued and paid up
voting share capital of Company.

3 https://ysx-mm.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/_en_ 072013 01.pdf

Prohibition of Insider Trading

In compliance with the Securities and
Exchange Law and the Securities and
Exchange Rule issued by the Ministry
of Finance, and the regulations issued
by the SECM (including the Instruction
4/2016 on Preventing Insider Trading
dated 25 March 2016 and Supervisory
Guideline - Prevention of Insider Trading
dated 22 January 2020), the Company
strictly prohibits insiders such as
members of the Board and employees
in special positions with undisclosed
material information related to business
or financial situation of the Company
from buying or selling securities for
its own account or for other persons,
disclosing or  providing  material
information and giving advice to other
persons to buy or sell securities based
on unpublished material information.

The Board ensures from time to time that
internal rules in place are reviewed and
developed to prevent insider trading,
and employees get the necessary
training to protect insider information
from accidental disclosures to the public.

4 https://ysx-mm.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Supervisory-Guideline-Prevention-Insider-Trading 1_2020 Eng.pdf
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Risk Management and
Internal Controls

In the intricate tapestry of our multifaceted business endeavors, the ability to navigate risks with precision and foresight is paramount.
The Group has meticulously crafted a robust Risk Management Framework tailored to systematically identify, evaluate, and address
the diverse and intricate risks inherent in our operations.

M3|AIBAQ 33DJ0dI09]

Within the Group, the cornerstone of our risk management approach lies in our Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework,
operating under a robust risk governance structure based on the “Three Lines of Defense” model. This model provides a structured
foundation, ensuring that significant risk matters are meticulously reported and deliberated upon by the ARMC and ultimately the
Board.

diysiapoaT ing

GROUP'S ERM FRAMEWORK FUNCTIONS THROUGH A THREE LINE OF DEFENSE APPROACH

g
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PRIMARY BOARD OVERSIGHT -
3
The Board is responsible for the oversight of ARMC, Risk management systems and internal A
GOVERNANCE - E
=
=
e
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INTERNAL / EXTERNAL AUDIT CONTROLS

The internal and external audit functions assess the effectiveness of risk management, internal
controls, and compliance frameworks as an independent assurance mechanism. They report
findings and whistleblowing outcomes directly to the ARMC and the Board, offering crucial
assurance that strengthens our governance and oversight.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW

SECOND The Group's Risk Management & Assurance Department (RMAD) ensures thorough oversight of risk
LINE management and compliance, fostering a culture of accountability and ownership. They develop risk

strategies, conduct self-assessments, and ensure regulatory compliance. Additionally, they perform

risk-based audits, investigate whistleblowing incidents, and report directly to the ARMC.

NN

REAL-TIME MONITORING AND REPORTING

Operating Segments are responsible for setting up the policy management, identifying respective
business and industry related risks, build a robust internal control environment, and construct a
strong financial and operational governance within their own segments.
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RISK CULTURE

Within the Group, cultivating a robust
risk management culture is not just a
priority but a fundamental commitment.
We place a strong emphasis on fostering
awareness and proactive behaviour
throughout the organization, recognising
that a resilient risk culture is essential
for sustained success. The Group's
commitment to fostering a strong risk
management  culture  underscores
our dedication to sustainable growth
and stakeholder value. By promoting
awareness, embracing  continuous
improvement, and embedding risk
considerations into our decision-
making, we reinforce our resilience and
readiness to navigate the complexities of
the business landscape with confidence.

MATERIALITY ANALYSIS PROCESS
AND METHODOLOGY

At the Group, the materiality analysis
process is a systematic approach used
to identify and prioritise the issues that
are most significant to the business and
its stakeholders. This process involves
several key steps to ensure that the most
relevant issues are included in the risk
categories. By systematically identifying,
prioritising, and addressing the most
significant issues, companies can ensure
their reporting meets the needs of
stakeholders and aligns with strategic
objectives.

FMI's methodology for conducting a
materiality analysis involves several
systematic steps designed to identify
and prioritise the issues that are most
significant to the business and its
stakeholders. This methodology ensures
thatthe processisthorough, transparent,
and aligned with best practices. The
outlines of a robust materiality analysis
methodology are:

1. Define Objectives and Scope

Set Clear Objectives: Determine the
goals of the materiality analysis, such as
enhancing transparency, aligning with
stakeholder interests, or complying with
regulatory requirements.

Define Scope: Establish the scope of
the analysis, including geographical,
operational, and temporal boundaries.

2. Identify Stakeholders
Stakeholder Mapping: Identify key
stakeholders who are impacted by
or have an interest in the company’s
activities, including investors, employees,
customers, suppliers, regulators, and
community groups.

Engagement Plan: Develop a plan for
engaging with stakeholders, specifying
the methods and frequency of
engagement.

3. Gather Information and Engage
Stakeholders
Internal Sources: Review internal
documents such as strategic plans, risk
assessments, sustainability reports, and
previous materiality analyses.

External Sources: Analyse industry
competitor disclosures,
regulatory guidelines, and media
coverage to identify relevant issues.

reports,

Stakeholder Engagement: Collect data
on stakeholder concerns and priorities
through surveys, interviews, focus

groups, and public consultations.

4, |dentify Potential Material Issues
Issue Identification: Compile a
comprehensive list of potential material
issues based on the information
gathered from internal and external

sources and stakeholder engagement.

Categorisation: Categorise the issues
into relevant themes such as economic,
environmental, social, and governance
(ESG) aspects.

5. Validate Findings

Stakeholder Validation: Share the
draft findings with key stakeholders
for validation and gather feedback to
ensure their perspectives are accurately
reflected.

Internal Review: Conduct an internal
review with senior management and
relevant departments to validate the
prioritisation and ensure alignment with
the Company's strategic goals.

6. Integrate into Reporting

Report Development: Integrate the
findings of the materiality analysis
into the annual report, discussing the
identified material issues, their impact,
and the Company's response to them.

Disclosure of Methodology: Clearly
explain ~ the  materiality  analysis
methodology in the annual report,
including the process, stakeholder
engagement, and criteria used for
prioritisation.
Performance Indicators: Include
relevant performance indicators and
metrics for each material issue to provide
transparency on how the Company is
managing these issues.

7. Continuous Improvement

Feedback Loop: Establish a feedback
loop to continually improve the
materiality analysis process by collecting
feedback from stakeholders and internal
teams on the effectiveness of the process
and the relevance of the reported issues.

Regular Updates: Periodically update the
materiality analysis to reflect changes in
the business environment, stakeholder
priorities, and emerging issues.

By following this methodology, FMI
ensures that its materiality analysis
process is thorough, transparent, and
aligned with best practices, enabling the
Company to effectively prioritise and
address the most significant issues.
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STRATEGIC RISK

Business Model/ Strategy

The Group's strategic risk lies in the evolving
competitive  landscape, changing  customer
preferences, capacity for execution and disruptive
technology. These factors could impact the decisions
made in each of the Group's business segments and
affect their operations and performance.

Business Environment

Amidst the global geopolitical tensions, macro
risks for the Group have increased. Moreover,
more intensive due diligence processes could
consume additional time and resources, impacting
the effective execution of the Group's business
strategies.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Health & Safety Risk

Health and safety risks can significantly impact
a business's operations, employee well-being,
productivity, and legal standing. These risks, if not
managed properly, can lead to severe disruptions,
including  operational downtime, increased
insurance costs, and potential litigation. Moreover,
a poor health and safety record can damage a
company's reputation, affecting customer and
investor confidence and possibly leading to a
decline in market value.

 All business segments conduct thorough analysis and engage in detailed
discussions during the decision-making processes, with input from
Management.

Develop strategies that emphasize differentiation and innovation to sustain
a competitive edge.

Prioritise enhancing the customer experience by emphasizing the quality,
value, and efficiency of our products and services.

Enhance profitability by broadening the diversity of the Group's business
portfolio and revenue streams, thereby mitigating risks associated with
over-reliance on a single market or sector.

The Group has made a long-term commitment to Myanmar. Its continued
presence, participation and provision of essential products and services is
paramount in fulfilling its mission to Build a Better Myanmar for its People.

Maintaining a balanced approach in making decisions to ensure commercial
survival, business resilience and sustainability. This includes supporting key
sections and engaging with other stakeholders - e.g. employees, customers,
vendors, regulators, partners, lenders, and investors - and the broader
business community.

By aligning our business strategies with community needs, the Group is
not only navigating current challenges but also laying the foundation for a
sustainable and successful future in the country.

We are committed to ethical business practices and avoiding actions that
could negatively impact on the Group's reputation.

We recognise that our ability to thrive amid political, economic, and social
fluctuations not only highlights our operational robustness but also reflects
our unwavering commitment to the people and the future of Myanmar.

The Group is committed to upholding the highest safety standards throughout
all business operations.

We prioritise staff health and safety by implementing effective processes
and adhering to industry standards and regulations to mitigate health and
safety risks.

Our Health, Safety, & Environment (HSE) policies, practices, and performance
are regularly reviewed by the Risk Management and Assurance Team, which
also conducts routine checks at workplaces and construction sites to ensure
safety is a priority and employees can voice their concerns directly.

* We maintain strict workplace health and safety protocols through
comprehensive risk assessments and detailed inspections of equipment
and work areas.

This commitment is reinforced by our strong HSE culture, which includes
regular safety training for employees on safety protocols, procedures, and
industry best practices.
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KEY RISKS AND MATERIAL ISSUES KEY MITIGATION ACTIONS

OPERATIONAL RISK

Manpower Risk

The Group’s ability to develop and grow the
business depends on the quality of its people, and
it is committed to investing in developing its talent
pool. The Group has been constantly developing
and promoting local talent to leadership positions.

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption

The risk of corruption and fraud is inherent to any
business in Myanmar and remains elevated in the
current operating environment. These acts could be
perpetrated by employees, officers, customers, or
vendors engaged by the Group.

FINANCIAL RISK

Inflation Risk

Increases in the costs of the Group's operations,
including labor, materials, energy, transportation,
and distribution costs, could adversely affect
its pricing strategy, profit margins, and overall
operations and financial results. Furthermore,
several of the Group's business segments rely on
input from abroad that has been subject to global
inflationary pressures.

The Group does not have unlimited capacity
to increase pricing without affecting consumer
appetite for its products and services.

We are committed to building a resilient workforce while navigating the
challenges posed by day-to-day operations

We regularly update our succession plans and conduct talent reviews to
identify and develop high-potential employees, ensuring readiness for
leadership and critical roles

* Our robust succession planning program includes identifying potential
skill gaps and providing cross-training to ensure critical functions remain
unaffected.

We have protocols in place for managing sudden reductions in workforce
which include enhancing flexibility in project timelines and deliverables to
adapt to changing workforce dynamics.

We maintain open communication channels to discuss conscription
concerns and offer support programs to help employees and their families.

This approach ensures we are prepared to address and mitigate the risks and
maintain operational continuity and employee well-being.

* We regularly provide training and communication on the Group’s Code of
Conduct and Conflict of Interest Policy and reinforcing a zero-tolerance
approach towards any incidents of corruption and fraud.

Implement a whistleblowing policy that offers accessible channels for
reporting improprieties or concerns to the Risk Management and Assurance
Team, which investigates and provides findings for oversight by the ARMC.

Conduct regular internal audits focused on areas with greater inherent risks,
such as procurement and cash management, and introducing adequate
internal controls commensurate with each business segment’s operations.

The Group continuously explores opportunities for additional revenue
streams with higher margins to increase returns.

To counteract inflationary pressure from abroad, we concentrate on
localizing our supply chains and fixed overheads.

We actively implement cost-saving initiatives and refine operational
processes to boost efficiency.

Regularly monitor and negotiate long-term fixed price arrangements with
vendors.

We also monitor and adjust financial plans regularly to protect margins and
allocate capital across different asset classes.



KEY RISKS AND MATERIAL ISSUES KEY MITIGATION ACTIONS

FINANCIAL RISK

Cashflow and Funding

The Group's business model is subject to its ability
to secure adequate funding at reasonable cost.

The current elevated level of macro risk, volatility
in the financial markets and tightening credit
environment may require additional cash
preservation measures and further balance sheet
deleveraging.

Foreign Exchange and Interest Rates

The Group's operations are exposed to the
fluctuations in the Myanmar Kyat against US Dollar.
The Group is also exposed to adverse movement in
interest rates.

Credit Risk

The Group has creditexposure to selected customers
at different segments. The possibility of default or
delinquency remains elevated as the current market
conditions could affect a counterparty’s ability to
fulfill its payment obligations.

The emphasis on generating and preserving cash remains stringent to ensure
the Group maintains a competitive cost structure, possesses adequate cash
flow to meet its operational needs, and is positioned to capitalize on potential
future opportunities.

The Group takes a proactive debt management to explore refinancing
options to secure lower interest rate or more favorable payment terms,
extending debt maturities to ease short-term repayment pressures.

To reduce foreign exchange risk, we also explore funding options from
domestic sources whenever possible. We diversify funding sources to
provide greater flexibility and reduce concentration risk.

Reduce inventory and monetise non-core and under-utilized assets to raise
additional liquidity.

Implement cost-control measures to reduce fixed and variable costs.
Streamline operations and enhance efficiency through technological
integration and process improvements.

Improve liquidity management to align cash flows with operational
requirements and debt commitments, ensuring that capital expenditures
are reserved solely for essential maintenance and growth.

The Group's treasury function constantly monitors the currency position in
each business unit's operations and the Group's overall economic exposure to
movements in exchange rates. Strategies employed to mitigate the impact of
foreign exchange and interest rate risk include:

* Implementing natural hedges to balance sheet positions.

* Adjusting internal processes to facilitate the shortening of the currency
conversion cycle.

* Maintaining a mix of both fixed and floating rates on borrowings and
maximizing the tenor of fixed rate borrowings where cost effective.

The Group effectively manages its credit risks to maintain robust cash flow and
minimize potential losses from credit defaults. Each strategy is customized to
align with the specific business context and risk tolerance of each segment,
adhering to business-specific credit risk policies and standards. Our overall
approach includes:

e Stringent background checks on creditworthiness, assessment of cashflow
generation capabilities, and acceptance of only high-quality collateral.

* Focusing on customer collections and managing overdue amounts in the
early stages of delinquency.

* Rigorous approval within each business unit where credit terms are
extended. Cash terms are prioritised where possible.
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KEY RISKS AND MATERIAL ISSUES KEY MITIGATION ACTIONS

COMPLIANCE RISK

Regulatory and ESG Compliance

Non-compliance with various laws and regulations
may have a detrimental effect on the operations
and financial performance of each of the Group's
businesses. The Group is subject to the jurisdiction
of a number of regulators, including the Central
Bank of Myanmar, and regulations and policies
could be issued on short notice.

Furthermore, Environmental, Social and Governance
(ESG) compliance has become one of the most
pressing issues expected by key stakeholders,
including customers, lenders, and regulators, and
has posed additional challenges in the current
business environment.

The Group's compliance framework is guided by our core values and Code of
Conduct. This entails:

* Regular reporting by each business unit to ensure that compliance risks are
effectively assessed, managed and mitigated whilst keeping updated on
changes to laws and regulations.

* Maintaining ongoing dialogue with the relevant regulatory authorities.

The Risk Management and Assurance Team monitors the Group’s compliance
with its ESG targets and obligations and ensures that ESG disclosures are
documented, accurate and complete.

Furthermore, the Group supports the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial
Disclosures and is working toward incorporating its recommendations in our
reporting framework. This implementation includes analyzing climate risks,
identifying decarbonization opportunities, and adopting energy efficiency
programmes at the Group's projects.

CYBER SECURITY AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (“IT”) RISK

IT Security

The digital transformation journey has increased
the Group's reliance on technology as a business
enabler and to maintain business continuity. This
transition has heightened the risk of cyberattacks
and other IT threats, including network security,
data protection, fraud, and cybercrimes which may
result in compromising the confidentiality, integrity,
and availability of the Group’s information assets
and/or systems.

The Group remains focused on embedding cyber security and data protection/
privacy into its ongoing business practices. Measures and considerations have
also been taken to safeguard against the loss of information, data security
and prolonged service disruption of critical IT systems.

* Throughout the year, training and assessment exercises were conducted
to enhance employees’ awareness of technology and cyber threats, reduce
human error in the information security chain.

e Continuous monitoring of information security policies is enhanced by the
following:

a. Maintaining an IT security framework to address evolving IT security
threats, such as hacking, malware, and mobile threats.
b. Secure access two-factor authentication.
Back-up and privileged access protocols.
Data storage capacity and utilization monitoring.
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Sustainability Strategy

First  Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited (“FMI") considers
sustainability is a key element of its
mission “Build A Better Myanmar for
its People”. FMI mission and targets
are aligned closely to its Sustainability
& Responsibility (“S&R”)  strategy,
enabling us to create greater value
for our stakeholders. Our focus on
the highest standards of governance,
ethics, sustainability, and responsibility
also reflects our commitment as one
of Myanmar’'s pillars in the industry.
Our FMI's sustainability approach to

doing business ensures that social
and environmental implications are
integrated into the Company'’s strategy,
operations, and decision-making, by
translating our ambitions for more
sustainable development into concrete
actions and clear responsibilities.

In November 2023, the Company
published a separate Sustainability
Report, providing a comprehensive
overview of its sustainability strategies,
efforts, and performance covering from
FY 2023 which has been meticulously

prepared in accordance with the Global
Reporting Initiative (“GRI") Standards:
Core option and is aligned with UN
Sustainable Development Goals.

Our annual Sustainability Report serves
as a vital platform to engage with our
stakeholders, addressing the issues most
pertinent to them and our business. It
continues to guide our risk management,
strategy development, and stakeholder
engagement endeavours as we refine
and prioritise our sustainability and
corporate social responsibility initiatives.
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In the face of adversity, FMI
has demonstrated resilience
and adaptability, which

is reflected in its financial
performance. Throughout the
year, FMI has strategically
navigated the market, seizing
opportunities and mitigating
risks to drive financial
growth. Through prudent
financial management and
strategic investments, the
Company has strengthened
its balance sheet and
optimized its capital
structure, providing a solid
foundation for future growth.
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Report of the
Directors

M3|AIBAQ 33DJ0dI09]

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of First Myanmar Investment Public Co.,
Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended March 31, 2024.

1 DIRECTORS

diysiapoaT ing

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

U Than Aung

U Tun Tun

U Linn Myaing

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
U Kyi Aye

2 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

M3INY 3IUDWI0)iad

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries, joint venture and
associates are disclosed in Notes 4, 12 and 13, respectively.

3 DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The directors holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital of the Company as recorded in
the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company, except as follows:

an|pA Bunoiauag Ing

Shareholdings registered in Shareholdings in which a director is
name of director deemed to have an interest .
Names of directors At b'egianing of the Aft eno! of the At b'eginrfing of the At enq of the §
financial year financial year financial year financial year a
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun 9,008,506 9,008,506 9,548,480 9,640,302 E
U Tun Tun 84,900 84,900 i : =
U Than Aung 22,800 22,800 - -
U Linn Myaing 14,010 14,010 - -
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet 635 635 - -
U Kyi Aye 223 223 - -

4 RESULTS OF THE GROUP

The consolidated financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2024 and the consolidated financial performance of the Group
for the financial year ended March 31, 2024 are set out on pages 91 to 92 and page 93, respectively.
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5 DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been proposed by the Board of Directors of the Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2024.

6 INDPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been audited by Aung Naing Maung Maung, Certified Public Accountant
and Financial Consultant of Excellent Choice Professional, Financial Consultant and Auditing Group.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

el \

7 N
Linn Myaing Tun Tun
Director Director

Date: November 4, 2024



Statement of the
Directors

M3|AIBAQ 33DJ0dI09]

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 91 to 152 are drawn up so as to
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2024, and the financial performance, changes in equity
and cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to
believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

diysiapoaT ing

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

o

)

E)

3

=]

)

B

el

. 2

m

/.p' | =
7 N
Linn Myaing Tun Tun

Director Director

Date: November 4, 2024

an|pA Bunoiauag Ing
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of First Myanmar Investment
Public Co., Ltd.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We were engaged to audit the accompanying consolidated financial statements of First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at March
31, 2024, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended March 31, 2024, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 91 to 152.

We do not express an opinion on the accompanying financial statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit report on these financial statements.

Basis for disclaimer of opinion
Limitation of scope on the audit of Yoma Bank Limited (“YBL") for the financial year ended March 31, 2024

The Group's consolidated financial statements include the unaudited financial information of YBL which is disclosed in Note 37. YBL
is a significant component of the Group and it is audited by another independent auditor (the “component auditor”) for the financial
year ended March 31, 2024. We have as part of our audit procedures, sent group audit instructions to the component auditor and
requested to perform necessary audit procedures based on the requirement of MAS 600 Special Considerations - Audits of Group
Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors). However, as the audit of YBL by the component auditor has not
been finalised as at the date of this report, we are unable to obtain audit clearance and perform necessary audit procedures to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves about the validity, accuracy and completeness of the whole financial
statements of YBL for the financial year ended March 31, 2024, and neither were we able to perform sufficient alternative audit
procedures.

Due to the limitation of audit scope as explained herein which is beyond the control of the management, we were unable to determine
the adjustments to the amounts and disclosures, if any, which could have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group as at and for the financial year ended March 31, 2024.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with
the provisions of the Law and MFRSs, including the modification of the requirements of Myanmar Accounting Standards 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“MAS 39”) in respect of loan loss provisioning by the Central Bank of Myanmar (“CBM")
Notification No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either

intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of First Myanmar Investment
Public Co., Ltd.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with MSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of First Myanmar Investment
Public Co., Ltd.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Law to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated
in Myanmar of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Law.

Aung Naing Maung Maung
PA-678

Certified Public Accountant and
Financial Consultant

Yangon, Myanmar

Date: November 4, 2024

Associated with CLA Global TS Public Accounting Corporation



Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

AS AT MARCH 31, 2024

Note 2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balances 5 694,108,023 686,803,125
Trade and other receivables 6 108,143,557 119,196,820
Loans and advances to customers, by the bank subsidiary 7 3,370,206,833 2,107,473,851
Government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary 14 307,950,724 490,292,090
Inventories 8 4,212,264 4,278,060
Advances and prepayments 9 36,749,548 11,754,382
Total current assets 4,521,370,949 3,419,798,328
Non-current assets
Other receivables 6 - 10,634,245
Other non-current assets 10 1,591,250 3,371,866
Available-for-sale investments 1" 62,545,813 54,487,127
Investment in joint venture 12 3,353,536 3,354,686
Investment in associates 13 138,153,779 84,351,195
Government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary 14 421,021,904 306,158,313
Investment properties 15 4,766,265 3,359,815
Property, plant and equipment 16 255,047,936 233,796,363
Goodwill 17 61,586,933 61,586,933
Intangible assets 18 4,724,344 5,361,995
Total non-current assets 952,791,760 766,462,538
Total assets 5,474,162,709 4,186,260,866
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities -
Trade and other payables 19 100,359,292 101,385,326 g
Deposits and balances from customers by =8
the bank subsidiary 4,688,715,742 3,500,877,524 %
Interbank borrowings and securities sold with agreement B
to repurchase, by the bank subsidiary 36,648,000 30,275,000 -
Borrowings 20 17,474,928 29,851,154
Income tax payable 10,292,995 4,410,252
Total current liabilities 4,853,490,957 3,666,799,256
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 7,850,000 -
Borrowings 20 11,765,098 3,835,308
Deferred tax liabilities 21 3,617,147 3,687,540
Total non-current liabilities 23,232,245 7,522,848
Total liabilities 4,876,723,202 3,674,322,104

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of

Financial Position

AS AT MARCH 31, 2024

Note
Capital and Reserves
Attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 22
Quasi-equity loan 23
Reserves 24

Retained earnings

Non-controlling interests
Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

el \

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
182,516,870 182,516,870
120,953,579 120,953,579
66,097,439 41,269,486
114,913,650 68,993,707
484,481,538 413,733,642
112,957,969 98,205,120
597,439,507 511,938,762

5,474,162,709

4,186,260,866

7 N
Linn Myaing Tun Tun
Director Director

Date: November 4, 2024

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of

Comprehensive Income

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024

Revenue
Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Administrative expenses

Finance expenses

Other losses, net

Share of results of associates and joint venture, net of tax

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the financial year

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:

Fair value (loss)/ gains of available-for-sale investments -

net

Net change in fair value of previously held interest in
available-for-sale investment reclassified to profit or
loss

Share of other comprehensive income of associates

Total other comprehensive income for the financial
year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the financial year

Profit/(Loss) attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings/ (Loss) per share
Basic (MMK)
Diluted (MMK)

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ol \

11,24

24,29
13,24

31
31

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
499,115,107 339,593,407
(296,522,962) (219,858,965)
202,592,145 119,734,442
(158,615,931) (108,984,574)
(3,376,904) (3,176,266)
(20,871,758) (3,422,077)
48,543,531 3,923,976
68,271,083 8,075,501
(10,199,984) (3,942,497)
58,071,099 4,133,004
(128,701) 1,267,119

- 8,009,332

2,613,279 1,799,091
2,484,578 11,075,542
60,555,677 15,208,546
51,594,226 (701,769)
6,476,873 4,834,773
58,071,099 4,133,004
54,078,804 10,775,007
6,476,873 4,433,539
60,555,677 15,208,546
1,558 1)

1,247 (21)

7 N
Linn Myaing Tun Tun
Director Director

Date: November 4, 2024

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

2
=
=}
=1
=8
=)
o
i
o
o
3
—




"S)UBWI0IS [12ULUL 3say Jo 1nd [pi8a3ul ub wiiof sajou Suifupdwodo ay

¥20g HModay [pnuuy |

L0S'6EY°L6S 696'.56°CL | 8€G' L 8Y ¥8Y 0S9°'€l6' VL1 6E1'260°99 6.5'€G6°0¢L 0.8°91G°Z8l
(0ooo‘6z1) (0ooo‘6z1) - - - - -
(6¥5°€) (6¥5°€) - - - - -
119°220°Ge G2S'80v'8 260'699°91 - 260'699'91 -
- - - (€82'7.29'G) €82'7.9'G - -
119'G66°09 €/8'9/¥'9 08805 922'¥6S°LS 8/G'¥8¥'C - -
8/G'v8Y'C - 8.G'v8¥'C - 8.G'V8¥'C B B
66012085 €/8'9.%'9 92Z'¥6S°1LS 922'¥6S°LS - - -
29.'8€6°L 1S 02150286 ro'eeL'ely 10.'€66'89 981'69¢°L¥ 6.5'€S6°0¢L 018915281
000MANIN 000MNIN 000NN 000MININ 000NN 000MININ 000NN
Kinba s)saJajul |elol sbuiuies SOAIaSaY ueo| Ayinba  |eudes
jejol Buijjonuod pauieloy -1senpd aleys

-UOoN Auedwo9 ayj Jo siaumo o} s|geInqupy

‘P17 “09 1|gNd JUBWISBAU| IDWUDA 15114

202 ‘1€ Ya4e\ je se asuejeqg

s)saJajul Buljjosjuoo-uou 0}
Kieipisgns e Aq pajnqusip spuspiAig

sjsalajul

Buljjosuoo-uou 0} |eydes Jo puniey
vz anlasal |etauab 9,z |euonippy
A aAJasal |eydeo Jo aieys

awooul dAIsuayaidwod Jay)Q -
JeaA [eloueuly 8y} 40y JoId -
Jeak |eloueuly 8y}

10} 8wooul aAIsuayaidwoo |ejo ]

€202 ‘| Iudy je se aoueleg

9JON

%202 ‘L€ HOYVIN 03AN3T ¥V3A TVIONVNIA FHL ¥04

A)inb3 ul sabuby)
JO JuBWalbls palbpijosuog



Financial Report

"SJUWIDIS [p1dUDUL 3say} Jo 1pd [piSayur up wuof sajou SuiAupduwioddn ayy

29.'8€6°L 1S 021'G0Z'86 zro'eeLely 10.°€66'89 981692 L¥ 6.5'€S6°0Cl 0.8°91G°Z81 €20C ‘1€ Yoiel Je se asuejeq
(000°06) (000°06) - - - - - sysaJajul Bul|joyuoo-uou o}
Aseipisgns e Aq pajnquisip spuspiaig
(000°005°01) (L96°22L°LL)  196°L29 - 196,29 - - |0J)U0D JO SSO| JNOYYM }SaIB)UI
diysiaumo sjuaied ul abueyo jo 1oedw|
- (¥96'859°2) ¥96'859'C (€L9'v1) 116'€19'C - - Aynba ui Apoauip
pasiubooal ‘sIsuMO Ylm suoljoesuel |
0,0'68S 0,0'68S - - - - - sysauajul Buljjosuoo-uou
wloJ} uoinquiuod |eudes [euonippy
992209 912'v.8 050°'ce.) - 0S0°'eeL‘) - - ve aAlasal [eldaudb %z [euonippy
- - - (8€2'01€°2) 8e€z'0lE' - - vz anjesal |eydes Jo aseys
915'802'S 1 6ES'CEY'Y 100°G/2°0L (692°102) 9/1°9/¥'LL - -
ZvS'SL0° L1 (vez'Lov) 9.2'9/¥'L1L - 9/1°9/%° L1 - - (sso)/ewodul 8AIsUsYa1dwod JaY)O -
v00'CEL 'Y €LL'vE8'Yy (692°102) (692°102) - - - Jeak |eloueul ayj 104 yjoid /(ss0T) -
Jeak |eroueul) ay)
10} ($S0])/owooul 8AIsuayaIdwoo |ejo |
088°€ZL¥0S 022'S81°901 099'8¢6°26€ 12€'020°2. ¥88°L¥v'Ce 6.G°'€G6°0¢L 0.8'01G28l 2z0z ‘| |udy je se souejeg
000MAIIN 000MAIN 000MAIN 000 MAIIN 000MNIN 000MAIN 000MAIN
Kynba s)saJajul |elol sbuiuiea SOAIaSaY ueo| Ayinba  |eyudes 9JON
|elol Bujjjonuod paulejay -Isend aleys
-UoN Auedwo9 ayj} jo sIdsuUMO 0} d|qeInquPyY

7202 HIHUVIN LE 030N3 dV3IA TVIINVYNIH JHL d04

A)inb3 ul sabuby)
JO JuBWalbls palbpijosuog



Annual Report 2024

First Myanmar Investment Public Co,, Ltd.

Consolidated Statement of

Cash Flows

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
- Amortisation of intangible assets 27
- Additional 2% general reserve 27
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 27
- Gain on fair value of investment property 29
- Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 29
- Loss on derecognition of available-for-sale investment 29
- Write-off of property, plant and equipment 29
- Write-off of investment in associate 29
- Write-off of receivable 29
- Write-back of payable 29
- (Reversal of)/allowance for impairment of repossessed

properties 27
- Write-back for impairment on loans and advances 27
- Allowance for doubtful debts 27
- Share of results of associates and joint venture,

net of tax 12,13
- Finance expense 28

- Interest from investment securities
- Unrealised foreign currency exchange losses
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Deposits and balances from customers, by the bank
subsidiary

Interbank placements

Advances and prepayments

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other payables

Loans and advances to customers, by the bank subsidiary

Interbank borrowings and securities sold with agreement
to repurchase, by the bank subsidiary

Cash (used in)/generated from operations

Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/ provided by operating activities

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK'000
68,271,083 8,075,501
1,881,599 2,004,908
25,077,617 2,607,266
11,522,276 8,511,621
(1,406,450) (268,450)
(120,091) (399,824)
- 8,009,332
336,616 283,021
350 -
7,727 -
(185,587) -
(2,281,629) 6,471,479
(2,393,651) (12,920,863)
441,000 -
(48,543,531)
(3,923,976)
3,117,945 3,133,622
(68,506,877) (71,062,438)
649,936 1,196,678

(12,131,667)

(48,282,123)

1,187,838,218 724,589,254
69,475,000 (64,475,000)
(20,962,181) (12,128,083)
65,796 483,828
16,415,753 (40,415,106)
(3,124,804) 8,100,728
(1,260,339,331) (463,754,254)
6,373,000 10,717,000
(16,390,216) 114,836,244
(6,123,525) (602,709)
(22,513,741) 114,233,535

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of

Cash Flows

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Note

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Repayment of advance by an associate

Additions to intangible assets

18

Investment in available-for-sales investments
Additions to property, plant and equipment 16
Acquisition of investment securities, by the bank

subsidiary

Proceed from disposal of government and other
securities, by the bank subsidiary

Interest income received from investment securities,

by the bank subsidiary

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings and bank overdraft
(Refund of capital to)/Additional contribution from

non-controlling interests

Repayment of borrowings and bank overdraft
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Interest paid

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

At beginning of the financial year

End of the financial year

2024 2023
MMK'000 MMK’000
150,310 411,751

- 1,000,000

(1,243,949) (677,771)

- (3,060,859)
(26,104,703) (132,191,834)
(637,341,555) (980,868,964)
728,450,000 835,440,000
45,485,500 38,075,250
109,395,603 (241,872,427)
13,000,000 -
(3,549) 589,070
(18,634,675) -
(138,525) (90,656)
(4,325,215) (3,285,932)
(10,101,964) (2,787,518)
76,779,898 (130,426,410)
617,328,125 747,754,535
694,108,023 617,328,125

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial
statements.

2.1

2.2

GENERAL

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) (Registration No. 121398001) is incorporated
in Myanmar with its principal place of business and registered office located at The Campus 1, Office Park,
Rain Tree Drive, Pun Hlaing Estate, Hlaing Thayar Township, Yangon, 11401, Myanmar.

The Company listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange Joint Venture Company Limited on March 25, 2016.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries, joint venture and associates are disclosed in Notes 4, 12 and 13, respectively.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost
convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law (“Law”) and Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards
(“MFRSs”), including the modification of the requirements of Myanmar Accounting Standards 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“MAS 39”) in respect of loan loss provisioning by the Central
Bank of Myanmar (“CBM”) Notification No. 17/2017: Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations and
the Section 39 of the FIL 2016.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates and assumptions. Areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are
disclosed in Note 3.

Adoption of new and revised accounting standards

There have been no new/revised MFRSs and Interpretations of MFRSs issued by the Myanmar
Accountancy Council during the financial year.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
(@)  Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date on that control ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment indicator of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the
Group.
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2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(a)

Subsidiaries

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein.
The interest of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured (at date of original business combination) either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another MFRS.
Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in
equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the
relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under MAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled
entity.

Business combination

The acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair
values of assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent
changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as
measurement period adjustments (see below). The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with MAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, or MAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,
as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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2

2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(b)

(©)

Business combination

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the
acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate
if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under the MFRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

» liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or
the replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based
payment awards transactions of the acquirer in accordance with the method in MFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date: and

» assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with
that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period
(see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains
complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is
subject to a maximum of one year from acquisition date.

The accounting policy for initial measurement of non-controlling interests is described above.
Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in
which case it is accounted for under MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(c)

Associates

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost and the
carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss of the
associate after the date of acquisition. The Group’s share of the received from an associate reduce
the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to carrying amount may also be necessary for
changes in the Group's proportionate interest in the associate arising from changes in the
associate’s other comprehensive income. Such changes include those arising from the revaluation
of property, plant and equipment and from foreign exchange translation differences. The Group’s
share of those changes is recognised in other comprehensive income of the Group. Losses of an
associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate) are not recognised,
unless the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is
assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Joint venture

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an
economic activity that is subject to joint control that is when the strategic financial and operating
policy decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

Where a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the
Group’s share of jointly controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are
recognized in the financial statements of the relevant entity and classified according to their nature.
Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect of interests in jointly controlled assets are
accounted for on an accrual basis. Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output of
jointly controlled assets, and its share of joint venture expenses, are recognized when it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the transactions will flow to/from the Group and their
amount can be measured reliably.

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each
venturer has an interest are referred to as jointly controlled entities. The Group reports its interests
in jointly controlled entities using the equity method, except when the investment is classified as
held for sale, in which case it is accounted for under MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is
accounted for in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of a subsidiary.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the Group’s statement of financial position when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial instrument and of
allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and
expense are recognized on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

(@)

Financial assets

All financial assets are recognized and de-recognized on a trade date where the purchase or sale of
an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market concerned and are initially measured at fair value.

(i)

Classification

Financial assets are classified into following categories: ‘loans and receivables’, ‘held-to-
maturity investments’, ‘available-for-sale financial assets’ and ‘financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss’ (“FVTPL”). The classification depends on the nature and the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets,
except for those maturing later than 12 months after the year end which are presented as
non-current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “trade and other receivables”,
“loans and advances to customers, by the bank subsidiary” and “cash and cash equivalents”
in the statement of financial position. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognized by applying the
effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is
immaterial.

Held-to-maturity financial assets

Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group has the positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are reported in the statement of
financial position as “government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary”.

Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not
classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets
at FVTPL. They are presented as non-current unless the investment matures, or
management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period. AFS financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value if the fair value can be
reliably estimated using valuation techniques supported by observable market data,
otherwise, those assets are carried at cost less impairment loss.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

Financial assets

(i)

Classification
Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)

Changes in the fair values of AFS equity securities (i.e. non-monetary items) are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve,
together with the related currency translation differences.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be
settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading
or it is designated at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Bank
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if;

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Bank’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and MAS 39
permits the entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-
measurement recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset.

Impairment

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
been impacted.

For AFS equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

Financial assets

(ii)

Impairment
For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

« significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

+ default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

* it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organization; or

» the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are
assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all
financial assets with the exception of receivables where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognized in profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses
previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. With
the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount
of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, the previously recognized impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity instruments, impairment losses previously recognized in profit or
loss are not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value after an
impairment loss is recognized in other comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Financial assets
(i)  Impairment

Specific provision on loans and advances
The bank subsidiary reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each reporting
date to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the profit or loss. In
accordance with the new CBM notification No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning
dated July 7, 2017, the bank subsidiary determines the impairment loss for loans and

advances as follows:

Provision on shortfall

Days past due Classification in security value
30 days past due Standard 0%
31 - 60 days past due Watch 5%
61 — 90 days past due Substandard 25%
91 — 180 days past due Doubtful 50%
Over 180 days past due Loss 100%

The above is only a minimum requirement and management may provide additional provision
over and above the minimum requirement.

Effective from October 3, 2019, the bank subsidiary adopted a stricter provision policy for
Digital Credit loans due to the fact that these are unsecured credits. Accordingly, the
provision rate applied for Digital Credit loans are as follows:

Provision on shortfall %‘
Days past due Classification in security value a.
1 to 30 days past due Standard 10% =
31 to 60 days past due Watch 25% S
61 to 90 days past due Substandard 50% =
91 to 180 days past due Doubtful 100%
Over 180 days past due Loss 100%

Specific provision for restructured loan portfolios

The bank subsidiary has launched ‘Customer Assist Program’ for all performing loans which
are less than 90 days past due upon borrower’s application basis. Only borrowers with
outstanding exposures less than 90 days past due will be eligible for this program. Borrowers
under this program will be offered either principal repayment reduction (“principal reduced”),
suspension of principal repayment while only serving interest (“principle paused”) or
suspension of principal and interest repayment for a period of time till December 31, 2021
(“principal and interest paused”). By using all available information and customers’ behaviour
from past relief programs, the bank subsidiary has performed the meticulous assessment to
determine additional provision required on borrowers under the ‘Customer Assist Program’
due to the uncertainty brought about by the current political situation in Myanmar.

Additionally, the bank subsidiary has assessed the credit standing of large individual
exposures individually by taking into account of their current business condition and potential
recovery to appropriately recognize impairment and provisioning for these accounts.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)  Financial assets

(ii)

(iif)

Impairment
Specific provision for restructured loan portfolios

Accordingly, management has applied the following provision rates for financial assets under
the program. The provision rates applied for financial assets which are 1 to 30 days past due
and 31 to 60 days past due are higher than the provision rates stipulated by CBM notification
No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning; while the provision rates applied for
financial assets which are 61 to 90 days past due, 91 to 180 days past due and over 180
days past due remain the same as per CBM.

Provision on shortfall in security value

Principle Principle Principal and
Days past due Classification reduced paused Interest paused
Current Current 5% 10% 25%
1 to 30 days past due Standard 5% 10% 25%
31 to 60 days past due  Watch 5% 10% 25%

General provision on loans and advances

Pursuant to CBM Notification No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations
and Letter No0.2621/ Ka Ka (1)/3/507/2018-2019 dated May 10, 2019, the bank subsidiary is
required to maintain a general loan loss reserve equivalent to 2% of the total outstanding
loans and advances with a corresponding charge to profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial asset

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Write-off

Financial assets written off are charged to specific provision when the bank subsidiary has no
reasonable expectation of recovering the asset. Subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the bank subsidiary’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate.

(b) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(i)

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(b)  Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(i)

(ii)

Classification as debt or equity
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

Interest-bearing borrowings are initially measured at their fair values and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is
recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
for borrowing costs (see below).

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and
any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Costs of a self-constructed asset include
material costs, labour costs and other direct costs used in the construction of the asset. Other costs such
as start-up costs, administration and other general overhead costs, advertising and training costs are
excluded and expensed as incurred. Cost also includes borrowing costs (refer to Note on borrowing costs).

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than assets under construction, over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Land and building 20-80 years
Rehabilitation cost 8 years
Renovation, furniture and office equipment 3-30 years
Facilities and infrastructure system 10-20 vyears
Machinery and equipment 5-12 vyears
Motor vehicles 5-8 vyears
IT and computers 3-5 \years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The effects of any revision are
recognized in profit or loss when the changes arise.
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2.5

2.6

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no
longer in use.

Assets-under-construction included in property, plant and equipment is not depreciated as these assets
are not available for use. These are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Depreciation for
the assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognized in profit or loss.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognized as an asset at the date that control is acquired
(the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss
recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary or the relevant cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS ACQUIRED IN A BUSINESS COMBINATION EXCLUDING GOODWILL

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognized separately from
goodwill, where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset, and their fair value can be measured
reliably. The cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

The amortization periods for the intangible assets are as follows:

Computer software 5 years
License 10 years

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost
less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible
assets acquired separately.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties include those portions of office buildings that are held for long-term rental yields
and/or for capital appreciation and land under operating leases that is held for long-term capital
appreciation or for a presently in determinate use.

These investment properties are measured initially at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in
the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost
of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended use and
capitalized borrowing costs.

An investment property is derecognized on its disposal, or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the items is
derecognized.

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest Group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of medicines and consumables which are purchased for the purpose of sale in the
ordinary course of business. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted average basis and comprises of cost of purchase and other costs incurred
in bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in
marketing, selling and distribution. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realizable value
shall be recognized as an expense in the period the write-down occurs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Sales comprise the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and
rendering of services in the ordinary course of the activities of the Group. Sales are presented net of
commercial tax, rebates and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue and its related cost can be reliably measured,
when it is reasonably assured that the related receivables are collectable, and when the specific criteria for
each of the Group’s activities are met as follows:

Rendering of services — Financial services and healthcare services

Revenue from rendering of services is recognized in the period in which the services are rendered.
Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable.

Rental income

The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in Note 2.13.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
LEASES

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit
derived from the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized as an expense over
the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

The Group as lessee
Operating leases

The Group leases land, motor vehicles and certain plant and machinery under finance leases and land,
factories and warehouses under operating leases from non-related parties.

Finance leases

Leases where the Group assumes substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased
assets are classified as finance leases.

The leased assets and the corresponding lease liabilities (net of finance charges) under finance leases are
recognised on the statement of financial position as plant and equipment and borrowings respectively, at
the inception of the leases based on the lower of the fair value of the leased assets and the present value
of the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding
lease liability. The finance expense is recognised in profit or loss on a basis that reflects a constant
periodic rate of interest on the finance lease liability.

INCOME TAX
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not
taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset realized based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax is recognized as an expense in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense when employees
have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed
retirement benefit schemes, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated
financial statements of the Group are presented in Myanmar Kyat (MMK), which is the presentation
currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items
are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognized other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognized in other comprehensive income.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Myanmar Kyats using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows comprise of cash on hand, cash at bank and
demand deposits, bank overdrafts, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") data for its ordinary shares.

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own
shares held.

Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
and the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

SEGMENT REPORTING
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the

Management Team whose members are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

(@)  Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end
of the reporting date was MMK61,586.9 million (2023: MMK61,586.9 million).

No impairment of goodwill is recognised as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023. Information
about the significant assumptions used in the value in use calculation is disclosed in Note 17.
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Impairment of loans and advances and available-for-sale investment

The bank subsidiary reviews its loans and advances to assess impairment on a regular basis. In
determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, management exercises
judgement on whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from the loan before the decrease can be identified within an
individual loan. The bank subsidiary recognises an impairment loss equivalent to the security
shortfall of each individual loan, in accordance with the requirement under the CBM Notification No.
17/2017 including its annexure on the criteria for the valuation of security and collateral.

The carrying amounts of loans and advances and available-for-sale as at March 31, 2024 and
March 31, 2023 are disclosed in Notes 7 and 11 respectively.

Management has assessed that there is no objective evidence or indication that the carrying
amount of the Group’s held-to-maturity and available-for-sale investments are not recoverable as at
the end of the reporting period, and accordingly impairment is not required. The credit risk
assessment on the Group’s loans and advances is also disclosed in Note 34(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Specific provision for restructured loan portfolios

In view of the current situation in Myanmar where banking operations and repayment channels are
disrupted, the bank subsidiary has launched ‘Customer Assist Program’ for all performing loans
which are less than 90 days past due upon borrowers’ application basis. Borrowers under this
program are allowed to defer either principal and/or interest repayment or principal reduction based
on the type of pause programs till December 31, 2021. After the ‘Short-term Relief Program’,
significant number of customers has gone back to normal repayment. However, some of the
customers are moving on to the ‘Medium-term Relief Program’. The bank subsidiary evaluated the
possible losses for financial assets under the program by taking into account past events, current
conditions/trends and economic outlooks and has applied additional provision rates for these
borrowers as they are deemed of higher risks. The additional provision rates are disclosed under

Note 2.3(a)(ii).

The amount of specific provision on restructured loan portfolio at the reporting date was MMK346.8
million (2023: MMK275.7 million). Details of the specific provision for restructured loan portfolios are

provided in Note 7 to the financial statements.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The policy for allowance for doubtful receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is required in
assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness, the
past collection history and ongoing dealings. If the financial conditions of the customer were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of its ability to make payments, additional allowance may be

required.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 is

disclosed in Note 6.

Net realizable value of inventories

A review is made periodically on inventories for obsolete and excess inventories and declines in net
realizable value below cost and a write-off is recorded against the carrying amount of the
inventories balance for any such obsolescence, excess and declines. The review requires
management to consider the future demand for the inventories. The realizable value represents the
best estimate of the recoverable amount and is based on the acceptable evidence available at the
end of the reporting year and inherently involves estimates regarding the future expected realizable
value. The usual considerations for determining the amount of write-down include expected usage
analysis, technical assessment and subsequent events. In general, such an evaluation process
requires significant judgement and affects the carrying amount of inventories at the end of the
respective financial year. Possible changes in these estimates could result in revisions to the stated
value of the inventories, but these changes would not arise from the assumptions or other sources

of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date.

The carrying amount of inventories at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 is disclosed in Note 8 to

the financial statements.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Uncertain tax positions

The Group is subject to income taxes in Myanmar. In determining income tax liabilities,
management is required to estimate the amount of capital allowances and the deductibility of certain
expenses (“‘uncertain tax positions”).

There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, the Group makes adjustment for
such differences in the income tax of the period in which such determination is made.

Information about the income tax calculation is disclosed in Note 30.
Impairment of other non-current assets

Management assesses its other non-current assets for impairment at each reporting period by
estimating the recoverable amount of the underlying land attached to the projects based on the fair
value of the land using the tax valuation published by the Inland Revenue Office for similar property
in the same location.

The carrying amount of other non-current assets at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 is
disclosed in Note 10.

Impairment of investment in associates and joint ventures

Determining whether the investment in associates and joint ventures is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the investment. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the investment and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate present value. In the event that a discounted cash flow calculation is not available,
management assesses its investment in associates and joint venture for impairment at each
reporting period by estimating the recoverable amount of the underlying land of the investee based
on the fair value of the land using the tax valuation published by the Inland Revenue Office for
similar property in the same location.
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The carrying amounts of investment in associates and joint ventures at March 31, 2024 and March
31, 2023 are disclosed in Notes 13 and 12, respectively.

Fair value of investment properties

In estimating the fair value of investment properties, the Group uses market prices based on most
recent transactions for similar property in the same location and condition and subject to similar
lease and other contracts to the extent it is available. Where these are not available, the Group uses
the tax valuation published by the Inland Revenue Office for similar property in the same location.

The carrying amount of investment properties at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 is disclosed in
Note 15.




Annual Report 2024

First Myanmar Investment Public Co,, Ltd.

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

3

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are depreciated and
amortized over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. Management estimates the useful
lives of property and equipment and intangible assets based on expected usage and industry
norms. Changes in the expected level of maintenance, usage and technological developments
could impact the useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation
charges could be revised.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at March 31, 2024
and March 31, 2023 are disclosed in Notes 16 and 18, respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

Details of subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation Principal interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries and operation activities held
2024 2023
Yoma Bank Limited (¥ Myanmar Financial 66.47% 66.47%
services
Pun Hlaing International Hospital Myanmar Investment 60.00% 60.00%
Limited ®© holding
Taunggyi Hospital Assets Limited @@  Myanmar Investment 70.00% 70.00%
holding
Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing Hospital Myanmar Healthcare 60.00% 60.00%
Limited @ ® services
Yoma OUE Taunggyi Hospital Myanmar Healthcare 70.00% 70.00%
Limited ®®) services
FMI Industrial Investment Co., Ltd.®  Myanmar Investment 100.00% 100.00%
holding

O]

(@)

®)

4)

©®)

(6)

Audited by Myanmar Vigour & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar.
Audited by Zaw Lwin & Associates Certified Public Accountants & Auditors, Myanmar.

Audited by Excellent Choice Professional Company Limited, Myanmar (Associated with CLA Global
TS Public Accounting Corporation, Singapore) for statutory purposes.

The proportion of ownership interest and voting power held reflects that of Pun Hlaing International
Hospital Limited in Taunggyi Hospital Assets Limited.

The proportion of ownership interest and voting power held reflects that of Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing
Hospital Limited in Yoma OUE Taunggyi Hospital Limited.

The Company’s shares in Pun Hlaing International Hospital Limited and Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing
Hospital Limited are pledged as collateral for a borrowing of MMK13,000.0 million (Note 20).
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5 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’000

Cash at bank and on hand 999,150 423,642

Cash on hand, by the bank subsidiary 214,988,039 261,249,613
Cash and placements with central bank and other

banks, by the bank subsidiary 478,120,834 425,129,870

694,108,023 686,803,125

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
comprise the following:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Cash and bank balances as above 694,108,023 686,803,125
Interbank placements — more than 3 months - (69,475,000)
Cash and cash equivalents as per consolidated statement
of cash flows 694,108,023 617,328,125
6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Current
Trade receivables
- Non-related parties 27,425,102 20,960,608 g
3
Non-trade receivables %
- Non-related parties 13,637,534 19,624,589 'g"
- Related parties " 19,758,542 24,085,894 -
- Associates 5,356 5,356
- Joint venture 16,545 4,045
33,417,977 43,719,884
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts on a non-related party (882,000) (404,691)
32,535,977 43,315,193
Deposits 48,182,478 54,921,019
108,143,557 119,196,820
Non-current
Non-trade receivables
- Related parties - 2,212,120
- Associates @ - 8,422 125
- 10,634,245

() This balance includes a loan receivable of FMI Industrial Investment Company Limited (“FMI II”), a
subsidiary, from Yoma Nominee Limited amounting to MMK5,000.0 million (2023: MMK5,000.0
million) which carries an interest of CBM reference rate plus 2.5% per annum. The loan has a term of
1 year from the date of the agreement, November 6, 2020, and the maturity date of the loan was
extended till November 6, 2023. During the current financial year, the interest rate was increased to
10.5% and the maturity date of the borrowing was extended for a further 12 months from November
7, 2023 to November 6, 2024.




Annual Report 2024

First Myanmar Investment Public Co,, Ltd.

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

@ The Company advanced a total of USD3.4 million to CLW Development Limited ("CLWDL"), an
associate, by way of (a) cash payment of USDO0.5 million (b) through corresponding payable to related
company amount of USD2.9 million, in a form of a shareholder loan. The loan bears an interest of 8%
per annum with a term of 5 years. This account includes both principal and interest and the amount
outstanding as at March 31, 2023 was MMKS8,422.1 million (equivalent USD4.0 million). During the
current financial year, the loan of MMK8,422.1 million is classified as a quasi-capital loan and forms
part of the Company’s cost of investment in CLWDL (Note 13).

The average credit period from rendering of services is 30 days (2023: 30 days). No interest is charged
on the outstanding balance.

Non-trade receivables from related companies, associates, and joint venture are unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand except as disclosed above.

The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at the reporting date:

2024 ‘2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Neither past due nor impaired 27,318,917 20,875,490
Past due but not impaired 106,185 85,118
27,425,102 20,960,608

Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired
- Past due 0 to 30 days 77,166 36,446
- Past due 31 to 60 days 29,019 19,279
- Past due over 61 days - 29,393
106,185 85,118

The movement in allowance for doubtful debts on a non-related party is as follow:

2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 404,691 404,691
Allowance for doubtful debts (Note 27) 441,000 -
Unrealised foreign currency exchange losses 36,309 -
Balance at end of the financial year 882,000 404,691

7 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS, BY THE BANK SUBSIDIARY

2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’'000

Loans and advances 3,350,284,516 2,084,953,523
Trade financing 56,188,898 67,390,332
Total 3,406,473,414 2,152,343,855
Less: partial payments on NPLs (1,794,442) (2,851,847)

3,404,678,972
Less: Specific allowance

2,149,492,008

Loans and advances per CBM regulation
Loans and advances on restructured program

(34,125,339)
(346,800)

(41,742,497)
(275,660)

(34,472,139)

(42,018,157)

3,370,206,833

2,107,473,851
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LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS, BY THE BANK SUBSIDIARY

The specific allowance includes loans and advances and LIFT-AFP

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Specific provision 32,202,272 41,307,330
LIFT-AP 2,269,868 710,830
34,472,140 42,018,160

The table below is an analysis of loans and advances as at the reporting date:
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000

3,178,483,372
191,723,461

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired

1,888,482,790
218,991,061

3,370,206,833

2,107,473,851

Aging of loans and advances that are past due but not impaired:

- Past due 0 to 3 months 97,401,932 89,670,524
- Past due 3 to 6 months 2,352,444 -
- Past due over 6 months 91,969,085 129,320,537

191,723,461 218,991,061

Reconciliation of the specific allowance for impairment losses for the loans and advances, is as follows:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000 =
3
3
Balance at beginning of the financial year 42,018,157 69,463,545 g
Movements during the financial year: =
- Provision written-back (Note 27) (2,393,651) (12,920,863) B
- Write-off as non-recoverable (6,711,405) (9,040,301) g
Transfer to LIFT-AFP™ 1,559,038 (5,484,224)
Balance at end of the financial year 34,472,139 42,018,157

(" In 2018, the Bank and the Fund have agreed to transfer AFP fund amounting to MMK6,593.9 million
as part of the specific provision. The Bank has increased the provision amounting to MMK1,559.0
million as of March 31, 2024 (2023: decrease of MMK5,484.2 million) respectively, for its HP AFP
Product.

8 INVENTORIES

2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’000

Medical supplies 4,212,264 5,172,865
Provision for inventory impairment - (894,805)
4,212,264 4,278,060

In the current financial year, the cost of inventories recognised as an expense amount to MMK27,710.7
million (2023: MMK21,547.1 million), of which MMK198.3 million (2023: MMK66.7 million) pertains to write-
off of inventories.
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9 ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS

2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’000

Advance corporate income tax payment 3,155,969 1,354,611
Prepayments 1,633,512 1,668,964
Advance to suppliers and contractors 710,458 455,620
Advance commercial tax payment 150,489 189,316
Advance to employees 19,126 13,767
Other assets 7,089,691 2,613,372
Repossessed properties 27,898,210 12,306,427
Less: Specific allowance (3,907,907) (6,847,695)
23,990,303 5,458,732

36,749,548 11,754,382

Prepayments mainly consists of prepaid office rental expenses. Other assets represent interest payment

for super (flexi) fixed deposits.

Reconciliation of the specific allowance for impairment losses for the repossessed properties, is as follows:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Balance at beginning of the financial year 6,847,695 26,119
(Reversal)/Provision for the financial year (658,159) 350,097
(Reversal of)/ Allowance for the financial year (Note 27) (2,281,629) 6,471,479
Balance at end of the financial year 3,907,907 6,847,695
10 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Advances for investments
- FMI Riverside Development Limited (FMIRDL) 1,591,250 1,591,250
Advances for projects
- FMI City Gates Apartment Project - 1,780,616
1,591,250 3,371,866

Advances for investments represent the Group’s capital injections in FMIRDL to fund new projects
undertaken by the FMIRDL.

Advances for project consist of payments for the land and land development costs related to FMI City Gate
Apartment project made by the Group. These costs have been transferred back at cost to the legal title
holder during the financial year as the project had been divested and ceased.



Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

11 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Quoted equity shares, at fair value
Balance at beginning of the financial year 1,994,859 2,816,336
Fair value (loss)/ gain on quoted equity shares during
the financial year (128,701) 2,322,718
Addition during the financial year (a) - 3,060,859
Transfer to investment in associates (b) (Note 13) - (6,205,054)
Balance at end of the financial year 1,866,158 1,994,859
Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Balance at beginning of the financial year 52,492,268 49,732,318
Addition during the financial year 2,682,266 2,759,950
Transfer from investment in associates (Note 13) 5,505,121 -
Balance at end of the financial year 60,679,655 52,492,268
Total available-for-sale investments 62,545,813 54,487,127

The investments above include investments in quoted equity securities that offer the Group the opportunity
for return through dividend income and fair value gains. The fair values of these securities are based on the
quoted closing market prices on the last market day of the financial year.

The investments in unquoted equity investments primarily represent investments in companies that are still
developing its core assets, and the recoverability of these investment is uncertain and dependent on the
outcome of these activities, which cannot presently be determined.

(a) On 12 September 2022, the Company incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary, Memories (2022) Pte.
Limited (MM2022) in the Republic of Singapore with an issued and paid-up capital of S$1 comprising
1 ordinary share of S$1 for the purpose of other investment holding.

The Company had equity investment in Memories Group Limited (MGL), listed on the Catalist of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The equity investment in MGL was classified as
available-for-sale investment in the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2022.
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On 12 September 2022, the Company and MM2022 announced the Joint Announcement relating to
the proposed voluntary delisting of MGL from the Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (Delisting Proposal).

Under the Delisting Proposal, MM2022 would make an exit offer (the “Exit Offer”) for each MGL
Share with either S$0.047 in cash (the “Cash Consideration”) or, one (1) new ordinary share in the
capital of MM2022 (the “New MM2022 Share”) at the price of S$0.047 (the “MM2022 Shares
Consideration”), conditional on the obtaining of certain shareholders’ approvals of MGL, to acquire all
the issued ordinary shares in the capital of MGL other than those held as treasury shares and those
held, directly or indirectly, by MM2022 (“MGL Shares”).

On 18 January 2023, MGL was delisted from the Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. As part of the Exit Offer, the Company elected to receive 41,947,427 ordinary shares
in the capital of MM2022 (“MM2022 Shares”) in consideration of all its 41,947,427 MGL Shares and
the acquisition of 41,704,316 MGL Shares from retail shareholders of MGL which has been
capitalised by MM2022 through the allotment and issuance of 41,704,316 MM2022 Shares to the
Company on 20 February 2023 (the “FMI Capitalisation”) that resulted in the Company holding an
aggregate of 83,651,743 MM2022 Shares amounting to MMK3,060.0 million representing
approximately 16.66% of the total number of MM2022 Shares in issue.

(b) Upon completion of the Exit Offer, the Group re-assessed that the Group has significant influence
over MM2022 in accordance with MAS 28 Investments in Associates. Based on the assessment, the
Group has power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of MM2022. Accordingly, the
equity investment in MM2022 was de-recognised from available-for-sale investments and recognised
under investment in associates.
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12

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Details of available-for-sale investments are as follows:

2024 2023
Principal Equity Carrying Equity Carrying
Name of companies activities holding amount holding amount
% MMK’000 % MMK’000
At fair value
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Investment
Holdings Public Ltd." holding 1.65% 1,866,158 1.65% 1,994,859
At cost
Peninsula Yangon Real estate
Holdings Pte Ltd. developer 6.00% 9,474,530 6.00% 9,474,530
Meeyahta Development Real estate
Ltd developer 12.00% 51,205,125 12.00% 43,017,738
62,545,813 54,487,127

() The Group recognised fair value loss of MMK128.7 million (March 31, 2023: fair value gain of
MMK?225.2 million) as investment revaluation reserve under equity (Note 24).

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Unquoted equity shares at cost:
Beginning of the financial year 3,354,686 3,354,984
Share of post-acquisition results (1,150) (298)
End of the financial year 3,353,536 3,354,686
The detail of the interest in joint venture is as follows:
Place of
Name of joint incorporation Principal Proportion of ownership interest and
venture and operation activities voting power held
2024 2023
LSC-FMI Co., Ltd " Myanmar Property
development 50.00% 50.00%

() Audited by Zaw Lwin & Associates Certified Public Accountants & Auditors, Myanmar.

The cost of investment in joint venture as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 amounted to MMK3,378.6
million. No impairment loss has been recognised for the financial years ended March 31, 2024 and March
31, 2023 respectively based on the Group’s share of the net assets of joint venture.
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12  INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the
joint venture recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Net assets of the joint venture 6,707,071 6,709,371
Ownership interest 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s shareholding interest 3,353,536 3,354,686
13  INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Beginning of the financial year 68,161,595 56,233,176
Transfer from available-for-sale investments (Note 11) - 6,205,054
Reclassification to available-for-sale of investments (Note 11) (5,505,121) -
Investment written-off (Note 29) (350) -
Repayment of advances by an associate (95,000) -
Share of post-acquisition results 48,544,681 3,924,274
Share of other comprehensive income of associates (Note 24) 2,613,279 1,799,091
113,719,084 68,161,595
Quasi Capital Loan @
Beginning of the financial year 16,189,600 17,189,600
Classification from non-current other receivables (Note 6) 8,422,125 - =
Additional loan during the financial year 2,307,388 - §
Interest income during the financial year 683,331 - =
Repayment during the financial year (5,047,360) (1,000,000) >
Currency translation differences 1,879,611 - §
24,434,695 16,189,600
138,153,779 84,351,195

(M This includes shareholder advance to associate, Thanlyin Estate Development Ltd ("TED") amounted to
MMK14,346.6 million (2023: MMK16,189.6 million), which was classified as a quasi-capital loan during the
current financial year.

@ This includes receivables from associate, CLW Development Ltd (“CLW”) amounted to MMK10,088.1
million which was classified as a quasi-capital loan during the current financial year.
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13  INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Details of the Group’s associates are as follows:

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interest and voting power
and Principal held
Name of companies operation activities
2024 2023
FMI Garden Development Ltd. @ Myanmar Property 47.50% 47.50%
Development
FMIDecaux Co., Ltd. (" Myanmar Advertising 40.00% 40.00%
Thanlyin Estate Development Myanmar Property 30.00% 30.00%
Ltd.® Development
Pun Hlaing Links Services Co., Ltd. @  Myanmar Golf course 30.00% 30.00%
Development
Chindwin Holdings Pte Ltd. ® Singapore Investment 30.00% 30.00%
holding
Myanmar Agri-Tech Ltd. © Myanmar Agricultural 30.00% 30.00%
activities
Meeyahta International Hotel Myanmar Property 20.00% 20.00%
Ltd. ©® Development
Kawthaung Hill Investment Ltd. ©® Myanmar Property 37.50% 37.50%
Development
CLW Development Ltd. © Myanmar Property 25.00% 25.00%
Development
Memories (2022) Pte. Limited ® Singapore Tourism 16.66% 16.66%

() Audited by Khin Su Htay & Associates Limited, Myanmar.

@ Audited by Daw Me Me Than Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar.
®)  Audited by CLA Global TS Public Accounting Corporation, Singapore.
®  Audited by Daw Win Mar Lwin Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar.
®)  Audited by Daw Swe Swe Thynn & Associates, Myanmar.

®  Audited by TJMS Trusted Assurance Services Co., Ltd., Myanmar.

The cost of investments in associates amounted to MMK40,813.0 million (2023: MMK30,052.5 million). No
impairment loss has been recognised for the financial years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023
respectively based on the Group’s share of the net assets of the associates.

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the
associates recognised in the consolidated financial statements is presented below:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000

Assets and liabilities
Total assets 1,142,797,358 687,855,517
Total liabilities (368,417,028) (320,794,370)
Net assets 774,380,330 367,061,147
Group’s share of associates’ net assets 138,153,779 84,351,195
Revenue 209,269,142 92,032,978
Profit for the financial year 153,488,538 8,473,181

Group’s share of associates’ results 48,544,681 3,924,274
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14 GOVERNMENT AND OTHER SECURITIES, BY THE BANK SUBSIDIARY

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000

Available-for-sale investments at amortised cost:
- Myanmar treasury bonds ¥ 459,935,627 462,270,225
- Myanmar treasury bills ) 260,581,250 325,724,343
720,516,877 787,994,568

- Unquote equity share

Digital Money Myanmar ©) 8,190,000 8,190,000
Myanmar Payment Union @ 200,000 200,000
Myanmar ICT Park @ 56,500 56,500
SWIFT @ 8,211 8,295
Myanmar Credit Bureau *) 1,040 1,040
8,455,751 8,455,835
Total government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary 728,972,628 796,450,403
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Current 307,950,724 490,292,090
Non-current 421,021,904 306,158,313
728,972,628 796,450,403

() The bank subsidiary’s investments in the Central Bank of Myanmar's government securities include 2-
year to 5-year treasury bonds. Current interest rates for Myanmar treasury bonds are 7.25% to 9.75%

p.a.

@ The bank subsidiary’s investments in the Central Bank of Myanmar's government securities include
below 1 year treasury bills. Current interest rates for Myanmar treasury bills are 4.55% to 7.87% p.a.
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®  The bank subsidiary currently owns a 5% interest in Digital Money Myanmar. For the financial year
ended March 31, 2023, the Group recognised fair value loss of MMK1,055.6 million which is recorded
as investment revaluation reserve under equity.

®  The bank subsidiary’s other investments are as follows:
(a) MMK 200 million MPU card holders deposit fees.
(b) Pre-investment expenses in Myanmar ICT Park, SWIFT and Bank Association membership fees for
the Myanmar Credit Bureau.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000

At fair value
Balance at beginning of the financial year 3,359,815 3,091,365
Gain on fair value during the financial year (Note 28) 1,406,450 268,450
Balance at end of the financial year 4,766,265 3,359,815

Included in investment properties is an office and retail location which is leased to Convenience Prosperity
Co., Ltd., an entity related by a common controlling shareholder, and land and buildings held for capital
appreciation.

The rental income for the Group’s office and retail location which are leased out under operating leases
recognised during the financial year ended March 31, 2024 is MMK72.0 million (2023: MMK72.0 million)
(Note 25).

The fair values of the Group’s Investment properties at March 31, 2024 have been determined using market
prices based on most recent transactions for similar property in the same location and condition and subject
to similar leases and other contracts, if available. Where these are not available, the Group uses tax
valuation published by the Inland Revenue Office for the similar property in the same location.

At March 31, 2024, the details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows:

Description/

Location existing use Tenure

Plot No.1159, Block No.7 & 8, Hlaing Thayar Township, Yangon Office and retail 2 years
Region location

Field No. 404 / A & B, West Ywar Thit Village, Pyay Township, Pyay Land and Not leased out
District, Bago Region building

Field No. 1585, Ywar Thar Village, Naung Oo Township, Naung Oo Land (9 acres) Not leased out
District, Mandalay Region
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GOODWILL
2024 2023
MMK’'000 MMK’000
Balance at beginning and end of the financial year 61,586,933 61,586,933

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition to the cash-generating units
(“CGU”) that are expected to benefit from that business combination.

The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated to the CGU as follows:

2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’000

Yoma Bank Ltd. (YB) 55,598,057 55,598,057
Yoma OUE Taunggyi Hospital Limited (YOTH) 4,748,278 4,748,278
Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing Hospital Limited (YOPHH) 1,239,863 1,239,863
FMI Industrial Investment Co., Ltd.(FMI I1)(") 735 735
61,586,933 61,586,933

() The carrying amount of goodwill is immaterial to the Group. Accordingly, no impairment assessment is
performed.

The Group tests goodwill at the reporting date for impairment or more frequently if there are indications
that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on value in use (“VIU”) calculations. The key
assumptions for the VIU calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected
changes to selling prices and direct costs during the financial year. Management estimates discount rates
using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts and committed expansion
plans. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market.

Cash flow projections used in the VIU calculations were based on financial budget approved by
management covering a five-year period. Estimated cash flows beyond the five-year period are estimated
using perpetual growth terminal value formula. The growth rate did not exceed the long-term average rate
for the CGUs.

Key estimates used for value-in-use calculations:

Average budgeted Perpetual Pre-tax

gross margin growth rate discount rate

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Financial services
YB 38.20% 39.02% 10% 10% 23.48% 23.20%
Healthcare services
YOTH 57.94% 54.02% 8% 8% 33.94% 29.17%
YOPHH 45.80% 50.92% 8% 8% 32.71% 29.68%

Sensitivity analysis

The recoverable amounts of CGUs, YB, YOTH and YOPHH, are significantly higher than the respective
carrying amount. It is unlikely that possible change in key assumption made by management would result
in the recoverable amount will not be lower than their carrying amount.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost

At April 1, 2023
Additions
Reclassification

At March 31, 2024

Accumulated amortisation
At April 1, 2023

Amortisation charge (Note 27)
Write-off

At March 31, 2024

Net book value
At March 31, 2024

Cost

At April 1, 2022
Additions
Reclassification
Write-off

At March 31, 2023

Accumulated amortisation
At April 1, 2022

Amortisation charge (Note 27)
Write-off

At March 31, 2023

Net book value
At March 31, 2023

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current
Trade payables - Non-related parties

Non-trade payables

- Non-related parties
- Related parties (")

- Associates

Accrued operating expenses
Interest income received in advance
Refundable deposits

Rental income received in advance
Total

Non-current
Trade payables - Related parties

Computer
software Licenses Total
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’'000
7,114,896 4,552,933 11,667,829
1,243,949 - 1,243,949
(1,611,304) - (1,611,304)
6,747,541 4,552,933 11,300,474
3,751,970 2,553,864 6,305,834
1,313,414 568,185 1,881,599
(1,611,303) - (1,611,303)
3,454,081 3,122,049 6,576,130
3,293,460 1,430,884 4,724,344
7,957,693 4,568,849 12,526,542
677,771 - 677,771
(48,526) - (48,526)
(1,472,042) (15,916) (1,487,958)
7,114,896 4,552,933 11,667,829
3,792,152 1,996,732 5,788,884
1,431,860 573,048 2,004,908
(1,472,042) (15,916) (1,487,958)
3,751,970 2,553,864 6,305,834
3,362,926 1,999,069 5,361,995
2024 2023
MMK’'000 MMK’000
46,786,583 45,987,325
2,083,135 2,622,906
40,008,743 40,622,590
100,000 1,306,868
42,191,878 44,552,364
9,748,581 8,888,696
944,846 1,063,737
571,404 785,299
116,000 107,905
100,359,292 101,385,326
7,850,000 -
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19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The average credit period on purchase of goods of the healthcare subsidiary is 30 days (2023: 30 days).
No interest charged on the overdue trade payables.

Non-trade payables to related companies are unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on demand.

20 BORROWINGS

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Bank borrowings @ ®): (). (d) 24,748,871 29,851,154
Other borrowings ©) 4,093,450 3,835,308
Finance lease liabilities 397,705 -
29,240,026 33,686,462

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months
(shown under current liabilities) (17,474,928) (29,851,154)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 11,765,098 3,835,308

Details of the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

(a) aloan of MMK17,482.5 million as at March 31, 2023 in which comprising (i) MMK11,031.5 million loan
with the interest rate of 10% per annum which is secured by the Company's share in Yoma OUE Pun
Hlaing Hospital Ltd, a subsidiary and (ii)) MMK6,451 million loan with the interest rate of 14.5% per
annum. These loans were completely settled in January 2024 and March 2024 respectively.

(b) aloan of MMK13,000.0 million (2023: MMK Nil). The loan is secured by the Company's share in Pun
Hlaing International Hospital Ltd and Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing Hospital Ltd, subsidiaries. The bank loan
carries an interest rate of 10.5 % per annum.

(c) aloan of MMK6,748.9 million (2023: MMK?7,368.7 million) raised by healthcare subsidiary on July 5,
2018. The bank loan is secured by its land and building located in Hlaing Thar Yar and carries an
interest rate of 9% per annum.

2
=
=}
=1
=8
=)
o
i
o
o
3
—

(d) a loan of MMK5,000 million (2023: MMKS5,000 million) raised by the healthcare subsidiary on
November 6, 2020. The bank loan is secured by its land and building located in Hlaing Thar Yar and
carries an interest rate of 9% per annum.

(e) a loan of USD2.0 million or equivalent to MMK4,093.5 million (2023: USD2.0 million or equivalent to
MMK3,835.3 million). The loan is unsecured and unguaranteed. The loan does not carry interest and
is repayable on the 5th anniversary of the first disbursement. The fair value of the loan at initial
recognition amounted to MMK2,198.1 million and the difference between the proceeds and fair value
amounting to MMK841.9 million was recorded as non-controlling interest in the consolidated statement
of financial position. During the current financial year, the Group recognised an amortisation of the
discount on the loan which was recorded as finance expense, amounting to MMK258.1 million (2023:
MMK232.5 million).
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20 BORROWINGS

() The Group leases certain plant and equipment from a non-related party under finance leases. The
lease agreements do not have renewal clauses but provide the Group with options to purchase the
leases assets at normal value at the end of the lease term.

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Minimum lease payments due

Within one year 245,657 -
In the second to fifth year 232,334 -
477,991 -
Less: Future finance charges (80,286) -
Present value of finance lease liabilities 397,705 -

The present value of finance lease liabilities are analysed as follows:
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Within one year 188,163 -
In the second to fifth year 209,542 -
397,705 -

21 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the
same fiscal authority. The amounts determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the statements of
financial position as follows:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Deferred income tax liabilities
- To be settled within one year 70,393 75,496
- To be settled after one year 3,546,754 3,612,044
3,617,147 3,687,540
The movement in deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Non-current
Fair value of land and buildings
Balance at beginning of the financial year 3,687,540 3,763,036
Credited to profit or loss (Note 30) (70,393) (75,496)
Balance at end of the financial year 3,617,147 3,687,540
22 SHARE CAPITAL
2024 2023 2024 2023
Number of ordinary shares MMK’000 MMK’'000

At beginning and end of the financial year 33,109,694 33,109,694 182,516,870 182,516,870

All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. There is no par value for these ordinary shares. Fully paid ordinary
shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as and when declared by the Company.
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23

24

QUASI-EQUITY LOAN

On November 13, 2019, the Company entered into a Convertible Loan Agreement with Ayala Corporation
(“Lender” or “Ayala”) for USD82.5 million which was terminated on March 23, 2022 subsequent to the entry of
a new loan agreement with Ayala as both parties intend to restructure the existing convertible loan amounting
to USD82.5 million (“Restructured Loan”) which had been disbursed in 2020 into a perpetual loan.
Accordingly, Ayala and the Company entered into a restructured loan agreement on March 23, 2022 (the
“Restructured Loan Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Restructured Loan Agreement, both Ayala and the Company agreed amongst other things
that the Restructured Loan is a perpetual loan with no fixed maturity date which shall be made by way of
redemption shares of 8,277,424 new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company based on the share issue
price of MMK15,000 per redemption share subject to the terms and conditions of the Restructured Loan

Agreement.

RESERVES
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Capital reserve !
Balance at beginning of the financial year 63,281,962 59,238,674
Add: Share of capital reserve for the financial year 22,343,375 4,043,288
Balance at end of the financial year 85,625,337 63,281,962
Investment revaluation reserve @
Balance at beginning of the financial year 3,425,638 (6,024,791)
Add: Revaluation (losses)/gains (128,701) 1,441,097
Add: Reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition (Note 29) - 8,009,332
Balance at end of the financial year 3,296,937 3,425,638
Equity reserve ©
Balance at beginning of the financial year (20,120,052) (23,648,846)
Add: Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity - 2,900,833
Add: Effect of changes in ownership interest in the bank
subsidiary during the financial year - 627,961

Balance at the end of the financial year
Share in other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates

(20,120,052)

(20,120,052)

Balance at beginning of the financial year (5,318,062) (7,117,153)
Add: Share in other comprehensive income for the financial

year (Note 13) 2,613,279 1,799,091
Balance at end of the financial year (2,704,783) (5,318,062)
Total reserves 66,097,439 41,269,486

() Capital reserve includes statutory reserve fund, reserve fund for contingencies, and reserve for bad and
doubtful debts in compliance with Central Bank of Myanmar regulations.

@ Investment revaluation reserve represents fair value changes on available-for-sale investments of the

Company and bank subsidiary to market value as at the reporting date.

©)  Equity reserve represents the effect of changes in ownership interest in the bank subsidiary when there

is no change in control (Note 4).

These reserves are non-distributable.
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25 REVENUE

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Rendering of services:
- Financial services 421 ,450,649 278,994,608
- Healthcare services 76,978,318 60,524,539
Rental income (Note 15) 72,000 72,000
Dividend income 614,140 2,260
499,115,107 339,593,407
26 COST OF REVENUE
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Interest expenses 254,319,230 187,039,672
Doctor fees 14,493,011 11,272,189
Pharmacy 15,393,971 12,470,631
Medical supplies 5,593,634 4,700,602
Laboratory supplies 4,777,632 2,921,574
Radiology supplies 325,028 219,269
General supplies 1,422,205 1,168,305
Write-off of inventories 198,251 66,723
296,522,962 219,858,965
27  ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) 1,881,599 2,004,908
Annual general meeting expenses 17,572 64,343
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 16) 11,522,276 8,511,621
Director’'s remuneration 1,412,247 151,017
Employee benefit expenses 67,678,836 55,736,780
IT and communication expenses 4,728,519 3,766,254
Listing fees 16,282 14,462
Marketing and promotion 3,638,209 1,851,308
Office rental expenses 8,821,586 10,056,640
Office supplies 4,505,911 3,454,026
Professional fees 4,394,966 3,468,279
Renovation and maintenance expenses 6,912,621 2,619,910
Taxes and licenses 9,234,675 7,782,150
Travelling and related costs 4,243,998 3,275,661
Utilities 4,800,246 3,509,607
Additional 2% general reserve 25,077,617 2,607,266

(Reversal of)/allowance for impairment of repossessed
properties (Note 9) (2,281,629) 6,471,479
Write-back for impairment on loans and advances (Note 7) (2,393,651) (12,920,863)
Others 3,963,051 6,559,726
Allowance for doubtful debts (Note 6) 441,000 -
158,615,931 108,984,574
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28 FINANCE EXPENSES

Interest expenses
Loan related fees
Bank charges

29 OTHER LOSSES, NET

Gain on fair value of investment property

Gain on disposal of property and equipment

Loss on derecognition of available-for-sale investment
(Note 24)

(Loss)/gain on foreign currency exchange, net

Write-off of vaccine and medical supplies

Write-off of property, plant and equipment (Note 16)

Write-off of receivable

Write-back of payable

Write-off of Investment in associates (Note 13)

Adjustment for under-recognition of account receivable

Others

30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current income tax for the financial year
Deferred income tax credit (Note 21)

The total charge for the financial year can be reconciled to accounting profit as follows:

Profit before income tax

Tax at Myanmar's statutory income tax
Effect of:

- Non-taxable income

- Non-deductible expense

- Tax on capital gain

Total income tax expense

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
3,117,945 3,133,622

205,806 -
53,153 42,644
3,376,904 3,176,266
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
1,406,450 268,450
120,091 399,824

- (8,009,332)

(22,266,672) 5,095,538
(138,261) (894,805)
(336,616) (283,021)

(7,727) -
185,587 -
(350) -
165,740 -

- 1,269
(20,871,758) (3,422,077)
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
10,270,377 4,017,993
(70,393) (75,496)
10,199,984 3,942,497
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
68,271,083 8,075,501
15,166,086 1,776,610
(5,850,111) (1,446,788)
871,574 3,569,405
12,435 43,270
10,199,984 3,942,497
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32

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Profit/(Loss) for the financial year, attributable to owners of
the Company (MMK’000) 51,594,226 (701,769)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
for basic earnings per share ('000) 33,110 33,110
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (MMK per share) 1,558 (21)

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings/ (loss) per share, the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has
dilutive potential ordinary shares in relation to ordinary shares to be issued in connection with the 8,277,424
redemption shares which will be allotted and issued to the lender (Note 23).

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
for basic earnings per share ('000) 33,110 33,110
Adjusted for (‘000)
- Quasi-equity loan 8,277 8,277
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
for diluted earnings per share ('000) 41,387 41,387
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (MMK per share) 1,247* (21)*
*

The diluted loss per share computations have not taken into consideration the effects of quasi-equity loan
for the financial year ended March 31, 2023, as they were anti-dilutive pursuant to para 41 of MAS 33
Earnings per Share.

** The diluted earnings per share computations have taken into consideration the effects of total weighted
average number of ordinary shares inclusive of quasi-equity loan as at March 31, 2024.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

At the end of the financial year, the Group has the following commitments:

The Group as lessee

Payments recognised as an expense during the financial year:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Minimum lease payments under operating leases 8,821,586 10,056,640

At the reporting date, the Group has no significant operating lease commitments under non-cancellable
operating leases as it has been prepaid as disclosed in Note 9. Operating lease payments represents rentals
payable by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for an
average term of 5 years.
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33

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as a lessor

The Group leases commercial and investment properties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.
These leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The payment due are computed
without the escalation clauses and renewal rights as the quantum has not been determined. Property rental
income earned during the financial year ended March 31, 2024 was MMK72.0 million (2023: MMK72.0
million) (Note 25).

At the reporting date, the Group has contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease
payments:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Within one year 72,000 72,000
In the second year inclusive - 72,000
72,000 144,000
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
Operating commitments
At the reporting date, the bank subsidiary has the following commitments:
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
(a) Lease commitments:
Within one year 607,654 88,515
In the second to fifth year 2,257,112 2,029,357
From the fifth year onwards 554,526 998,586
3,419,292 3,116,458
(b) Undrawn loan commitments
Undrawn overdraft 95,840,686 59,089,795
Undrawn trade credit facilities 23,827,500 101,663,701
119,668,186 160,753,496
123,087,478 163,869,954

Contingent liabilities

The following sets out the bank subsidiary’s contingent liabilities as at the reporting date, based on the
maximum amount the bank subsidiary would have to pay if the obligations of the instruments issued are
called upon:

2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’000

Performance guarantees 29,281,537 29,665,858
Performance guarantees (foreign currency) 32,250 12,140,315
29,313,787 41,806,173
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the reporting date:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Financial assets
At amortised cost:
Cash and cash equivalents 694,108,023 617,328,125
Interbank placements - 69,475,000
Trade and other receivables 108,143,557 129,831,065
Loans and advances to customer, by the bank subsidiary 3,370,206,833 2,107,473,851
Available-for-sale investments 60,679,654 52,492,268
Government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary 728,972,628 796,450,403

4,962,110,695

3,773,050,712

At fair value:

Available-for-sale investments 1,866,159 1,994,859
4,963,976,854 3,775,045,571

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost:

Trade and other payables 107,148,446 100,213,684

Deposits and balances from customers, by the bank subsidiary 4,688,715,742 3,500,877,524

Interbank borrowings and securities sold with agreement

to repurchase, by the bank subsidiary 36,648,000 30,275,000

Borrowings 29,240,026 33,686,462

4,861,752,214 3,665,052,670

Financial risk management policies and objectives

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and equity
price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and legal and compliance risks. The Group’s overall risk
management strategy seeks to minimize adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the
Group’s financial performance. The Group has adopted the policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarized below.

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated

below.

(@)  Market risk

V)

Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. As the
Group has interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities, the Group’s income and
expense are dependent on changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-bearing financial assets pertain to short-term fixed deposits placed with
reputable financial institutions in Myanmar, available-for-sale Myanmar government and other
securities and loans and advances to customers, which all carry fixed interest rates.
Management has assessed that any change in the interest rate would not have significant
impact to the Group’s interest income due to the short-term maturity of fixed deposits and loans
and advances to customers and the three to five-year term of Myanmar government securities.

The Group’s interest-bearing financial liabilities pertain to deposits from customers and certain
borrowings which carry fixed interest rates and variable interest rates, respectively.
Management has assessed that any change in the interest rate would not have a significant
impact on the Group’s interest expenses as the Group aims to obtain the most favourable
interest rates available in the market, except on the variable interest rate borrowings as
described below.

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for
non-derivative financial liability instruments at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated
change taking place at the beginning of the financial period and held constant throughout the
reporting period in the case of instruments that have floating rates. A 50-basis point increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

The Group does not hold any variable interest rate borrowings as at March 31, 2024 and March
31, 2023, hence no sensitivity analysis has been performed for the financial year.

Foreign exchange risk management

The Group operates mainly in Myanmar. Entities in the Group regularly transact in various
foreign currencies other than their respective functional currencies (“foreign currencies”).
Currency risk arises in the Group when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies such
as Euro (“EUR”"), Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), and United States Dollar (“‘USD”).

These exposures are managed primarily by using natural hedges that arise from offsetting
assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives

(a)

Market risk

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk management

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of significant monetary assets and monetary
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency are as follows:

2024
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables
Government & other securities, by the bank

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Deposits and balances from customers,
by the bank subsidiary

Borrowings

2023

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Loans and advances to customers,
by the bank subsidiary

Available-for-sale financial assets

Government & other securities, by the bank
subsidiary

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

Deposits and balances from customers,
by the bank subsidiary
Borrowings

EUR SGD uUsD
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
2,089,225 1,289,770 157,426,675
- 4,190,434 148,549

- - 51,918,000
2,089,225 5,480,204 209,493,224
940,196 766,338 53,602,135
1,149,029 718,717 143,053,158
- - 34,188,074
2,089,225 1,485,055 230,843,367
EUR SGD UsD
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
6,050,276 997,058 168,839,564
- 2,276,173 8,440,237

- - 5,053,565

8,295 - -

- - 56,917,000
6,058,571 3,273,231 239,250,366
3,974,431 1,171,389 75,172,871
2,084,140 10,696 158,486,611
- - 27,953,473
6,058,571 1,182,085 261,612,955
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Financial risk management policies and objectives

(a)  Market risk

(ii)

(iii)

Foreign exchange risk management
Foreign currency sensitivity

The following analysis details the sensitivity to a 10% increase/decrease in the relevant foreign
currencies against the functional currency of the Group. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk exposures internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates, which
is the change in foreign exchange rate that management deems reasonably possible which will
affect outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items at period end. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates.

If the relevant foreign currency were to strengthen by 10% against the functional currency of the
Group, profit for the year will decrease by:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
USD impact (2,135,014) (2,236,259)

If the relevant foreign currency were to weaken by 10% against the functional currency, there
will be equal but opposite impact on profit for the year.

Other than USD, other foreign currencies do not have significant impact to the Group.

Equity price risk management

The Group is exposed to equity risks arising from equity instruments classified as available-for-
sale. Available-for-sale equity instruments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes.
The Group does not actively trade available-for-sale investments.

Further details of these equity investments can be found in Notes 11 to the financial statements.

Equity price sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price
risks at the end of the reporting period.

In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, if the inputs to the valuation model had been
10% higher/lower while all other variables were held constant:

e The Group’s profit for the financial year ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 would
have been unaffected as the equity investment are classified as available-for-sale and no
investments were disposed of or impaired; and

o The Group’s investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by MMK186,615,870
(2023: increase/decrease by MMK199,486,000).

The Group’s sensitivity to equity prices has not changed significantly from the prior financial
year.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives

(b)

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s major classes of financial assets are loans and advances from
customers held by the bank subsidiary, Myanmar government securities held by the bank subsidiary,
bank deposits and trade and other receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with reputable
financial institutions.

For trade receivables, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with customers with appropriate
credit histories and obtaining sufficient security where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other
financial assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with credit-worthy counterparties. The
maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that
class of financial instruments presented on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on
the financial condition of trade receivables. The Group does not have any significant credit risk
exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The
Group defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities.

The credit risk for trade receivables based on the information provided to management is as follows:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000

By type of customers:
- External parties 27,425,102 20,960,608

Further details of credit risks on trade receivables are disclosed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For loans and advances from customers held by the bank subsidiary, the Board of Directors of the
bank subsidiary approves major policies and limits that govern credit risk. The Board of Directors
delegates authority to the Credit Risk Management Committee for overseeing the credit risk of the
bank subsidiary. The bank subsidiary structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits
on the amount of risk acceptable in relation to one borrower, groups of borrowers and industry
segments. Such risks are monitored on a regular basis and are subject to annual or more frequent
review. The maximum exposure to credit risk of loans and advances from customers held by the bank
subsidiary on the consolidated statement of financial position is limited to the carrying amount on the
consolidated statement of financial position, without taking into account the fair value of any collateral.

The credit risk for loans and advances by the bank subsidiary based on the information provided to
management is as follows:

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000

By type of customers:
- Other companies 2,638,978,493 1,773,930,441
- Individuals 731,228,340 333,543,410

3,370,206,833 2,107,473,851
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Financial risk management policies and objectives
(b)  Credit risk management
Collateral and other credit enhancements

In respect of the bank subsidiary’s deposits with other banks, the bank subsidiary considers the
exposure to credit risk to be low as these deposits are placed with credit-worthy financial institutions.

The bank subsidiary seeks to use collateral to mitigate its risks on financial assets. The collateral
comes in various forms such as cash, real estate, inventories, and other non-financial assets. The fair
value of collateral is generally assessed at a minimum, at inception and based on the bank
subsidiary’s statutory reporting schedule.

To the extent possible, the bank subsidiary uses active market data for valuing financial assets held
as collateral. Non-financial collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by
approved third party property assessors or other independent sources.

Where collaterals are repossessed, the bank subsidiary’s policy is to determine whether a
repossessed asset can be best used for its internal operations or should be sold. Assets determined
to be useful for the internal operations are transferred to their relevant asset category at the lower of
their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original secured asset. Assets for which selling is
determined to be a better option are transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value or fair value
less cost to sell for non-financial assets at the repossession date in line with the Bank’s policy.

As at March 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of collateral that the bank subsidiary holds relating to
impaired loans with specific provision under the loss category amounts to MMK94,940.0 million and
MMK161,108.5 million, respectively.

Credit quality of loans and advances

The bank subsidiary adopts an internally developed credit rating scale, which generally corresponds
to the classification set out in the CBM Notification No. 17/2017 Asset Classification and Provisioning
Regulations. The following table sets out the credit classification of the bank subsidiary’s loans and
advances without partial repayment and allowances as at March 31, 2024.
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2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’000

Neither past due nor impaired 3,180,277,813 1,800,550,173
Past due but not impaired

Standard 56,829,395 56,122,998

Watch 7,496,379 17,497,987

Substandard 6,345,692 6,341,424

Doubtful 1,342,143 2,469,883

Loss 89,572,507 125,430,916

Total past due but not impaired 161,586,116 207,863,208
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34  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives

(b)

(c)

Credit risk management

Credit quality of loans and advances

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000

Loans with specific provision — Loss category
Standard 16,790,694 96,142,040
Watch 10,462,325 4,378,490
Substandard 681,981 3,289,890
Doubtful 2,022,733 3,629,609
Loss 34,651,752 36,490,445
Total loans with specific provision — Loss category 64,609,485 143,930,474
3,406,473,414 2,152,343,855

All other financial assets are neither past due nor impaired as of the reporting date.
Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities. The Group manages liquidity risks by monitoring its liquidity position through
periodic preparation of cash flow and cash balance forecasts and periodic evaluation of the ability of
the Group to meet its financial obligations, measured by a gearing ratio. The Group maintains
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance their activities.

At the reporting date, the Group had net current liabilites of MMK332,120.0 million (2023:
MMK247,000.9 million). The Directors are satisfied that there is no going concern issue as the Group
can easily convert government securities held by the bank subsidiary of MMK307,950.7 million
(2023: MMK490,292.1 million) into cash and cash equivalents with no significant changes in fair
value.

Liquidity risk analyses
Non-derivative financial liabilities

The table below analyses the non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group in
their relevant maturity groupings based on the length of remaining period from the reporting date to
the contracted maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contracted undiscounted
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months are presented at their carrying amounts as the impact of
discounting is not significant.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives

(c)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk management

Less than Between 1
1 year and 5 years Total
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
2024
Trade and other payables 101,641,754 8,640,723 110,282,477
Deposits and balances from customers,
by the bank subsidiary 4,688,715,742 - 4,688,715,742
Borrowings 20,867,413 13,129,620 33,997,033
4,811,224,909 21,770,343 4,832,995,252
2023
Trade and other payables 100,223,440 - 100,223,440
Deposits and balances from customers,
by the bank subsidiary 3,500,877,524 - 3,500,877,524
Borrowings 11,062,529 29,489,774 40,552,303
3,612,163,493 29,489,774 3,641,653,267

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other
payables, approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these
financial instruments. The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in
the respective notes to consolidated financial statements. The management considers the carrying
amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values, unless otherwise mentioned in the consolidated
financial statements.

Operational risk

Operational risk is a risk that is inherent in all business activities. Financial losses and business
instability can result from failures in operational processes, internal policies or support systems. The
Group has established an appropriate operational risk management framework to address operational
risks within the risk appetite mandated by management and align its risk management strategies to
overall business objectives. The Group’s bank subsidiary has risk policies and committees that are
appropriate for a large financial institution.

The Group recognises that every operational risk cannot be entirely eliminated and strives to balance
the cost of controls with the potential benefits of risk management. The Group will continue to invest
in appropriate risk management and mitigation programs such as business continuity management
and incident management.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Financial risk management policies and objectives
(f) Legal and compliance risk

Legal risk is the risk to the Group's business activities resulting from unintended or unexpected legal
action. This risk could arise from insufficient authority of a counterparty, uncertainty about the validity
or enforceability of a contract, civil claims against the Group's property or interpretation errors in
taxation utilizes competent internal and external counsel when entering into agreements.

Compliance risk is the risk of material financial loss or loss of reputation resulting from the failure or
inability of the Group to comply with relevant industry-specific laws, regulations or procedures. The
Group actively identifies and manages compliance risk through effective use of its external and internal
compliance advisers. Accordingly, the Group also monitors its entities' compliance with relevant
international regulatory requirements.

Capital risk management policies and objectives

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximize shareholder value. In order to
maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings.

Management monitors the Group’s capital based on a gearing ratio excluding the bank subsidiary as the
bank subsidiary is subject to the capital adequacy requirements set out by the Central Bank of Myanmar
("CBM") and the minimum regulatory Capital Adequacy Ratio (“CAR”) set for the year is 8% (2023: 8%).

During the financial year ended March 31, 2024, the Group's strategies remain unchanged from March 31,
2023.

The gearing ratio of the Group is calculated as net debt divided by total capital excluding the bank
subsidiary’s net debts and total capital. Net debt is calculated as borrowings plus trade and other payables
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as total equity plus net debt.

2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’000

Net debt 76,366,909 80,859,022
Total equity 306,361,681 254,788,531
Total capital 382,728,589 335,647,553
Gearing ratio 20% 24%

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements except for its bank subsidiary.

The bank subsidiary's CAR as at March 31, 2024 stands at 8.02% (2023: 10.65%). During the current
financial year, the bank subsidiary has complied with the CAR requirement as per CBM Notification No.
16/2017 dated July 7, 2017.
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35 RELATED COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related companies in these consolidated financial statements refer to members of the shareholder’s group of

companies.

Some of the Group’s transactions are between members of the shareholders and the Group. The effect of

these on the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’000
With associates:
Rental expenses (302,634) (4,501,969)
Interest income 683,331 548,471
Purchase of property, plant and equipment - (111,242,060)
Other expenses (1,599,685) (1,019,576)
Purchase of other products (309,600)
With entities related by common controlling shareholders:
Rental expenses (1,944,368) (1,265,229)
Interest expenses (167,041) (189,485)
Other expenses ' (1,139,686) (950,339)

" Other expenses relate to net expenditures on inter-group operating activities.

During the current financial year, Directors' remuneration amounted to MMK1,291.2 million (2023: MMK158.5
million) which includes the Executive Chairman's remuneration as follows:

2024 2023 -

MMK’000 MMK’000 g

Other allowance 60,000 60,000 é

Bonus 1,291,247 40,580 =
1,351,247 100,580

36 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management determines operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the key management team
that are used to make strategic decisions. The key management team comprises of the Executive Chairman,
the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the heads of each business who directly report to
the Executive Chairman on their respective entity’s business.

The Group’s reportable segments under MFRS 8 are as follows:
(i) The real estate services segment is in the business of property development, sale of development

properties, providing project management, design and estate management services as well as property
leasing of associates and joint venture.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
(i) The financial services segment is in the business of carrying out banking business, including domestic
remittance business and financial services.
(i) The healthcare services segment is in the business of owning and operating hospitals, clinics and the
provision of healthcare related services.
(iv) The investment holding segment is in the business of investing in associates except associates of
real estate services.
The Group’s reportable segments operate in Myanmar.
The segment information provided to the key management team for the reportable segments are as
follows:
Real estate Financial Healthcare Investment
services services services holding Total
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
2024
Revenue - 422,032,614 78,013,790 104,175 500,150,579
Elimination of inter-
segment revenue - - (1,035,472) - (1,035,472)
- 422,032,614 76,978,318 104,175 499,115,107
Cost of revenue - (254,319,230) (42,203,732) (296,522,962)
Gross profit - 167,713,384 34,774,586 104,175 202,592,145
Administrative expenses - (128,006,674) (26,070,569)  (4,538,688) (158,615,931)
Finance expenses - - (1,647,970)  (1,728,934) (3,376,904)
Other losses, net - (20,496,947) (94,034) (280,777)  (20,871,758)
- (148,503,621) (27,812,573)  (6,548,399) (182,864,593)
Share of results
of associates
and joint venture 46,804,426 - - 1,739,105 48,543,531
Profit/(Loss) before
income tax 46,804,426 19,209,763 6,962,013 (4,705,119) 68,271,083
Income tax expense - (9,381,691) (818,293) - (10,199,984)
Net profit/(loss) 46,804,426 9,828,072 6,143,720 (4,705,119) 58,071,099
Segment assets - 5,126,167,233 60,607,004 287,388,472 5,474,162,709
Segment assets include:
Additions to:
- Property, plant and
equipment - 21,896,520 5,037,505 16,591 26,950,616
- Intangible assets - 1,240,639 3,310 1,243,949
Segment liabilities - 4783055712 35778778 57,888,712 4,876,723,202
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s reportable segments operate in Myanmar.

The segment information provided to the key management team for the reportable segments are as

follows:

2023

Revenue
Elimination of inter-
segment revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Administrative expenses
Finance expenses

Other gains/(losses), net

Share of results
of associates
and joint venture
Profit/(Loss) before
income tax

Income tax expense
Net profit/(loss)

Segment assets

Segment assets
include:

Additions to:

- Property, plant and
equipment

- Intangible assets

Segment liabilities

Real estate Financial Healthcare Investment
services services services holding Total
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
- 278,996,868 61,018,836 72,000 340,087,704
- - (494,297) - (494,297)
- 278,996,868 60,524,539 72,000 339,593,407
- (187,039,673) (32,819,292) - (219,858,965)
- 91,957,195 27,705,247 72,000 119,734,442
- (85,169,508) (20,892,307) (2,922,759) (108,984,574)
- - (1,488,225) (1,688,041) (3,176,266)
- 8,257,947 (3,669,326) (8,010,698) (3,422,077)
- (76,911,561) (26,049,858) (12,621,498) (115,582,917)
4,189,529 - - (265,553) 3,923,976
4,189,529 15,045,634 1,655,389 (12,815,051) 8,075,501
- (3,811,414) (131,083) - (3,942,497)
4,189,529 11,234,220 1,524,306  (12,815,051) 4,133,004
- 3,886,460,536 58,984,503 240,815,827 4,186,260,866
- 122,514,954 9,667,354 9,526 132,191,834
- 677,771 - - 677,771
- 3,583,452,232 35,162,748 55,707,124 3,674,322,104
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36 SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)  Reconciliation

(i)

(iif)

Segment profit before income tax

2024 2023

MMK’000 MMK’000

Segment gross profit 202,592,145 119,734,442

Administrative expenses (158,615,931) (108,984,574)

Finance expenses (3,376,904) (3,176,266)

Other losses, net (20,871,758) (3,422,077)
Share in profits of associates and joint

venture, net of tax 48,543,531 3,923,976

68,271,083 8,075,501

Segment assets

The amounts provided to management with respect to total assets
manner consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements.

2024
MMK’000

Segment assets for reportable segments
Investment holding segment assets

5,186,774,237
287,388,472

are measured in a

2023
MMK’000

3,945,445,039
240,815,827

5,474,162,709

4,186,260,866

Segment liabilities

2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Segment liabilities for reportable segments 4,818,834,490 3,618,614,980
Investment holding segment liabilities 57,888,712 55,707,124
4,876,723,202 3,674,322,104

(b)  Revenues from major products and services
2024 2023
MMK’000 MMK’000
Financial services 421,450,649 278,994,608
Healthcare services 76,978,318 60,524,539
Investment holding 72,000 72,000
Dividend income 614,140 2,260
499,115,107 339,593,407
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UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF YOMA BANK LIMITED

Below are the details of unaudited financial information of Yoma Bank Limited included in the consolidated

financial statements of the Group.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and bank balances
Trade and other receivables

Loans and advances to customers,

by the bank subsidiary
Government and other securities,
by the bank subsidiary
Inventories
Advances and prepayments
Total current assets

Non-current assets

Other non-current assets

Available-for-sale investments

Investment in joint venture

Investment in associates

Government and other securities,
by the bank subsidiary

Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Deposits and balances from customers by

the bank subsidiary

Interbank borrowings and securities sold

with agreement to repurchase,
by the bank subsidiary
Borrowings
Income tax payable
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Note

10
11
12
13

14
15
16
17
18

19

20

19
20
21

Yoma Bank Percentage of

Group Limited composition
2024 2024 %
MMK’000 MMK’000
694,108,023 677,663,289 97.63%
108,143,557 87,462,065 80.88%
3,370,206,833 3,370,206,833 100.00%
307,950,724 307,950,724 100.00%
4,212,264 - -
36,749,548 34,067,056 92.70%
4,521,370,949 4,477,349,967 99.03%
1,591,250 - -
62,545,813 - -
3,353,536 - -
138,153,779 - -
421,021,904 421,021,904 100.00%
4,766,265 - -
255,047,936 207,628,632 81.41%
61,586,933 - -
4,724,344 4,721,146 99.93%
952,791,760 633,371,682 66.48%
5,474,162,709 5,110,721,649 93.36%
100,359,292 44,637,675 44.48%
4,688,715,742 4,688,715,742 100.00%
36,648,000 36,648,000 100.00%
17,474,928 - -
10,292,995 9,521,436 92.50%
4,853,490,957 4,779,522,853 98.48%
7,850,000 - -
11,765,098 - -
3,617,147 3,532,858 97.67%
23,232,245 3,532,858 15.21%
4,876,723,202 4,783,055,711 98.08%
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37 UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF YOMA BANK LIMITED
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Yoma Bank Percentage of

Group Limited composition
Note 2024 2024 %
MMK’000 MMK’000
Revenue 25 499,115,107 421,056,092 84.36%
Cost of revenue 26 (296,522,962) (254,319,231) 85.77%
Gross profit 202,592,145 166,736,861 82.30%
Administrative expenses 27 (158,615,931) (128,006,673) 80.70%
Finance expenses 28 (3,376,904) (1,571) 0.05%
Other losses, net 29 (20,871,758)  (20,496,947) 98.20%
Share of results of associates and
joint venture, net of tax 12,13 48,543,531 - -
Profit before income tax 68,271,083 18,231,669 26.70%
Income tax expense 30 (10,199,984) (9,381,690) 91.98%
Profit for the financial year 58,071,099 8,849,979 15.24%
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
Fair value (loss)/ gains of available-for-
sale investments - net 11, 24 (128,701) - -
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates 13, 24 2,613,279 -
Total other comprehensive income for
the financial year, net of tax 2,484 578 - -
Total comprehensive income for
the financial year 60,555,677 8,849,979 14.61%
Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company 51,594,226 5,882,581 11.40%
Non-controlling interests 6,476,873 2,967,398 45.82%
58,071,099 8,849,979 15.24%
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 54,078,804 5,882,581 10.88%
Non-controlling interests 6,476,873 2,967,398 45.82%
60,555,677 8,849,979 14.61%
Earnings/(Loss) per share
Basic (MMK) 31 1,558 178 11%
Diluted (MMK) 31 1,247 142 11%

38 AUTHORIZATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements of the Group were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of First
Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd. on November 4, 2024.



Statistic of
Shareholdings

As at 11 October 2024

M3|AIBAQ 33DJ0dI09]

diysiapoaT ing

Class of Shares Ordinary Shares
! Voting Right One Vote Per Share
Treasury Shares Nil
! Subsidiary Holdings Nil

TEN LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

M3INY 3IUDWI0)iad

(as shown in the Register of Yangon Stock Exchange as of 11 October 2024)

g

Nationality Number of Shargholding g

shares held ratio (%) g

1 Yangon Land Co., Ltd. Myanmar Company 9,640,302 29.12% E

2 U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun Myanmar 9,008,506 27.21% %
3 001 Offshore Shares Ltd Foreign Company 4,450,000 13.44%
4 U Phyo Phyu Noe Myanmar 1,180,810 3.57%
5 SPA Assets Management Ltd. Myanmar Company 1,159,620 3.50%

6 Group Synergetic Force Co., Ltd Myanmar Company 950,086 2.87% §

7 Yoma Myittar Development Co., Ltd. Myanmar Company 942,715 2.85% é

8 Smart & Trust Services Co., Ltd Myanmar Company 644,857 1.95% énj

9 U Aike Ti Myanmar 337,177 1.02% =
10  Trusted Persons Co., Ltd Myanmar Company 289,363 0.87%
Total 28,603,436 86.39%

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS ABOVE 5%

(as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders having an interest in 5% and above of the issued and paid up voting share capital
of Company)

Name of Shareholders Direct Interest Deemed Interest
No. of Shares % No. of Shares %
U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun 9,008,506 27.21% 9,640,302 29.12%

001 Offshore Shares Ltd 4,450,000 13.44% - -
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